# Transforming Growth Factor β, Allograft Acceptance and Chronic Allograft Rejection

by

Susan Marie Faust

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Cellular and Molecular Biology) in The University of Michigan 2009

**Doctoral Committee:** 

Professor Dennis Keith Bishop, Chair Professor Cheong-Hee Chang Professor Steven L. Kunkel Associate Professor Bethany B. Moore Assistant Professor Yasmina Laouar © Susan Marie Faust 2009

The project described was supported by Grant Numbers R01HL070613 (DKB), R01AI061460 (DKB) and by T90DK070071 (SMF) from the National Institutes of Health. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Dedication

To my parents, Dennis Alton and Dorothy Louise Faust.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. D. Keith Bishop, and my thesis committee members, Dr. Steven Kunkel, Dr. Cheong-Hee Chang, Dr. Bethany Moore, and Dr. Yasmina Lauour for their guidance, constructive criticism and encouragement. I am also very grateful to past and present Bishop lab members, including Guanyi Lu, Bernie Marini, Sherri Wood, Jose Diaz, Michael Marini, Keri Csencsits, Kenneth Krill and Adam Booth for their expertise, assistance with protocols and comments throughout the course of these investigations. Our collaborators, Dr. Weiping Zou, Dr. Yasmina Lauour, Dr. David Gordon, Dr. Yoichiro Iwakura, Dr. Joseph Rabinowitz, and Dr. Douglas McCarty have provided expertise, time and effort and I am thankful for their participation in these studies. I would also like to acknowledge the director of Cellular and Molecular Biology, Dr. Jessica Schwartz, and her assistant, Cathy Mitchell, for providing direction and support.

My achievements have only been made possible through the love and support of my family. My parents, Dennis and Dorothy Faust, have always prioritized my education and provided me with opportunities and the means to pursue my intellectual curiosity. Leaf collections, anatomical models, microscopes and science fair projects enriched my life and nurtured my love for science.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank Gerhard van Schalkwyk, who has been a tremendous source of love and encouragement.

iii

# **Table of Contents**

Dedicationii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Figuresvi
List of Abbreviationsvii
Abstractix
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
1.1 T cells
1.2 T cell activation: signal one
1.3 Allorecognition
1.4 T cell activation: signal 2 7
1.6 TGF $\beta$ gene expression, signaling and suppressor function
1.8 Transplant tolerance
1.9 Immunosuppressive drugs55
1.10 Dissertation overview 59
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods
2.1 Mice
2.3 Vascularized cardiac transplantation
2.4 Adenoviral-mediated transduction of cardiac allografts
2.5 In vivo mAb treatment
2.6 Histology
2.7 Recovery of graft infiltrating cells (GIC)
2.8 ELISPOT assays for cytokine-producing cells
2.9 RNA isolation and RT-PCR
2.10 Donor-reactive Ab determination
2.11 Immunohistochemistry

2.12 Morphometric analysis of cardiac allograft fibrosis and hypertrophy
2.13 Statistical analysis
Chapter 3: Role of T cell Transforming Growth Factor β Signaling and IL-17 in Allograf Acceptance and Fibrosis Associated with Chronic Rejection
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Results
3.4 Discussion
Chapter 4: Transforming Growth Factor $\beta$ Neutralization within Cardiac Allografts by
Decorin Gene Transfer Attenuates Chronic Rejection
4.1 Abstract
Chapter 5: Conclusion 104
5.1 Dissertation summary
5.2 Future directions
5.3 Concluding remarks 124
References12

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Initial steps in T cell activation.	4
Figure 2: Pathways of Th Development.	13
Figure 3: TGFβ and Th development.	
Figure 4: Decorin inhibits TGFβ	
Figure 5: Experimental manipulations in CR.	
Figure 6: TGFβ dependent and independent mechanisms of allograft acceptance.	
Figure 7: Donor-reactive Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses in WT and CD4-DNR re	cipients.
Figure 8: Allograft fibrosis in WT versus CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-	·CD4
mAb.	
Figure 9: Effect of TGFβ unresponsiveness on donor-reactive alloantibody level	s77
Figure 10: IgG, C3d and C4d deposition in allografts of WT and CD4-DNR reci	pients.79
Figure 11: Reduction of TGFβ-dependent intragraft gene expression from recipi	ents
transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells.	
Figure 12: In recipients that fail to produce IL-17, allografts are protected from f	ibrosis.
Figure 13: Decorin gene transfer and gene expression.	
Figure 14: Intragraft TGFβ neutralization does not enhance donor-reactive T and	l B cell
responses.	
Figure 15: Effect of TGFβ neutralization on intragraft gene expression.	
Figure 16: Decorin gene transfer and intragraft TGFβ neutralization attenuates fi	brosis
and hypertrophy.	
Figure 17: Identifying the source of TGF8.	
Figure 18: Mechanisms of tolerance induction following transient CD4+ T cell of	lepletion.
6	
Figure 19: Assessing the contribution of natural and induced Treg in allograft ac	ceptance.
6	
Figure 20: iTreg and infectious tolerance	
Figure 21: T cell derived TGFB allograft acceptance and fibrosis	
Figure 22: TGFB II -17 and CR	121
Figure 23: Forced expression of IL-17 in anti-CD4 and anti-CD40L mAb treated	
recipients	
r	

# List of Abbreviations

AAV	adeno-associated virus
Ab	antibody
Adβgal	adenovirus that encodes βgal
AdDec	adenovirus that encodes rat decorin
AICD	activation induced cell death
ALK	activin receptor like kinase
APC	antigen presenting cell
AP	activator protein
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
AZA	azathioprine
BM	bone marrow
CD4-DNR	transgenic mice with a T cell specific dominant negative TGF <sup>β</sup> receptor II
CD40L	CD40 ligand
CR	chronic allograft rejection
CREB-ATF	cAMP response element binding protein/activating transcription factor
CNS	conserved noncoding sequence
CSA	cyclosporin A
CTGF	connective tissue growth factor
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocytes
CTLA-4	cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated antigen 4
DC	dendritic cell
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
DP	double positive
DST	donor-specific transfusion
DTH	delayed-type hypersensitivity
ECM	extracellular matrix
ELISPOT	enzyme linked immunosorbent spot
FasL	Fas Ligand
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FKBP	FK-binding protein
G-CSF	granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GIC	graft infiltrating cells
GITR	glucocorticoid-induced TNFR
H2	histocompatibility locus
HAR	hyperacute allograft rejection
НО	heme oxygenase
HLA	human leukocyte antigen system
Ig	immunoglobulin
IGF	insulin growth factor

IFN	interferon
IL17-/-	IL-17 deficient
iTreg	induced Treg
IPEX	immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked
	syndrome
Jak3	janus kinase 3
JNK	jun N-terminal kinase
LAG	lymphocyte-activation gene
LAP	latency associated protein
LLC	large latent TGFβ complex
mAb	monoclonal antibody
MAPK	mitogen activated protein kinase
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MIP	macrophage inflammatory protein
MLR	mixed lymphocyte reaction
MMF	mycophenolate mofetil
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T cells
NK	natural killer cell
NFκB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NRP	neuropilin
nTreg	natural or thymically derived Treg
OX40L	Ox40 ligand
PDGF	platelet derived growth factor
PD-L1/2	programmed cell death ligand 1 or 2
PGE	prostaglandin E
SCID	severe combined immunodeficiency
SMC	smooth muscle cell
SLC	small latent TGFβ complex
SP	single positive
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TAV	transplant associated vasculopathy
T-bet	T-box expressed in T cells
TCR	T cell receptor
TGFβ	transforming growth factor $\beta$
Th1	T helper 1
Th2	T helper 2
Th17	T helper 17
TIMP	thiolnosinic acid
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TNFR	tumor necrosis factor receptor
TRAF	TNFR-associated
Treg	T regulatory cell
WT	wild type

# Abstract

Chronic allograft rejection (CR) is the main barrier to long-term transplant survival. CR is a progressive disease defined by interstitial fibrosis, vascular neointimal development, and graft dysfunction. The underlying mechanisms responsible for CR remain poorly defined, although transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) has been strongly implicated in promoting fibrotic diseases and CR. However, TGF $\beta$  is a suppressive cytokine, which may be beneficial in the transplant setting. Hence, an in depth assessment of the fibrotic and anti-inflammatory activities of TGF $\beta$  in cardiac transplant was performed.

In this study, the role of TGF $\beta$  on graft-reactive cellular and humoral responses, T regulatory cell (Treg) function, allograft acceptance and the progression of CR are assessed. These studies identify TGF $\beta$  dependent and independent pathways to allograft acceptance, and investigate the contribution of TGF $\beta$ -induced IL-17 in the progression of CR. Since TGF $\beta$  exhibits exacerbating or ameliorating characteristics depending on the site of action, TGF $\beta$  neutralization within the allograft addresses local TGF $\beta$  inhibition on fibrosis and graft-reactive T and B cell responses. Studies in this dissertation provide insight into the underlying causes of CR and identify therapeutic targets for treatment of this disease.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Following 50 years of pioneering work by multiple researchers in animal models of heart transplant(1-6), Christian Barnard performed the first successful human orthotopic heart transplant at Groote Schuur Hospital in Cape Town, South Africa on December 3, 1967 (1). The transplant recipient received an immunosuppressive cocktail of high dose prednisone, hydrocortisone, azathioprine, actinomycin C as well as local irradiation, and succumbed to pneumonia 18 days post-transplant (1). One year later, over 100 cardiac transplants were performed in 17 countries with a mean survival rate of 29 days (3). Most institutions abandoned the procedure by 1970 (2). However, experimental work that focused on immunsuppression, infection, donor management and surgical technique boosted the one-year survival rate from 22% to 65% between 1968 and 1978 and resulted in a resurgence of interest in cardiac transplant (3). The introduction of the immunosuppressant, cyclosporine, in 1981, further improved the one-year survival rate to 80% (4). As of 2008, the Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation calculated that over 81,000 transplants worldwide have been performed, with a one-year survival rate of 81% and a patient half-life (time to 50% survival) of 10 years (5). Early mortality is due to primary graft failure, while chronic rejection (CR) is the main cause of death following the first year (5).

Prior to work performed by Sir Peter Medawar and colleagues, the mechanism by which a transplant recipient rejects an allograft was unknown (6). Medawar's initial work in a burn unit began to elucidate the role of the immune system in allograft rejection and methods of inducing tolerance (7). Medawar and Gibson performed serial biopsies and examined the skin graft histology from a severely burned woman who received both autografts and allografts (6, 7). Within a week, high numbers of infiltrating leukocytes were observed within the allografts and they were rejected. In contrast, the autografts remained normal, with minimal signs of inflammatory cell infiltration. A second set of skin grafts from the allogeneic donor underwent accelerated rejection, accompanied with a more intense inflammatory response, indicating a recall response. Medawar postulated that "... the mechanism by which foreign skin is eliminated belongs to the general category of actively acquired immune reactions" (7). The discovery of histocompatibility genes (8) and the realization that animals recognize their own tissues ("self") and do not react against them while responding rapidly to foreign ("non-self") stimuli (9), led Medawar to realize that genetic variations between donor and host resulted in differential immune responses toward transplants (10). This work fueled his interest in acquired tolerance, also referred to as the 'Holy Grail,' which is "...a state in which an animal or even a patient can be made selectively unresponsive to the antigens of a given graft, while the remainder of the immune defense mechanisms remain intact" (3). As evidenced by the heart transplant statistics from the Registry in 2008, the Holy Grail of transplant tolerance has yet to be realized, requiring further refinements in our understanding of the interactions between the immune system and the graft.

# 1.1 T cells

Medawar and Gibson's skin graft experiment (7) demonstrated immunologic specificity of allograft rejection: donor-specific response, systemic immunity and immunologic memory. Most solid organ transplants do not occur between genetically identical individuals, so the major barrier to transplant acceptance is the recipient's immune system recognizing and responding to the genetic disparity in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (HLA in humans; H2 in mice) (11). T cells are the are the mediators of graft rejection (12). The importance of T cells in graft rejection is illustrated in transplanted mice that lack T cells, due to genetic mutation or neonatal thymectomy (13). These mice fail to reject grafts unless reconstituted with T cells. CD4+ T cells initiate this response following interactions with antigen presenting cells (APCs) by becoming activated and assuming effector functions (11). CD4+ T cells enhance the immune response toward an allograft by producing cytokines and aiding in the activation of alloreactive CD8+ T cells and B cells (12). In the absence of immunosuppressants, activated CD8+ T cells infiltrate cardiac allografts and mediate graft destruction during acute rejection (12). Conversely, CD4+ T cells can acutely reject allografts by mounting a Th2-dominant response characterized by an aggressive eosinophil infiltration (14). To make an effective immune response, however, T cells must be able to respond to their specific antigen and undergo activation and effector cell differentiation. The following four sections will review this process.

# **1.2 T cell activation: signal one**

Activation of a T cell is initiated by engagement of the T cell receptor (TCR)/CD3 complex with the peptide:MHC complex of an APC (11) (Figure 1). The TCR only



**Figure 1: Initial steps in T cell activation.** APCs, which express CD40, present Ag to the T cell receptor in the context of peptide-MHC. This is referred to as signal 1. Antigen recognition by the T cell induces CD40L expression. Stimulation of the APC through CD40 induces maturation, including IL-12 production and CD80/CD86 expression. CD80/CD86 delivers co-stimulation to the T cell through CD28, which is signal 2. T cells proliferate and assume effector function. A CD28-related protein termed CTLA-4 is also induced on activated T cells and serves to deliver an inhibitory signal to dampen the proliferative response. CTLA-4 binds CD80/CD86 with at least a log fold higher affinity than CD28.

recognizes foreign antigen in the context of MHC molecules, and the sole function of the MHC molecule is to associate with peptides from "non-self" in order to present them on the cell surface for T cell recognition (11). There are two groups of MHC loci involved in antigen presentation: Class I and Class II (reviewed in (15)). MHC I molecules are composed of a 45 kDa heavy chain, comprised of the  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$  domain and the non-covalently associated light  $\beta 2$ -microglobulin ( $\beta 2m$ ) (16, 17). Class I molecules associate with peptides derived from the cytosol and are presented on the surface of most cells and tissues to facilitate efficient immune surveillance by CD8+ T cells (18). These peptides are short (8-11 amino acid in length) created by the proteasome and trimmed by aminopeptidases in the endoplasmic reticulum (19). MHC II molecules consist of an  $\alpha$ 

and  $\beta$  chain, which form a heterodimeric glycoprotein. The length of the peptides are typically larger, between 12-19 amino acids long, and are derived from extracellular sources, endosomes and lysosomes (15). MHC class II is restricted to APCs, such as dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and B cells (20).

The cell surface co-receptors of T cells, CD4 and CD8, are necessary for an effective immune response toward antigen. CD8 is expressed by CD8+ T cells, which can produce cytokines and differentiate into cytotoxic T cells and directly kill cells, while CD4 is expressed by T "helper" cells (Th), whose primary function is to activate additional cells, such as B cells and CD8+ T cells (12). During antigen recognition, the CD4 and CD8 molecules associate with the TCR on the T cell and bind to conserved sequence on the MHC portion of the peptide:MHC complex, away from the peptide-binding site. The CD4 molecule on T cells binds to MHC II and the CD8 molecule binds to MHC I (20). The differential expression of CD4 and CD8 on T cells dictates the nature of the antigens to which these cells respond.

There are multiple pathways in which antigen recognition can occur in the transplant setting (11). In the direct allorecognition pathway, recipient T cells can recognize intact MHC alloantigens displayed on the surface of donor APCs (passenger leukocytes) that are carried within transplanted organs (21). These passenger leukocytes migrate from the graft into the recipient spleen and lymph nodes and activate T cells that are capable of cross-reacting. The indirect allorecognition pathway involves a self-MHC restricted response in which alloantigen shed by dying cells from the graft or passenger leukocytes is processed and presented by recipient APCs, such as DCs and/or

macrophages (22). Either of these pathways is capable of providing the first signal of activation to alloreactive T cells.

#### **1.3 Allorecognition**

The strength of a T cell response provoked by MHC-incompatible cells is vigorous (23). This can be observed *in vitro* in a mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR) (24) or *in vivo* in the rejection of solid organ transplants (reviewed in (11)). Polymorphisms at the MHC locus are referred to as alloantigens (20). MHC class I and II molecules are particularly polymorphic in the antigen-binding cleft, which creates a vast diversity in the number of potential T cell receptor binding sites (11). Alloreactivity refers to the stimulation of T cells by "non-self" MHC molecules, and can occur through either direct or indirect allorecognition (20).

# **Direct Allorecognition**

In direct allorecognition, a high frequency of recipient T cells can recognize intact MHC alloantigens displayed on the surface of donor APCs that are carried within transplanted organs (21). T cell precursor frequencies against foreign MHC can be as high as 1:10<sup>3</sup>-10<sup>4</sup> compared with 1:10<sup>5</sup> or less for antigen specific self-MHC restricted cells (21, 23). This indicates that T cells in the recipient can react with self-MHC and peptide as well as cross-react with foreign MHC as a result of conserved sequences within the locus (25). In direct allorecognition, host T cells are primed by donor APCs that migrate from the graft into the spleen and draining lymph nodes of the recipient (23). T cells with receptors that cross-react with allogeneic class I and class II molecules, in combination with peptide, are activated and acquire effector function. Alloreactive CD8+ T cells migrate into the graft and mediate rejection, while CD4+ T cells secrete cytokines

and initiate antibody (Ab) production by alloreactive B cells (12). Direct allorecognition is primarily responsible for acute rejection (22).

# **Indirect** Allorecognition

Indirect allorecognition comprises a second mechanism of alloreactivity that results in graft rejection (23). Indirect allorecognition is a self-MHC restricted response in which alloantigen shed from the graft by dying cells is processed and presented by recipient APCs (22). Peptides derived from foreign MHC molecules make up a significant source of polymorphic peptides that are recognized by recipient T cells. T cells (primarily CD4+)--activated through the indirect allorecognition pathway-contribute to rejection by stimulating macrophages, which can induce graft injury (22). In addition, the indirect pathway plays an important role in the induction of a humoral response toward the graft. Indirect allorecognition is thought to contribute significantly to CR (26).

#### 1.4 T cell activation: signal 2

T cell activation was initially postulated to require only one signal (reviewed in (27)). However, investigations by Lafferty and Cunningham lead them to realize that a second signal—a co-stimulatory signal--was required for T cell activation and rapid expansion of T cells in response to antigen (27). There are a constellation of co-stimulatory molecules that are crucial to drive clonal expansion, survival and T cell differentiation, including CD28:CD80 (B7-1)/CD86 (B7-2), OX40:OX40L, PD1/2:PD-L1/2, and CD40L:CD40 (28). CD40L:CD40 and CD28:CD80/CD86 will be discussed further.

#### CD40:CD40L

CD40 and its ligand, CD154 (CD40L), are members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) and TNF superfamily, respectively (28). Similar to many co-stimulatory molecules, CD40L is expressed only on a T cell following activation, while CD40 is expressed constitutively at a low level on APCs, but can be significantly upregulated upon activation. CD40 is expressed by B cells, macrophages, DCs, and endothelial cells (29). In addition, inflammatory cytokines can induce parenchymal cells, such as fibroblasts and endothelial cells, to express CD40 (30). CD40L is expressed on a variety of cells, including activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, eosinophils and human platelets (29). The main effects of CD40:CD40L interaction is to prime and expand CD4+ T cells, activate APCs to upregulate co-stimulatory activity and cytokine production, induce B cell isotype switching, and stimulate macrophages and endothelial cells (31).

CD40 is a transmembrane protein with a cytoplasmic tail that contains two domains. The first domain associates with TNFR-associated (TRAF) binding, while the second domain independently activates NF- $\kappa$ B (reviewed in (31)). In addition, a prolinerich sequence in the intracellular membrane proximal region of CD40 interacts with Janus Kinase 3 (Jak3). Upon CD40L binding, CD40 forms a trimeric complex that activates NF- $\kappa$ B. Simultaneously, the intracellular region interacts with JAK/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway, as well as members of the TRAF family, which phosphorylates STAT3, releasing it to translocate into the nucleus to regulate gene transcription (31). B cell CD40 ligation induces proliferation and differentiation, the secretion of IL-6 and IL-10, and antibody class-switching from IgM to

IgG (32). CD40 stimulation of macrophages induces these cells to produce nitric oxide and IL-12 to enhance macrophage cytotoxicity (33). CD40 ligation in DCs induces a prosurvival signal, upregulates CD80/CD86, enhances antigen presentation, and induces the secretion of TNF $\alpha$ , IL-8, IL-12 and macrophage inflammatory protein -1 $\alpha$  (MIP-1 $\alpha$ ) (31).

CD40L signaling has been demonstrated to activate jun N-terminal kinase/mitogen activated protein kinase (JNK/p38MAP kinase), sphinogmyelinase, and PKC, inducing the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B (reviewed in (34)). However, the entire mechanism of action still remains to be elucidated. In addition to T cell priming, cross-linking of CD40L induces the secretion of many cytokines including IL-4, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-10 and TNF $\alpha$  (35). The importance of this co-stimulatory molecule in T cell activation was demonstrated in CD40L deficient mice, which exhibit a lack of T cell priming in response to antigen (36). In humans, CD40L dysfunction is associated with X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome, characterized by an inability to produce IgG, IgA and IgE isotypes (37).

In multiple rodent transplant models, anti-CD40L mAb treatment, which disrupts the CD40/CD40L pathway, has been very effective in preventing acute allograft rejection (38). Inductive treatment with anti-CD40L mAb can prevent rejection of heart, kidney, and islet allografts (reviewed in (39)). CD40L deficient mice also exhibit prolonged heart and islet graft acceptance. CD40L blockade in a stringent model of transplant, skin allografts, is not sufficient therapy itself and must be combined with additional therapies, including donor specific transfusion (DST), CTLA-4 IgG or anti-45RB in order to induced transplant tolerance (37, 38). The remarkable ability of CD40L blockade to

prolong allograft survival in rodents encouraged translation studies. Primate trials employing Rhesus monkeys showed promise when 5 monthly doses of anti-CD40L mAb permitted prolonged survival of kidney and pancreatic islet allografts (39). However, once the therapy was withdrawn, the monkeys rejected their grafts, indicating that anti-CD40L mAb induced immunosuppression, rather than classical tolerance in primates. Even more disappointing were the results of phase 1 clinical trials, in which anti-CD40L mAb treatment was associated with thromboembolic events as a result of CD40L expression on platelets and subsequent aggregation (40). Research is currently being conducted to try and circumvent problems associated with anti-CD40L mAb therapy.

### CD28:CD80/CD86

In the early 1980's, a T cell membrane receptor, CD28, was identified to enhance TCR-induced proliferation and differentiation of naïve T cells (41). CD28 is constitutively expressed both on mouse and human T cells (42), and its ligands, CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2), are upregulated on APCs by CD40 ligation and the cytokines, IL-4 and IFN $\gamma$  (41). Even in conjunction with low TCR occupancy, CD28 is potent at inducing a synergistic signal in naïve T cells to activate transcription factors including NF- $\kappa$ B, nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), and activator protein-1 (AP-1) (43-46), which control cell cycle, survival and differentiation. Following binding of CD80/CD86 on APCs, CD28-mediated signals also upregulate IL-2 production (47), IL-2R expression (48) and the secretion of IFN $\gamma$ , granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF), TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-3 and IL-4 by T cells (41). T cell death signals and inhibition of cell cycle progression can be reversed by CD28 co-stimulation. This is partially through the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein, Bcl-xL dependent on NF-κB activation (49, 50). In addition, the pro-apoptotic transcription factor p73 is inhibited in T cells following CD28 signaling, further facilitating T cell survival (51).

CD28 deficient mice exhibit reduced immune responses toward infections (52) (53), allograft antigens (54, 55), graft-versus-host-disease (GVHD) (56), contact hypersensitivity (57) and asthma (58). These mice exhibit impaired T cell proliferation and IL-2 production (41). Consistently, CD80/CD86 deficiency also results in impaired T cell responses (48, 59) and prolonged allograft survival in the absence of immunosuppressive agents (42, 60).

Although CD28 generates a strong co-stimulatory signal for naïve cells after TCR stimulation, T cell derived cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) provides a blunting signal to contain the immune response (61). CTLA-4 exhibits greater than one log higher affinity for CD80/CD86 than CD28 and generates an inhibitory signal to the T cell (61). CTLA-4 is present on naïve cells at a very low level but is rapidly upregulated following T cell activation and is expressed at its highest level during the late stages of T cell priming (62). This co-inhibitor acts through a variety of mechanisms. Firstly, CTLA-4 signaling actively suppresses CD28 co-stimulation (63). Additional mechanisms include the inhibition of cell-cycle progression (62), a direct inhibitory interaction with CTLA-4 and the TCR- $\zeta$  chain (64), induction of immunosuppressive cytokines, such as TGF $\beta$  (65), and activation of Treg cells (66). Ligation of CTLA-4 has been demonstrated to induce peripheral T cell tolerance and anergy (67, 68). CTLA-4 deficient mice exhibit fatal lymphoproliferative disorders that can be eliminated with the introduction of CD28 deficiency, providing further support that CTLA-4 suppress T cells primarily through the inhibition of CD28 (63).

# **1.5 Helper T cell differentiation**

Following engagement of the TCR with the appropriate peptide-MHC complex and co-stimulatory signals, clonal expansion of the responding T cell population and rapid differentiation into CD4+ helper T (Th) cells occurs (reviewed in (69, 70)). These Th cells are critical mediators in the immune response. Th cells mount a response contingent on the polarizing conditions that exist when the T cells first encounters antigen, including the type of APC that presents the antigen, the co-stimulatory pathway signaling employed, the cytokines present, and the concentration of antigen (71). During an immune response, naïve Th cells can differentiate into 4 lineages of effector T cells: Th1 cells secrete IFNγ and combat intracellular infections that require cell-mediated immunity, Th2 cells secrete IL-4 and defend against extracellular parasites, Th17 cells secrete IL-17 and combat extracellular bacteria, and Treg secrete a variety of suppressor molecules and inhibit immune responses (Figure 2) (reviewed in (72)).

#### Th1

Naïve CD4+ T cells activated through TCR engagement and exposed to APCderived IFN $\gamma$  and IL-12 differentiate into Th1 cells (72). This is thought to occur in two steps with two corresponding waves of expression of the transcription factor, T-box expressed in T cells (T-bet) (73). In the early polarizing phase, IFN $\gamma$  produced by cells of the innate immune system, such as NK cells, DCs and macrophages, synergistically acts with TCR signaling to induce T-bet expression in addition to IFN $\gamma$  (73). The critical role T-bet plays in Th1 differentiation and effector responses was revealed in T-bet deficient



**Figure 2: Pathways of Th Development.** Th cells are critical mediators in the immune response. Th cells mount a response contingent on the polarizing conditions that exist when the T cells first encounter antigen, including the type of APC that present antigen, the co-stimulatory pathway signaling employed, the cytokines present, and the concentration of antigen. During an immune response, undifferentiated Th cells can differentiate into 4 lineages of effector T cells: Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg. Figure adapted from (74).

mice, which do not exhibit a functional CD4+Th1 response (75). These mice demonstrate a significant shift in Th1 to Th2 lineage development and an increased susceptibility to intracellular pathogens (75). Following termination of TCR signaling, IL-12R $\beta$ 2 expression is upregulated and innate immune cell-derived IL-12 maintains the second phase of T-bet expression, stabilizing the Th1 phenotype and promoting further expansion of Th1 cells. The early wave of T-bet expression is induced by STAT1, while STAT4 is required for the second wave of T-bet expression. Upon recognition of antigen, effector Th1 cells will secrete abundant IFN $\gamma$ , further reinforcing the differentiation of more Th1 cells (76). This two step process requires naïve T cells to receive proinflammatory signals beyond the acute TCR signaling phase of the response before complete commitment to the Th1 lineage occurs.

Th1 cells promote the activation of macrophages and mobilize the cellular arm of the immune response to infiltrate into sites of inflammation and combat intracellular pathogens (72). These cells promote delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses (described later in the chapter) (69). Th1 cells generate the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN $\gamma$ , TNF- $\beta$ , IL-2 and lymphotoxin- $\alpha$ . Th1 generated cytokines activate the microbicidal activity of macrophages to efficiently destroy intracellular pathogens. In addition, Th1- derived IFN $\gamma$  stimulates B cells to generate antibodies that enhance opsonization by specifically upregulating the subclasses IgG2a and IgG2b in the mouse and IgG1 and IgG3 in humans (77). Further, IFN $\gamma$  enhances antigen presentation by upregulating MHC expression on cell surfaces (78). The importance of IFN $\gamma$  in the Th1 response is underscored in mice that are deficient in the IFN $\gamma$  receptor (79). These mice are unable to control viral and intracellular bacterial infections.

# Th2

If a naïve Th cell is exposed to IL-4 following TCR engagement, signaling through STAT6 and activation of the transcription factor GATA3 promotes Th2 cell differentiation (80). GATA3 initiates chromatin remodeling of the IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 locus, permitting additional transcription factors involved in Th2 development to activate the loci (81-83). High levels of IL-4 production further induce GATA3 expression establishing a positive feedback loop and reinforcing the development of Th2 cells (84).

The source of IL-4 that initiates the development of a Th2 response was initially hypothesized to originate from DC signals in the form of ligands for the T cell Notch receptor (85). Notch signaling in T cells was believed to trigger IL-4 production by developing Th2 cells. Support for this was derived from experiments in Notch 1 and 2 deficient mice, which demonstrate impaired Th2 cell differentiation. However, mounting evidence suggests that both mast cells and/or basophils are the original generators of IL-4 (86). The importance of GATA3 in promoting Th2 differentiation was demonstrated when T cells were infected with a retroviral vector that expresses the GATA3 transcription factor (87). The transduced cells exhibited rapid expansion into Th2 effector cells. GATA3 suppresses STAT4 and IL12R $\beta$ 2 expression, thereby inhibiting Th1 lineage development (88), while the Th1 transcription factor, T-bet, interacts with GATA3 and inhibits Th2 differentiation (75).

Th2 cells secrete cytokines including IL-4, IL-13, IL-5, IL-9, and IL-10, which are essential for optimal antibody production and elimination of extracellular pathogens (69). Cytokines produced by Th2 cells drive B cells to become activated, differentiate and produce Th2-dependent antibody isotypes such as IgE and IgG1 (89). In addition to stimulating B cell proliferation and differentiation, IL-4 upregulates MHC class II induction. IL-4 deficient mice fail to induce Th2 cells, exhibit reduced IgG1 and IgE production and mount inappropriate Th1 responses when challenged with extracellular pathogens (89). IL-5 enhances the generation of eosinophils and basophils by the bone marrow, while IL-9 stimulates mast cell production and activation and further amplifies the Th2 response (90). Th2 responses are characterized by tissue infiltration by eosinophils and basophils, in addition to significant mast cell degranulation (89). Th2

cytokines, specifically, IL-4, IL-5, IL-9 and IL-13 are strongly implicated in allergic reactions and airway inflammation.

Th17

The Th17 lineage is a recently identified T helper subset of the immune system that produces the cytokine, IL-17 (reviewed in (91)). There are six IL-17 family members, termed IL-17A-F. CD4+ memory T cells were initially identified as the generators of IL-17, but CD8+ T cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, neutrophils, eosinophils and monocytes, have also been demonstrated to produce this cytokine (74). A diverse array of tissues expresses the IL-17R and recently cardiomyocytes have been demonstrated to generate significant amounts of this cytokine (92). TGF $\beta$  in association with IL-6 or IL-21 favors the commitment of CD4+ T cells to the Th17 lineage and induces ROR $\gamma$ T, which promotes IL-23 receptor and IL-17 gene expression (93-95). STAT3, activated by both IL-6 and IL-23, binds to the IL-17 promoter and activates transcription (74). IL-21, which is also produced by Th17, is important for amplifying the response, while IL-23 is critical for maintenance of the lineage and continued secretion of IL-17 (96). Cytokines produced by Th1 and Th2 cells inhibit Th17 lineage differentiation as do the transcription factors, T-bet and FoxP3 (74).

IL-17 stimulates stromal cells, such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and epithelial cells to produce IL-6, IL-8, granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (91, 97, 98). IL-17 also up-regulates critical chemoattractants, such as CXCL1 and CXCL2 (91, 97, 98). These chemokines are important in granulopoiesis and in the recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils to sites of inflammation. Indeed, over-expression of IL-17 in transgenic mice results in massive

systemic hematopoiesis and inflammation in response to high expression of G-CSF and stem cell factor (99). Conversely, IL-17RA knockout mice demonstrate deficiencies in G-CSF, granulopoiesis, and increased susceptibility to *Klebsilla pneumoniae* (100). IL-17 deficient mice exhibit reduced delayed-type hypersensitivity, airway hypersensitivity and contact hypersensitivity responses, but normal host versus graft reaction (HVGR), indicating that donor CD4+ T cell produced IL-17 is not necessary for allo-specific CD8+ T cell activation (101).

Th17 lineage induction is strongly associated with autoimmune diseases (102-104). Increased IL-17A transcript levels are detected in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (102). In rheumatoid arthritis, IL-17 mediates matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MMP1) activity in the joint synovium and is implicated in tissue destruction (103). Excessive IL-17 production has also been implicated in asthma and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (105). IL-17 has also recently been identified as a pro-fibrotic cytokine and IL-17 production is associated with both pulmonary fibrosis and scleroderma (104). The mechanisms by which IL-17 may mediate fibrosis will be discussed at length in Chapter 5.

#### **Regulatory T Cells**

#### Treg overview

Over a century ago, Paul Ehrlich recognized that goats could generate antibodies against the blood group antigens of other goats but did not generate a response against their own (106). Ehrlich proposed that the immune system is programmed to avoid the induction of autoreactive responses, and his studies became the first experimental evidence of immunological self-tolerance. Immunological tolerance is mediated by two

separate maintenance mechanisms: recessive and dominant tolerance (reviewed in (107)). Recessive tolerance involves the elimination of self-reactive thymoyetes or chronically stimulated peripheral T cells by apoptosis or anergy. Dominant tolerance is mediated by a specialized subset of immune cells, most commonly by Treg, which are dedicated to suppressing immune responses and maintaining immune homeostasis. Treg can be generated in the thymus and are referred to as natural Treg (nTreg) or induced in the periphery (iTreg) from naïve CD4+ T cells (reviewed in (107)). iTreg include type 1 regulatory cells T regulatory 1 (Tr1) and T helper 3 (Th3). The Tr1 cells express high levels of IL-10, TGF $\beta$ , and IL-5. Naïve CD4+ T cells in the presence of chronic inflammation, immunosuppressive drugs, and soluble proteins develop into Tr1 cells that secrete IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  (108). Th3 cells are induced through oral antigen administration and suppress through TGF $\beta$  production. All Treg, regardless of the location of generation, express the forkhead-winged helix transcription factor gene (FoxP3), which has become the most definitive marker for Treg in both mice and humans (109) in addition to the IL-2 receptor alpha chain, CD25 (110). Regulatory cells also reportedly express glucocorticoid-induced TNFR (GITR), OX40, and/or CTLA-4 on their cell surface (111). Both Treg subsets suppress pathogenic immune responses via a variety of mechanisms including: 1) through the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines; 2) through direct Treg-T effector or Treg-naïve T cell interactions; and 3) through modulating the activation state and function of APCs (112). Treg are important in autoimmunity, cancer, allergy, asthma and transplantation.

# FoxP3

Sustained FoxP3 expression in mature Treg is requisite for Treg cell maintenance and suppressor function (113). Stable FoxP3 expression is required for Treg differentiation for suppressor function, proliferation, and metabolic fitness (107, 113). Deficiency in FoxP3 expression, as observed in humans suffering from IPEX (immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked) syndrome or in the *scurfy* mouse, results in an early onset lymphoproliferative disease affecting multiple organs and tissues and results in death (114-118). This pathology is due to T cell acquisition of effector cytokine production, such as IL-2, IL-17, IL-4, IFNy and self-targeted immunemediated tissue destruction (119, 120). FoxP3 is an X-linked gene in both humans and mice that is heavily regulated (reviewed in (107)). Several transcription factors interact with and activate the *FoxP3* locus through conserved noncoding sequence 1 (FoxP3-CNS1) and the conserved noncoding sequence 2 (FoxP3-CNS2). NFAT, NF-κB, AP-1, CREB-ATF-1 and STAT5 have all been demonstrated to bind to the FoxP3 promoter and upregulate its expression (121). FoxP3 expression is induced in nTreg by STAT5 in response to combined signaling by the TCR, the IL-2R and other gamma chain ( $\gamma$ c) cytokine receptors, including IL-7, and IL-15 (107, 122). STAT5 binds to the FoxP3 locus and alters chromatin characteristics in the FoxP3-CNS2 element, directly driving FoxP3 transcription (123). It has been demonstrated that STAT5 plays a non-redundant role in promoting survival or expansion of nTreg: In the absence of STAT5, there is a significant reduction in FoxP3+CD4+ nTreg (123).

Unlike nTreg, which do not require TGF $\beta$  signaling to induce FoxP3 expression (124), iTreg require TGF $\beta$ -induced Smad-mediated activation of the FoxP3 locus at the

FoxP3-CNS1 response element (125). TGFβ cooperates with TCR signaling in naïve T cells to induce FoxP3 partially by inactivating the cell-cycle dependent recruitment and maintenance of a negative regulator of FoxP3, DNA methyltransferase (DNMT1) (126). There are additional binding sites within the FoxP3-CNS1 element for NFAT and STAT5 dependent regulation of FoxP3, which has been demonstrated in vitro (reviewed in (107)).

#### Thymically-derived, nTreg

Insight into the existence of the thymically derived subset of Treg that are capable of mediating immune tolerance arose from neonatal thymectomy experiments (127). Thymectomy of mice between days 2-4 post-natal resulted in T cell-mediated autoimmunity that could be alleviated through thymus engrafting or adoptive transfer of thymocytes or splenocytes from genetically identical adult mice (127). These experiments indicated that a subset of cells generated a few days post-natal in a mouse thymus mediates tolerance in a dominant manner. In 1995, Sakaguchi described a population of CD4+ cells expressing CD25 with the ability to suppress immune responses in multiple experimental models (128). Further studies revealed the critical role of FoxP3 expression in this subset of cells for Treg differentiation (113, 119, 129), maintenance and suppressor function (130, 131).

FoxP3 induction in nTreg occurs late in differentiation when thymocytes have differentiated into single positive (SP) CD4+ thymocytes (107). During thymic T cell development, bone marrow precursor cells migrate to the thymus and interact with thymic stroma (reviewed in (132)). Distinct thymic microenvironments and precursor cell migration through these microenvironments is necessary for thymic development and T

cell maturation. The first major checkpoint in T cell development occurs at the positive selection phase, where CD4CD8 double positive (DP) thymocytes have reached the cortical region of the thymus and randomly generated a TCR repertoire (132). At this point, the TCR of DP thymocytes interacts with self peptide-MHC complexes displayed by thymic cortical epithelial cells. The DP thymocytes that exhibit weak affinity interactions for self peptide-MHC differentiate into immature SP CD4 and CD8 thymocytes (132). The selected SP thymocytes proceed to the thymic medullary region, where they undergo negative selection. Negative selection eliminates SP thymocytes that demonstrate high-affinity interactions with self peptide-MHC expressed primarily on thymic medullary epithelial cells and dendritic cells (133). Hence, negative selection eliminates the majority of T cells bearing TCRs with high affinity for self, and this process constitutes central tolerance. However, some SP CD4+ thymocytes that manifest very strong TCR signaling undergo selective survival. These self-reactive T cells upregulate FoxP3 expression and mature into nTreg (133). Further investigation revealed that there is a narrow range of affinity of self-reactive peptide/TCR interactions between negative selection and positive selection that satisfies the conditions for FoxP3 induction (107). The importance of FoxP3 in nTreg differentiation and suppressive capacity at this step is illustrated in FoxP3-/- mice. In these mice, the cells that would normally differentiate into nTreg would, in the absence of this key transcription factor, fail to mature into regulatory cells. Upon release into the periphery, the T cells become activated and assume effector function, resulting in autoimmune disease (reviewed in (107)).

In addition to TCR engagement, co-stimulatory signals (134) and cytokines play a pivotal cell-intrinsic role in nTreg differentiation (135). The importance of CD28 in nTreg differentiation was revealed in CD28 and CD80/CD86 deficient mice that show a significant reduction in nTreg (134). The CD28 cytoplasmic tail Ick-binding domain is critical for the induction of FoxP3 in nTreg. Downstream mediators of CD28 co-stimulatory signals include NFAT, AP-1 and NF- $\kappa$ B, all three of which can bind and activate the FoxP3 promoter (reviewed in (107)). An additional signal in the form of  $\gamma$ c cytokines, including IL-2, IL-7 and IL-15 are also critical for nTreg differentiation. Mice lacking IL-2 or the IL-2R exhibit 50% less nTreg compared to WT, while mice with a combined deficiency of IL-2, IL-7 and IL-15 are completely devoid of nTreg (111, 112) . TCR engagement in nTreg precursor cells results in upregulation of CD25 and enhanced responsiveness to IL-2 signals (136). STAT5, activated downstream of IL-2 and the aforementioned  $\gamma$ c cytokines, induces FoxP3 expression through changes in chromatin structure at the locus, promotes survival and expansion of nTreg (112, 113).

# Peripheral iTreg

iTreg were first identified in mice treated with very small doses of antigen by osmotic pump delivery (137). The conversion of alloantigen specific CD4+ T cells into FoxP3+ iTreg was also observed in tolerized mice treated with non-depleting CD4+ mAbs (138). While the majority of Treg in the periphery are of thymic origin (107), FoxP3 expression and suppressive capacity can be induced in peripheral naïve CD4+CD25- T cells by: 1) a combination of strong TCR signal and high concentrations of TGF $\beta$  (126) ; 2) co-stimulation in the presence of inhibitory cytokines, such as TGF $\beta$ ; and 3) activation in the absence of optimal antigen exposure (139). An analysis of TCR

repertoires comparing CD4+FoxP3- and CD4+FoxP3+ iTreg revealed only partial overlap in TCR resemblance, providing support that iTreg cell differentiation requires a distinct TCR specificity that promotes efficient FoxP3 induction (reviewed in (135)). In addition to TCR signal, CTLA-4 is required for TGF $\beta$ -mediated iTreg in vitro. However, CD28 and CD28 associated NF- $\kappa$ B signaling is dispensable for iTreg differentiation (135). In fact, CD28 cross-linking prevents FoxP3 induction in peripheral naïve CD4+ T cells upon stimulation with TGF $\beta$  (reviewed in (133)). *In vitro*, TGF $\beta$ -induction of Treg requires IL-2 (140), which not only directs STAT5-dependent regulation of the FoxP3 promoter and promotes cell survival, but also opposes differentiation of activated CD4+ T cells into Th17 cells in the presence of TGF $\beta$  (100). TGF $\beta$  mediated Smad2 and NFAT binding to FoxP3CNS1 is critical in peripheral FoxP3 induction and, in collaboration with TCR signaling, induces FoxP3 through DNMT1 inactivation and chromatin remodeling (reviewed in (107)).

The generation of iTreg occurs in diverse microenvironments. iTreg have been observed in the lymph nodes during oral tolerance, the lamina propria of the gut in response to microbiota and food antigens, tumors, chronically inflamed tissue and transplanted tissue (reviewed in (107, 141)). In these iTreg cell-dominated environments, infectious tolerance, defined as the spread of tolerance to new groups of T cells is thought to occur through the recruitment and induction of FoxP3-CD4+CD25- T cells into FoxP3+CD4+CD25+ with suppressive capacity (142). It was recently demonstrated that TGF $\beta$  is expressed on the cell surface of activated, but not resting Treg, and that Treg derived TGF $\beta$  is essential for inhibiting proliferation of activated, but not naïve T cells (143). Further, Treg were capable of inducing FoxP3 expression and suppressor function

to antigen-specific naïve T cells indicating that infectious tolerance can be conferred in a TGF $\beta$ -dependent manner (143).

#### Treg maintenance

The three main factors critical for homeostatic maintenance of both natural and induced Treg in the periphery include: IL-2, TGF $\beta$  and CD28 ligation (133). IL-2 plays an important role in Treg proliferation and contributes to Treg function (107, 111, 144). The requirement for TGF $\beta$  in Treg maintenance was revealed when its absence resulted in decreased peripheral Treg populations despite normal thymic output (124). While CD28 engagement is not necessary for the generation of iTreg, this molecule is important for both natural and induced Treg homeostasis in the periphery (reviewed in (112)). These factors induce signaling pathways that mediate permissive chromatin modifications within the FoxP3 promoter to enhance gene expression. In the absence of any of these factors, the number of Treg within the periphery decrease (107).

A variety of molecules can reverse FoxP3 and Treg suppressor activity (107). *In vitro* cross-linking of OX40, results in a loss of FoxP3 expression and suppressor function in mature Treg (107). In addition, GITR ligation specifically on responders, but not Treg, renders the effector cells unable to respond to Treg inhibition (145). Finally, in mouse Treg, engagement of the toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) on Treg has been demonstrated to reverse the regulatory cell's suppressive effect (112).

#### Treg migration

The immune response requires efficient migration of lymphocytes throughout the body between lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs. This trafficking depends primarily on chemoattractants such as chemokines, cytokines, inflammatory lipid mediators

(leukotrienes and prostaglandins), defensins, the complement proteins, C3a and C5a, and anti-microbial peptides (146). Chemokines can be classified as inflammatory/inducible or homeostatic/lymphoid depending on the location of chemokine production and the type of stimuli elicited (146). Recognition of a chemoattractant by a lymphocyte initiates a process of vascular attachment, transendothelial migration, and tissue migration under chemotaxis (147). This process is mediated through lymphocyte cell surface adhesion and chemoattractant receptors (147). Cell adhesion molecules, such as integrins and selectins, are expressed on the tissue endothelium and are required for lymphocyte adhesion and transmigration. Selectins permit weak bonds to form between lymphocytes and activated endothelial cells, enabling the lymphocytes to roll and tether along the internal surface of the endothelial cell (148). Activation of the lymphocyte by chemokines induces a conformational change in lymphocyte integrins, which, in association with the appropriate cell adhesion molecules expressed on the endothelium, allows the lymphocyte to adhere with greater strength and transmigrate into the tissue (147). The extravasated lymphocyte follows chemoattractant gradients to the site of inflammation.

There is significant overlap between chemokine expression on CD4+CD25- T cells and CD4+CD25+ Treg, which is largely a function of Treg chemotaxis to sites of inflammation in order to control effector T cell function (149). CD25+ cells demonstrate elevated expression of the chemokine receptors CXCR3 (150), CCR4 and CCR8 (151) and migrate in response to their respective ligands, eotaxin, CCL17 and CCL1 (152). The importance of Treg expressed CCR4 in homing to sites of inflammation and suppressing effector function was illustrated in the enrichment of CCR4 expressing Treg in ovarian carcinoma tumors (153) and in the requirement for CCR4 in Treg migration within

cardiac allografts and tolerance induction in recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb (154).

Selectin expression in Treg is crucial for Treg homing and suppressive capacity *in vivo*. In a skin inflammation model, Treg from VII-deficient mice, which lack E/P selectin ligands, were unable to migrate into the inflamed tissue and inhibit Th1-mediated delayed-type hypersensitivity (155). L-selectin (CD62L) is also important in homing to lymph nodes and migration into tissue in which acute or chronic inflammation is occurring (156). CD62L+ Treg are more potent suppressors than CD62L- Treg, and exhibit enhanced survival (157). *In vivo*, CD62L+ Treg demonstrate superior suppressive abilities in a mouse model of autoimmune diabetes (158). In addition, expansion of CD62L+ Treg preferentially migrate to the lymph node of tolerant allograft recipients and show alloantigen-specific suppressor function (159). Clearly, Treg migration is important for Treg function and peripheral tolerance induction.

#### Treg suppression

Treg are potent suppressors of T cell proliferation and effector function both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (reviewed in (112)). The cellular targets of FoxP3+Treg suppression include CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, DCs, B cells, macrophages, osteoblasts, mast cells, NK cells and NKT cells (112). There are multiple mechanisms by which Treg can directly and indirectly suppress CD4+CD25- T cells. Treg impact almost every feature of effector T cell function, including T cell activation, IL-2 production, proliferation, and trafficking (147). There are multiple mechanisms by which Treg can directly suppress CD4+CD25- T cells. Treg can directly and indirectly suppress CD4+CD25- T cells. Treg can directly and indirectly suppress CD4+CD25- T cells. Treg can directly and indirectly suppress CD4+CD25- T cells. Treg can directly suppress CD4+CD25- T cells via IL-2 consumption, suppressor cytokine production (TGFβ, IL-10, IL-35), granzyme-mediated
cytolysis of target cells and cell surface molecule production that initiates cell cycle arrest (galectin-1) (112). Treg can indirectly inhibit CD4+CD25- T cells by suppressing the function and activation of APCs through CD80/CD86 down-regulation, binding of the lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3) to the MHC class II molecules on DCs thereby suppressing maturation, inactivation of pro-inflammatory extracellular ATP by CD39, and competing against CD4+CD25- T cells for DC interactions employing the Treg receptor, neuropilin (Nrp-1) (112).

## IL-2

Both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that Treg cell-mediated inhibition of IL-2 can suppress both proliferation and cytokine production in CD4+CD25- T cells (160-162). Treg may inhibit IL-2 by directly competing with CD4+CD25- T cells for IL-2 consumption, resulting in diminished proliferation of the responder cells followed by BIM-mediated apoptosis (163). Studies also reveal that Treg can suppress IL-2 production in CD4+CD25- T cells by inhibiting the induction of IL-2 gene expression (160-162). IL-2 also enhances Treg suppressive function. At high levels of IL-2, Treg will become activated and expand (144). IL-2 also primes Treg to produce IL-10 upon restimulation, either upon migration into the secondary lymphoid organs or within inflamed tissue (144). Therefore, Treg uptake of IL-2 not only suppresses T cell activation but expands the Treg population and upregulates production of a suppressor cytokine, IL-10, to control T cells that may have escaped suppression initially and have now migrated into inflamed tissue.

#### **1.6 TGFβ gene expression, signaling and suppressor function**

TGF $\beta$  is a multifunctional cytokine that controls proliferation, differentiation, and other functions in diverse cell types (164). TGF<sup>β</sup> belongs to a superfamily of proteins that include morphogenic proteins, activins, and growth differentiation factors (165). Mammals express three homologous isoforms of TGF $\beta$ , each of which is encoded by a different gene. TGFB1 is the predominant isoform expressed in the immune system. TGF $\beta$ 2 and 3 play important roles in development and are primarily expressed in mesenchymal tissues and bones (reviewed in (164)). TGF $\beta$  is synthesized as a prepro-TGF $\beta$  precursor (166). This precursor contains a signal peptide that is removed when the TGF $\beta$  precursor is processed in the Golgi (166). TGF $\beta$  is noncovalently associated with a latency-associated protein (LAP) forming the small latent TGF $\beta$  complex (SLC) (167). The SLC can be secreted or it can further associate with the latent TGF $\beta$  binding protein, forming a large complex (LLC). The SLC and LLC sequester TGF $\beta$  to the extracellular matrix, preventing the cytokine from interacting with its receptor (167). Activation of TGF $\beta$  requires liberation from the complexes through proteolytic cleavage or a conformational change (167).

TGFβ becomes activated following dissociation from LAP or LTBP and mediates signaling by binding TGFβ type I and II transmembrane serine/threonine kinase receptors (166). Following TGFβ receptor ligation, activin receptor like kinase (ALK5) phosphorylates Smad2 and Smad3, which translocate to the nucleus in complex with Smad4 (reviewed in (168)). In association with other transcription factors, the Smad complex binds target promoters of a multitude of genes and regulates expression. TGFβ signaling also activates PI3K and various MAPK signaling pathways (168). TGFβ

signaling is down-regulated by the expression of Smad7, which competes with Smad2 and Smad3 binding and degrades these factors through ubiquitin ligase complexes (168).

Unlike isoforms 2 and 3 gene expression, which are regulated primarily by developmental or hormonal signals, little is known about the transcriptional regulation of TGFβ1. The promoter of TGFβ1 contains binding sites for AP-1 where c-jun and c-fos induced by TGFβ signaling bind to and stimulate additional TGFβ1 production (164). However, AP-1 may have a dual role in regulating TGFβ1, depending on the context and the cell type, because it has been demonstrated that the AP-1 activators, c-Jun-NH2terminal kinase 1 and 2 (JNK1, JNK2), inhibit TGFβ1 expression in fibroblasts (164). TGFβ1 gene expression may not correlate with secreted protein expression suggesting that TGFβ1 is post-transcriptionally regulated. Indeed, the TGFβ1 transcript found in abundance has a long 5' untranslated region that is associated with negative regulation of TGFβ translation (164). The exact mechanism is unknown.

## TGF<sub>β</sub> regulates cell proliferation

Mice with a systemic TGF $\beta$  deficiency (TGF $\beta$ -/- mice) (169) and mice that possess a T cell specific cell specific abrogation of TGF $\beta$  signaling (CD4-DNR mice) (170) manifest multi-focal autoimmune diseases, characterized by spontaneous T cell activation, hyperproliferation, effector cell induction and significant inflammatory cytokine production. TGF $\beta$  critically regulates Th and CTL differentiation, in addition to T and B cell proliferation, activation and survival (reviewed in (164)). TGF $\beta$  suppresses T cell proliferation by inhibiting IL-2 transcription (171) and by affecting cell cycle progression through selective upregulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (p15, p21, and p27) and down-regulation of the cell cycle activators, c-myc, cyclin D2 and

cyclin E (164). However, TGF $\beta$ -mediated inhibition of cell proliferation depends on the activation status of the responder. CD28 co-stimulation over-rides TGF $\beta$  suppression in TCR-mediated naïve T cell proliferation (172). In addition, while TGF $\beta$  inhibits naïve T and B cells, it has minimal effects on activated cells as a consequence of reduced TGF $\beta$ RII expression (141). The cytokine, IL-10, can ameliorate this by enhancing TGF $\beta$ RII expression and conferring TGF $\beta$  responsiveness in activated T cells (141). Preferential TGF $\beta$  inhibition of naïve cells in the absence of co-stimulation is thought to dampen T cell responses toward self-antigen, while the limited ability of TGF $\beta$  to suppress TCR-activated cells that receive strong co-stimulatory signals, permits the development of cellular immunity toward infections (173).

## TGF<sup>β</sup> regulates differentiation of Th1 and Th2 cells

TGFβ is capable of opposing both Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation (Figure 3). Under polarizing conditions, activated naïve CD4+ T cells differentiate into helper T cells (69). TGFβ effectively blocks Th1 differentiation through the reduction of IL-12Rβ2 and T-bet gene expression (174, 175). TGFβ may achieve this by directly regulating IFNγ or T-bet transcription or by down-regulating STAT4 expression, which is a transcription factor activated by IL-12 that upregulates IFNγ expression upon T cell priming (174, 175). Gorelik and colleagues demonstrate that TGFβ directly inhibits GATA3 expression, thereby preventing Th2 differentiation (176). In addition, TGFβ interferes with TCR and co-stimulatory signaling by suppressing the activation of the Tec kinase, Ick, and by inhibiting calcium influx following TCR/CD28 stimulation (177). Impairments in calcium signaling negatively impacts NFAT, which is a transcription factor of GATA3 (177).



**Figure 3:** TGF $\beta$  and Th development. The pathways that are used by the host immune system to reject an organ evolved to combat intracellular and extracellular pathogens and TGF $\beta$  can play either an anti-inflammatory or pro-inflammatory role. TGF $\beta$  alone can drive an undifferentiated T helper cell to become a T regulatory cell, which is a T cell subset that actively suppresses immune responses and maintains immunological tolerance. TGF $\beta$  has been shown to inhibit differentiation of Th1 cells, which express IFN $\gamma$  and mobilize the cellular arm of the immune system to combat intracellular pathogens. TGF $\beta$  also suppresses Th2 cells that secrete IL-4 and are essential for elimination of parasitic worms. TGF $\beta$  in conjunction with IL-6 or IL-21 drive the differentiation of the Th17 lineage, which produce IL-17 and defend against extracellular pathogens.

## TGFβ inhibits CD8+ T cell differentiation

The suppressive effect of TGF $\beta$  on CD8+ T cells was revealed in experiments in which CD8+ T cells activated in the presence of TGF $\beta$  do not acquire cytotoxic T lymphocyte functions and weakly proliferate (reviewed in (164)). This is due to the inhibition of multiple effector molecules in CD8+ T cells (178). TGF $\beta$  suppresses perforin, T-bet and IFN $\gamma$  gene expression in these cells. In addition, TGF $\beta$  affects the death receptor cytotoxic pathway of CD8+ T cells by inhibiting the expression of Fas ligand (164). However, similar to CD4+ inhibition by TGF $\beta$ , CD8+ T cell inhibition is

context dependent and co-stimulatory and cytokine signaling pathways can over-ride the suppressive effect of TGF $\beta$  (178).

### *TGF*β regulation of *B* cells

TGF $\beta$  is an essential regulator of B cells as evidenced by the autoimmunity phenotype observed in mice with B cell-specific blockade of TGF $\beta$  signaling (179). Similar to its effect on T cell proliferation, TGF $\beta$  inhibits proliferation in B cells by repressing cyclin A expression, inactivating cdk2 and down-regulating c-myc (180). These alterations in cell cycle progression result in blockade at G1/S (164). TGF $\beta$  also inhibits B cell differentiation by preventing both light chain expression and the secreted form of the heavy chain (181, 182) and blocks class switching to most IgG isotypes. TGF $\beta$  negatively regulates B cell survival signals. TGF $\beta$  impairs IL-4 mediated STAT-6 activation, which is an important mitogenic survival factor for B cells (164). In addition, TGF $\beta$  upregulates pro-apoptotic members of the BCL-2 family and induces apoptosis in immature and resting B cells (183).

## A negative regulator of TGF<sub>β</sub>: Decorin

Decorin, an extracellular matrix protein, has received attention in cancer research and in fibroproliferative diseases for its ability to inhibit TGF $\beta$  (184). Decorin is a member of the small leucine rich proteoglycan (SLRP) family (185). The core protein of decorin contains 10 leucine rich repeats that interact with a number of extracellular proteins, including collagen, fibronectin, thrombospondin, complement component C1q, EGFR and TGF $\beta$  (186-188). The role of decorin in stabilizing the extracellular matrix (ECM) was revealed in decorin deficient mice, which exhibit abnormally fragile skin associated with skin collagen defects and irregularly shaped fibrillar networks (189).

Decorin also negatively impacts cell proliferation, an effect mediated through the induction of p21(184). Decorin has been demonstrated to down-modulate TGF $\beta$  bioactivity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (190-193). Decorin binds all 3 isoforms of TGF $\beta$ , effectively inhibiting the cytokine's interaction with its receptor (Figure 4). In addition, decorin inhibits TGF $\beta$  gene expression by interrupting TGF $\beta$ /Smad-dependent transcriptional events (194, 195). Decorin gene transfer has attenuated TGF $\beta$  dependent fibrosis in models of glomerulonephritis (196), cardiac ventricular fibrosis (197), and pulmonary fibrosis (198).



Adapted from Akhurst, Nature Genetics, 2006

**Figure 4: Decorin inhibits TGF** $\beta$ . Decorin is an extracellular protein and a member of the small leucine-rich proteoglycan family. This ECM protein binds all 3 isoforms of TGF $\beta$ , thereby inhibiting TGF $\beta$ 's interaction with its receptor. In addition to inhibiting the TGF $\beta$  bioactivity, decorin can also negatively regulate TGF $\beta$  gene expression (199).

### **1.7 Inflammatory response to allografts**

The immune system evolved to defend against microbial pathogens, not transplanted organs. However, because organs are rarely transplanted between genetically identical individuals, the immune system recognizes the organ as "non-self" and mounts a response (11). This section reviews the pathology associated with acute rejection, delayed type hypersensitivity, humoral rejection, hyperacute rejection, and chronic rejection.

## Acute allograft rejection

Acute cardiac rejection is characterized by a severe and localized inflammatory response within the allograft that results in destruction of graft tissue and loss of function (12). Initially, an alloantigen-independent inflammatory response occurs within hours post-transplantation (200, 201). This response is characterized by the activation of graft vascular endothelial cells and leukocyte infiltration (202). Vascular endothelial cells express adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1, increasing accessibility to the graft by macrophages, neutrophils and dendritic cells (203). Macrophages infiltrate into the perivascular interstitium and express the cytokines, IL-1, IL-6, TNF and TGF $\beta$  (204). These cytokines serve to stimulate the migration of additional immune cells into the graft and, subsequently, into the recipient's draining lymph nodes for further immune activation (202).

This initial inflammatory response occurs regardless of whether the transplant is an isograft or allograft and is a function of ischemic injury and tissue hypoxia that is incurred during organ procurement and the operative period (205). Cold ischemic time following organ procurement induces allograft injury and enhances post-operative

inflammation (205). If the organ is recovered from a donor who has sustained brain death, hormonal dysfunction, proinflammatory cytokine release and hemodynamic instability contributes to graft damage prior to transplantation (206). During surgery, warm ischemia injury and delayed graft function serve to amplify inflammatory responses that occur post-operatively (207). These initial insults to the transplant result in graft injury and facilitate inflammatory cell recruitment into the allograft. In accepted cardiac allografts, these inflammatory events can take up to 20 days to resolve (200).

The initial inflammatory response toward a cardiac allograft evolves significantly within three days post-transplant (200). At this time, the alloantigendependent phase is initiated. T cells become the dominant infiltrating cells within the interstitium and eventually migrate throughout the graft in response to chemokines such as VCAM-1, MCP-1 and RANTES (207, 208). Host T cells are first activated by foreign or self-MHC in addition to simultaneous stimulatory signals from APCs (28). The activated T cells undergo clonal expansion and assume effector function. Once activated, recipient CD4+ T cells produce a variety of cytokines, including IL-2, IFNy and IL-4 (12). IL-2 drives alloreactive CD8+ T cell differentiation into cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), which are capable of lysing allograft cells (209). CTLs kill through the release of perforin/granzyme and/or ligation of Fas with FasL, which signals the allogeneic cells to undergo apoptosis through a caspase mediated mechanism (12). The important role CTLs play in rejection was demonstrated in human transplant when donor-specific CTLs were eluted from rejecting kidney transplants (210), and in experiments in mice when CD8+ effector cells were adoptively transferred and mediated rejection of skin grafts in recipient mice (211). However, CD4+ T cells can also acutely reject allografts by

mounting a Th2-dominant response characterized by an aggressive eosinophil infiltration (14). CD4 helper T cells also facilitate donor-reactive Ab production in the spleen and lymph nodes through the activation of alloreactive B cells (described later in this chapter) (12). Circulating alloreactive IgG Ab are detected within 7 to 14 days post-transplant (200). Additional cytokines increase vascular permeability and enhance the accumulation of neutrophils and mononuclear cells into the graft. Histologically, acute cardiac rejection is associated with high numbers of infiltrating inflammatory cells, extracellular edema, cardiomyocyte lysis, hemorrhage and vascular damage (212). Acute rejection occurs rapidly in the absence of immunosuppression and results in graft failure within a matter of weeks post-transplantation.

## Delayed type hypersensitivity

Another mechanism of graft rejection is delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) (12). During DTH, alloreactive CD4+ and CD8+ Th1 cells are the main mediators of graft rejection. Alloreactive T cells differentiate into Th1 cells that produce the proinflammatory cytokines, IFN $\gamma$  and TNF (12). IFN $\gamma$  induces the expression of chemokines such as CXCL9 (MIG), CXCL10 (IP-10) and CXCL11 to enhance the inflammatory response by facilitating the infiltration and activation of monocytes and macrophages (20). TNF $\alpha$  and TNF $\beta$  serve to enhance vascular permeability and mediate local tissue destruction. These cytokines activate monocytes and macrophages, which infiltrate the grafts and secrete cytokines and chemokines to attract additional inflammatory cell infiltration. Macrophages shape the local inflammatory response within the graft by producing proteolytic enzymes, nitric oxide and additional pro-inflammatory cytokines (12). These soluble inflammatory mediators directly impact the physiological functions of the allograft through their effects on vascular integrity and tissue injury. DTH responses within an allograft are characterized by edema and intense cellular infiltrate (12). A DTH response is sufficient to mediate allograft rejection as demonstrated by CD4+ T cell adoptive transfer into SCID recipients of MHC Class I- or II-disparate skin grafts and subsequent graft rejection (213).

## Humoral rejection

Advances in transvenous endomyocardial biopsies and histologic grading systems enhanced the diagnosis of cardiac rejection (214). However, some patients were diagnosed with 'biopsy negative' heart transplant rejection (215). Many of these patients were experiencing humoral graft rejection (215). Hammond first described humoral rejection as endothelial cell swelling and vasculitis associated with deposition of IgG and complement as observed by fluorescent microscopy of immunostained grafts (216). Antibody mediated rejection (AMR) occurs when Ab engages with graft antigen resulting in the fixation of complement and triggering of the complement cascade (77). The deposition of complement was first described in kidney biopsy specimens (217). Complement component C4d deposition within the peritubular capillaries of these biopsies correlated with severe rejection and graft loss (217).

In addition to complement-mediated cell lysis, Ab deposition and activation of complement in cardiac transplants is associated with both the accumulation and activation of leukocytes within the capillaries and arteries of the graft (77). The FcR on neutrophils and macrophages interacts with the Ab Fc tail and results in cellular activation. This interaction induces the production of various cytokines such as MCP-1, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$ , which promote inflammatory cell chemotaxis and cell survival signals

at the site of inflammation (12). Activation of the complement components, C3, and C5 also results in the formation of the split products, C3a and C5a, which are small diffusible fragments that mediate chemotaxis and activation through C3a and C5a receptors on leukocytes (218). Macrophages possess complement split product receptors for C5a, the stimulation of which induce the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  that further amplify the immune response (12). Complement activation of antibodies also serves as a strong positive feedback loop for B cell activation, maturation and Ab production because the complement split product, C3d, is an activating ligand for CR2 on B cells (219).

# Hyperacute allograft rejection

In humans, pre-formed anti-HLA antibodies occur in some patients as a result of previous transplant, pregnancy or transfusion (220). Major and minor blood group antigens can also elicit Ab responses in transplant recipients. Blood group antigens are expressed on endothelial cells within cardiac allografts and Abs can cross-react with these cells (220). Preformed alloantibodies to blood group antigens can result in a rapid a matter of minutes—rejection of the graft mediated by a complement-dependent reaction referred to as hyperacute allograft rejection (HAR) (12). Activation of the complement and blood clotting cascades causes vascular blockage in a cardiac allograft resulting in hemorrhage, thrombosis, severe injury and graft death. HAR can be avoided by performing cross-matching to determine whether the recipient is sensitized (has antibodies) to donor antigen (12). HAR is a major barrier to xenotransplantation—the transplantation of organs between closely related species—as a result of pre-formed antio(Gal antibodies in humans that cross-react with xenografts (221). The anti-Gal

antibodies are predominantly directed against Gal $\alpha$ 1,3Gal $\beta$ 1, 4GlcNAc carbohydrate residues, which are expressed on endothelial cells of non-primate mammals and New World monkeys, but absent in humans, apes and Old World monkeys (222). As a result, anti- $\alpha$ Gal antibodies are generated early in life through the encounter of  $\alpha$ Gal-expressing microorganisms in the intestinal tract and can compose up to 1% of antibodies in circulation (222).

## **Chronic rejection**

While short-term survival rates of solid organ transplants continue to improve, long-term graft survival remains constant (5). In vascularized organ allografts, the primary cause for late graft failure is CR (reviewed in (223)). CR is characterized by proliferation of fibroblasts within the graft, which promotes interstitial fibrosis as well as thickening and narrowing of the coronary vessels, a process referred to as transplant associated vasculopathy (TAV) (224). CR may develop in response to multiple mechanisms and evolve from a cell and Ab-mediated phase that leads to allograft tissue damage to a tissue-remodeling phase driven by cytokines and growth factors (223). *TAV* 

Over 45% of cardiac transplants exhibit TAV (5) and this pathology is a key feature of CR (224). Mounting evidence indicates that TAV is the result of chronic inflammatory responses toward vessel walls, which is strongly associated with the accumulation of inflammatory cells, primarily macrophages and T cells (224). TAV does not develop in syngeneic transplants, providing evidence that this pathology is an immune mediated disease (225). In experimental models of TAV, T cells migrate into the intima of affected arteries and secrete cytotoxic enzymes that damage arterial walls (226).

These alloreactive T cells also secrete cytokines that induce the expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules and chemokines, such as RANTES, which attract monocytes and macrophages. Macrophages, in particular, are implicated in the early phases of clinical and experimental TAV because these cells migrate into the perivascular areas and produce a number of cytokines, such as IL-6 and MCP-1 in addition to a variety of fibrogenic and matrix proteins (226). Cytokines and chemokines secreted by inflammatory cells results in smooth muscle cell (SMC) activation and migration from the media to the intima of the graft (224). SMCs proliferate and release additional cytokines and extracellular matrix proteins that lead to luminal narrowing and vascular dysfunction (224).

The development of alloantibodies and complement deposition also contributes to TAV (226). Evidence that Abs are necessary for the induction of CR stems from experiments in which B-cell-deficient mice employed as transplant recipients fail to develop the typical arterial lesions observed in TAV (227). In addition, cardiac transplants performed between mouse strains that produce Abs to donor antigen results in more severe TAV than transplants in the reverse combination, in which Abs were not detected (227). While Ab activation and complement deposition on vascular endothelial cells can result in cell lysis, sublytic amounts of complement can activate endothelial cells (ECs). Activated ECs release pro-fibrotic and inflammatory factors such as von Willebrand factor, P-selectin, IL-8, MCP-1, fibroblast growth factor (FGF), TGFβ, and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (226). Immunohistochemistry staining of vascular endothelial cells in experimental models of TAV have revealed high expression of PDGF A and B (226), FGF and TGFβ, which are associated with fibrogenesis in native organs

(226). In addition to the pro-fibrotic factors, the secreted inflammatory mediators enhance innate and adaptive immune responses within the graft (226). Complement activation of platelets deposited on arterial endothelial cells induce the production of soluble CD40L, which is the ligand for CD40 on B cells, macrophages, and DCs leading to amplification of the immunity toward an allograft (226). Platelets also secrete growth factors that promote the proliferation of endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts.

## Interstitial fibrosis

Unlike the cardiomyocyte necrosis and cell death observed in acute rejection, CR is associated with progressive interstitial fibroproliferation and tissue remodeling (228). There is compelling evidence that this process is driven by alloantigen responses and may be the result of "smoldering, subacute rejection accumulating progressive subclinical damage" (228). CR is theorized to be the result of a chronic wound healing process. During tissue repair, fibroblasts proliferate and differentiate into myofibroblasts, which migrate into the wound bed. This cell type has the capacity to generate significant amounts of collagen and extracellular matrix proteins required to restore the tissue architecture (229). In normal repair, myofibroblasts appear transiently, perform their function in connective tissue restoration, and disappear, most likely due to apoptosis (229). It is the persistence of myofibroblasts within lesions that is responsible for the excessive collagen accumulation that leads to aberrant tissue remodeling and, in the case of CR, to organ failure.

Myofibroblast persistence within the interstitium of grafts has been observed in both clinical and experimental CR kidney and cardiac allografts (220). In human renal

allografts, myofibroblasts are associated with progressive interstitial fibrosis (229). Clinical CR cardiac allografts also exhibit myofibroblasts within the intima of vessels and the interstitial spaces (230). The abundance of myofibroblasts strongly correlates with collagen deposition, progressive fibrosis and graft dysfunction (220).

## Role of TGF \$\beta in CR

Multiple growth factors have been implicated in the activation and differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, but TGF $\beta$  has been recognized as a pivotal cytokine in fibrotic diseases (231), including CR (232, 233). TGF $\beta$  has been implicated in fibrosis associated with rheumatoid arthritis, diabetic nephropathy, intestinal inflammation, and myocarditis (231). Further, a plethora of clinical and experimental evidence directly links TGF $\beta$  to cardiac fibrosis including: 1) collagen and ECM production in fibroblasts isolated from cardiac tissue is directly induced by TGF $\beta$  (234); 2) upregulation of TGF $\beta$ transcript and protein levels are associated with cardiac infarct scars, correlating with increased collagen deposition and elevated Smad 2, 3, and 4 expression (234); 3) in patients with cardiac fibrosis, TGF $\beta$ 1 and LTBP levels are increased (233); 4) intragraft TGF $\beta$  transcript levels are only detected in CR cardiac allografts from recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb but not in recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb, that do not exhibit CR (232); and 5) gene transfer of TGF $\beta$  into cardiac allografts is capable of inducing CR (235).

TGF $\beta$  regulates fibroblast proliferation and differentiation into myofibroblasts and subsequent collagen synthesis (236, 237). However, additional factors must collaborate to promote the persistent fibrotic responses *in vivo* (236). In experimental cardiac transplantation, MHC disparity is required, as syngeneic grafts that over-express

TGF $\beta$  do not develop CR (232). Evidence points to connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) as the pivotal down-stream mediator of TGF $\beta$ -induced fibrosis of cardiac grafts in the presence of alloantigen stimulation (232). For fibroblasts to proliferate in response to TGF $\beta$  and CTGF, additional mitogenic factors, such as EGF and PDGF must also be present (236). In allogeneic transplants, activated endothelial cells and macrophages release PDGF and are most likely the cells responsible for providing fibroblasts this necessary mitogenic stimulus. For fibroblasts to subsequently differentiate into myofibroblasts, CTGF works in concert with insulin growth factor-2 (IGF-2), which is a growth factor expressed by cardiomyocytes (236). In this manner, TGF $\beta$  has the ability to induce cardiac fibroblast proliferation and differentiation into myofibroblasts through a CTGF-dependent pathway (233). However, sufficient co-mitogens must be present to amplify the fibrotic effect, and in CR grafts, alloantigen appears to play a key role in this process.

## **1.8 Transplant tolerance**

For more than half a century, the question remains as to whether elements of selftolerance can be exploited to achieve allograft tolerance in the absence of continued immunosuppression. Medawar and his colleagues demonstrated transplantation tolerance induced by adoptively transferring allogeneic bone marrow (BM) into neonatal mice (reviewed in (238)). Tolerance induction was achieved in these mice through the establishment of a state of mixed (recipient and donor) blood chimerism and subsequent purging of alloreactive cells (238). This was the first demonstration of acquired immunological tolerance, which exploits the recipient's natural tolerance mechanisms into accepting an allograft.

Tolerance in the transplant setting is defined as the indefinite acceptance of an allograft after a brief course of immunomodulatory treatment (238). Tolerance toward an allograft occurs in two phases: induction and maintenance. Induction of tolerance is established at the time of transplant primarily through immunosuppression. A minority of grafts are lost to acute rejection during the first year post-transplantation indicating that tolerance induction is achievable or that immunsuppression is successful (239). However, reprogramming the immune system to accept the allograft long-term and maintain tolerance in the absence of immunosuppression has proved to be a major challenge.

Transplant tolerance is composed of central and peripheral tolerance (reviewed in (240)). Deletion of the majority of thymocytes that exhibit high avidity for thymically expressed antigen constitutes central tolerance (107). Peripheral tolerance prevents alloreactive responses toward the graft through the extrathymic deletion of alloreactive cells by apoptosis, induction of anergy, and active suppression by Treg (240). There is most likely overlap between the two mechanisms in tolerance induction.

## Central tolerance

Central tolerance in the transplant setting is primarily a function of thymocyte deletion analogous to self-tolerance (241). This mechanism involves the induction of programmed cell death (apoptosis) in thymocytes that react strongly to both self and donor antigen and subsequent removal of these cells from the T cell repertoire. Mixed hematopoietic chimerism and donor thymic transplantation are two strategies employed to induce central tolerance (reviewed in (242)). Mixed hematopoietic chimerism involves the transfusion of hematopoietic stem cells that engraft, co-exist with recipient stem cells, and generate cells of all hematopoietic lineages (243). The donor and recipient cells seed

the thymus and mediate negative selection (242). As a result, the T cell repertoire is tolerant toward the graft (243). Donor-specific tolerance toward cardiac allografts was achieved in BM chimeric rats (244). In the minor MHC antigen-disparate rat model of CR, no TAV was observed in F-344 rats that received cardiac allografts from Lewis rats and donor BM, while non-chimeric control rats exhibited significant TAV (245). Donor-specific tolerance to small bowel allograft can also be induced in this same model using BM chimerisms (244). Additional studies identified bone marrow cells, and not peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) as the cell type critical for tolerance induction.

DST of spleen or bone marrow cells prior to transplant and followed by a drug therapy (cyclophosphamide or busulfan) that is toxic to proliferating cells, represents a twist on BM chimerism but also involves specific deletion of donor-reactive cells (246). Using this regimen, alloreactive recipient cells that respond to donor antigen would selectively undergo apoptosis. DST in conjunction with cyclophosphamide has been demonstrated to induce both long-term cardiac (247) and skin graft acceptance (248). In addition, DST in concert with co-stimulation blockade, such as CD40 or ICOS-B7h blockade, has been shown to prolong cardiac allograft survival (249).

Donor thymic transplantation has been less successful than mixed chimerism in inducing central tolerance toward a graft (242). Co-transplant of non-vascularized thymic tissue at the time of transplant often results in rejection of the thymus prior to the establishment of tolerance. To address this issue, revascularization of thymic tissue has been achieved using composite organs termed "thymokidneys" (250) and "thymohearts"(251). These composite organs constitute fully functional and vascularized

thymic tissue at the time of organ transplant. Class I MHC mismatched "thymokidneys" transplanted into swine treated with cyclosporine results in donor-reactive cellular and humoral hyporesponsiveness (252). Thymohearts transplanted across the same MHC barrier, however, induces alloreactivity and evidence of TAV (253). Improved techniques of vascularizing thymic tissue to cardiac transplants may improve this outcome.

## Peripheral tolerance

Mechanisms of peripheral tolerance include extrathymic cell deletion by apoptosis, anergy and regulatory cell suppressor activity. All three mechanisms will be discussed below.

### Treg in transplant

There is considerable evidence in both human or experimental transplant recipients, that Treg are requisite for tolerance rendered spontaneously or through immunomodulatory therapy (171, 254-256). Treg suppression of alloreactive cells has been observed both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro*, Treg isolated from tolerized transplant recipients suppress alloreactive T cell activation and proliferation in MLR (257, 258). *In vivo*, pretransplant depletion of Treg by anti-CD25 mAb, results in CR in mouse models that normally exhibit spontaneous tolerance, and acute rejection in models that otherwise manifest CR (259-261).

The requirement for Treg as the main mediators in graft tolerance has been observed in a variety of tolerizing treatments and this tolerance is transferable to naïve T cells adoptively transferred into hosts in a process termed infectious tolerance (reviewed in (262)). There is considerable evidence that iTreg play a key role in infectious tolerance. *Ex vivo* generation of alloantigen-specific iTreg in the presence of TGF $\beta$  and

adoptively transferred into cardiac allograft transplant recipients can suppress alloreactivity and promote long-term graft survival (262). In addition, allograft acceptance in this model correlates with intragraft Treg migration. A similar correlation between favorable allograft outcome and a robust intragraft Treg population is frequently observed in human transplant (263-266), indicating the importance of Treg locally inhibiting alloreactive responses at the site of inflammation.

The development of Treg occurs through multiple mechanisms and most likely involves both natural and induced Treg. *In vitro* studies suggest that nTreg suppression may be allo-antigen specific or nonspecific (262), and that both the direct and indirect pathway of allorecognition can activate these Treg (263, 267). Likewise, induction of both CD4+ and CD8+ Treg in the presence of TGF $\beta$  and alloantigen *ex vivo* and subsequent transfer of these iTreg into recipients of cardiac allograft recipients, results in donor-reactive specific suppression and infectious tolerance (268). It was also recently demonstrated that TGF $\beta$  is expressed on the cell surface of activated, but not resting Treg, and that Treg derived TGF $\beta$  is essential for inhibiting proliferation of activated, but not naïve T cells (143). Further, Treg are capable of inducing FoxP3 expression and suppressor function to antigen-specific naïve T cells indicating that infectious tolerance can be conferred in a TGF $\beta$ -dependent manner (143). Most likely, a combination of nTreg and iTreg synergize to suppress alloreactivity and induce transplant tolerance.

Treg can suppress alloreactive cells through both contact dependent (66, 173) and independent pathways (143, 172). Contact independent-mediated suppression involves the secretion of the anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  (143, 172). Contact dependent mechanisms include cross-linking of CTLA-4 on target cells in conjunction

with TCR engagement (66), granzyme B-mediated apoptosis (269) and cell surface bound TGFβ. Treg can inhibit both alloreactive Th1 and Th2 responses, prevent CTL development, suppress B cell proliferation, induce apoptosis, modify the function of APCs, convert naïve CD4+ T cells into Treg, and induce infectious tolerance (reviewed in (270)). While Tregs are primarily suppressive in function, in response to DC derived IL-6 and alloantigen, Treg can promote the development of Th17 cells (271). Therefore, in the transplant setting, Treg can suppress or activate alloreactive cells depending on the context.

#### Donor-reactive cell anergy and deletion

Both anergy and donor-reactive cell deletion by apoptosis are thought to work in concert to induce tolerance (272). Anergy is defined as a state in which donor-specific T cells are present within the periphery, but functionally inert, failing to proliferate both *in vitro* (273) and *in vivo* (274). As discussed previously, in order to become fully activated, T cells require two signals: 1) engagement of the TCR with peptide-MHC complex and 2) co-stimulation through the engagement of one or more T cell surface receptors with the corresponding molecules on APCs (ie. CD28:CD80/CD86 or CD40L:CD40) (249). TCR engagement with peptide-MHC with no additional co-stimulatory signal results in T cell anergy (275). Co-stimulatory blockade through anti-CD40L mAb, anti-CD28 mAb and CTLA-4-IgG treatment of transplant recipients results in prolonged allograft survival and tolerance induction (249, 276, 277). Evidence for anergy in bone marrow transplantation arises from primary MLR experiments that demonstrate allo-antigen specific hyporesponsiveness following anti-CD40L mAb treatment in vivo (278).

Donor-reactive T cells can undergo deletion or apoptosis by two mechanisms: activation induced cell death (AICD) or passive cell death (272, 279). AICD, which requires the presence of IL-2 and is mediated by FAS-FASL interactions, is important for the elimination of activated cells after repeated antigen stimulation (272, 279). The role for AICD in the induction of tolerance following co-stimulatory blockade was revealed in IL-2-/- mice and Bcl-xL mice (transgenic mice that express high levels of the antiapoptotic gene, Bcl-xL), whose T cells are unable to undergo AICD and are resistant to induction of transplantation tolerance (272, 279). Passive cell death entails the elimination of activated cells due to cytokine or growth factor withdrawal (280). Both passive apoptosis and AICD are required for induction of peripheral transplantation tolerance in transplant models that employ co-stimulatory blockade (CTLA-4Ig or anti-CD40L mAb) or immunosuppression (rapamycin) (272). Additionally, in the absence of immunosuppression, significant levels of T cell apoptosis of graft infiltrating cells (GIC) into liver transplants has been shown to correlate with prolonged allograft survival (281). It is hypothesized that alloreactive cell death during the inductive phase of transplant is requisite to reduce the population of graft reactive cells to a level more conducive for control by anergy or regulation during the maintenance phase (272).

#### T cell depletion: anti-CD4 mAb treatment

A variety of immunomodulatory methods have been employed in transplantation to promote transplant tolerance. T cell depletion is successfully employed to treat acute rejection and can be used in induction regimens (reviewed in (282)). T cell depletion may target all T cells (ie. anti-lymphocyte globulins, described in Immunosuppressive Agents)

or subsets of T cells, such as CD4+ and CD8+ T cells following anti-CD4 mAb or anti-CD8 mAb therapy, respectively.

In the 1980's, Waldmann and colleagues tested a number of rat antibodies targeting mouse lymphocytes, all of which elicited neutralizing Ab responses except for anti-CD4 mAb (283). A brief course of anti-CD4 mAb in mice induced tolerance to aggregated human IgG (HGG), which is normally highly immunogenic in mice, but failed to induce tolerance toward chicken gamma-globulin or ovalbumin (283). The difference in these antigens was that HGG persisted, while chicken gamma-globulin and ovalbumin have very short half-lives. This indicated that tolerance induced by anti-CD4 mAb was not by default, but required antigen persistence to reinforce tolerance. Tolerance in mice treated with anti-CD4 mAb proved to be persistent, was CD4+ T cell-mediated, and was not reversible upon adoptive transfer naïve T cells into tolerized mice (284). This argued for a dominant active regulatory mechanism that did not require additional immunosuppression to confer antigen specific hyporesponsiveness to a new population of naïve cells.

Inductive anti-CD4 mAb treatment prevents acute rejection, inhibits donorreactive responses and promotes tolerance in kidney, heart, and skin transplants (285-289). Tolerance induction is primarily through CD4+ cell depletion. Anti-CD4 mAb (GK1.5) is a complement fixing rat IgG2b and, *in vitro*, has been demonstrated to lyse CD4+ T cells through complement-fixation (285). However, experiments in anti-CD4 mAb treated complement component C1q-/- allograft recipients indicate that depletion occurs independently of C1q and the classical C pathway (285). It has been reported that anti-CD4 mAb preferentially depletes resting, naïve cells, while sparing effector or

memory CD4+ cells (290). Studies also suggest that CD4 ligation down-regulates both IL-2 and IL-2R expression, limiting T cell responsiveness to IL-2 (291). In addition, upon CD4+ T cell repopulation, one study indicates that there is a significant enhancement in the ratios of CD4+CD25+ and CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ T cells to CD4+ T cell in the periphery (292).

In skin transplant models, Waldmann and colleagues demonstrated that tolerance induced by a non-depleting anti-CD4 mAb treatment is dominant and mediated by CD4+ T cells (293). Adoptive transfer of naïve CD4+T cells into recipients exhibiting long-term allograft acceptance following inductive anti-CD4 mAb treatment, results in a spread of infectious tolerance to the naïve cells and no alloreactivy toward the graft is observed (293). It is postulated that in this model, Treg are less susceptible to apoptosis or inactivation in response to the anti-CD4 mAb and are able to proliferate and migrate into the graft in order to suppress alloreactivity. In addition, in skin transplant studies it was revealed that following CD4 blockade, Treg can be induced *de novo* through a TGF $\beta$ dependent mechanism, and accumulate in tolerated grafts (138). These iTreg cells express FoxP3+ and can actively suppress graft destruction.

## Anti-CD4 mAb treatment in vascularized mouse cardiac allograft model

In the vascularized mouse cardiac allograft model, transient depletion of CD4+ T cells results in prolonged graft survival and the development of CR (232) (Figure 5). Data generated in this experimental model reveals a strong correlation between TGF $\beta$ -induced connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) (a down-stream mediator of TGF $\beta$ -induced fibrosis) and CR. Adenoviral gene transfer of active TGF $\beta$  into allografts, but not syngeneic grafts, results in CR, indicating that immune recognition is required to induce



**Figure 5: Experimental manipulations in CR.** Transient depletion of recipient CD4+ T cells at the time of transplant promotes allograft acceptance but allows TGF $\beta$  expression within the graft and the progression of chronic rejection. In contrast, anti-CD40L mAb treatment of transplant recipients results in prolonged allograft survival but no evidence of CR.

CR (235). An additional cytokine, IL-6, has recently been implicated in driving fibrosis and hypertrophy in CR allografts in this model (294). Neutralization of IL-6 through anti-IL-6 mAb administration or by employing IL-6 deficient mice as transplant recipients ameliorated cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, graft fibrosis, and improved graft function (294).

Inductive anti-CD4 mAb treatment permits the CD4+ T cells to begin repopulating the periphery 3-4 weeks post-transplantation (285, 295, 296). As CD4+T cells return, donor-reactive T cells are functionally distinct from naïve cells in that these repopulating CD4+ exhibit a transient donor-reactive Th1 and Th2 priming that peaks around day 30 post-transplant (297). These graft-reactive cells progress to a hyporesponsive state toward the graft, but mount Th2 recall responses and demonstrate accelerated CR if transferred into allograft-bearing SCID mice (297). This altered functional T cell capacity is associated with intragraft expression of TGFβ and FoxP3. TGF $\beta$  may perpetuate its suppressive activities by inducing TGF $\beta$ -producing Treg (298, 299). Indeed, flow cytometry of GICs and quantitative RT-PCR has been employed to detect the presence of FoxP3+ cells within the graft and an enriched population of intragraft Treg are detected in anti-CD4 mAb treated recipients compared to allografts from unmodified recipients. Maintenance of transplant tolerance and CR in anti-CD4 mAb treated recipients is strongly associated with intragraft TGF $\beta$  and the progression of graft-reactive cells to an altered state of differentiation (297).

#### Co-stimulatory blockade: CD40:CD40L disruption

*In vivo* co-stimulation blockade with anti-CD40L mAb has been shown to prolong allograft survival in several models of transplantation (reviewed in (38)). As discussed previously, failure to receive costimulatory signals following TCR ligation can result in T cell anergy or death, so inductive costimulatory blockade is a suitable therapeutic to selectively target donor-reactive cells prior to T cell effector function (28). The mechanism by which anti-CD40L mAb controls donor-reactive cells *in vivo* is still being elucidated and it is possible that this therapy has a multiple mechanisms of action.

The graft sparing effect of CD40:CD40L blockade transcends just blocking interactions with CD40, and reports indicate that anti-CD40L mAb may delete T cells through AICD, activate CD4+ T cells to secrete immunomodulatory cytokines, and induce Treg development (298, 300-302). Blocking CD40:CD40L interactions inhibits CD4+ and CD8+ T cell proliferation and induces anergy, unless exogenous IL-2 is applied. In addition to anergy induction, a cell cycle-dependent donor-reactive T cell apoptosis *in vivo* due to both AICD and passive apoptosis has been reported (279). In support of this, IL-2, Bcl-xL, and complement C3 are required for deletion of

autoreactive cells and knockout mice for these factors cannot maintain transplantation tolerance normally induced by CD40:CD40L blockade (279, 303). Anti-CD40L mAb also significantly inhibits alloantibody production by donor-reactive B cells due to the lack of T cell help (277).

Anti-CD40L mAb treatment also affects cytokine production and upregulates downstream mediators to induce and maintain tolerance. CD40:CD40L blockade stimulates secretion of IL-10, IFN $\gamma$ , and TNF $\alpha$  but not IL-2 by CD4+ T cells *in vitro* (300). Cytokine secretion followed by apoptosis indicates early and direct effects of CD40:CD40L blockade on CD4+ cells (300). A deviation toward Th2 skewing has also been observed in CD4+ T cells in response to cross-linking of CD40L, which may, in fact, indicate Treg development since Treg have recently been identified to over-express a subset of Th2 gene transcripts in a model of skin transplant (35, 304). In addition, several downstream mediators, including CTLA-4, IFN $\gamma$ , and heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) were found to be responsible for graft survival, following CD40:CD40L blockade (38).

In addition to deletion of autoreactive cells, transplant recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAbs, manifest infectious tolerance, or the spread of tolerance to new groups of graft-reactive T cells, indicating suppression by Treg (301). It is postulated that these Treg may be resistant to anti-CD40L mAb therapy and would persist following graftreactive T cell deletion, altering the ratio between regulators and aggressors in favor of tolerance (301). Alternatively, potentially donor-reactive T cells that fail to undergo apoptosis associated with AICD may become iTreg in response to antigen recognition in the absence of a co-stimulatory signal. In a model of skin transplantation, tolerance

induced by anti-CD40L mAb and DST, Treg were shown to be the essential mediators of tolerance (305).

#### Anti-CD40L mAb treatment in vascularized mouse cardiac allograft model

In the mouse cardiac allograft model, prolonged allograft survival can be achieved by disrupting CD40-CD40L interactions (232). Allografts in mice treated with anti-CD40L mAb remain free of CR and fail to express intragraft TGFβ (Figure 5). Gene transfer of active TGFβ into allografts of recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb results in CR and elevated levels of the TGFβ induced downstream fibrotic factor, CTGF (232). A transient low but detectable Th1 and Th2 priming of donor-reactive cells are observed at day 10 post-transplant in anti-CD40L mAb treated recipients. However, these cells are eliminated since graft-reactive T cells in recipients with long-term allograft acceptance induced by CD40L blockade exhibit hyporesponsiveness (297). Adoptive transfer of splenocytes from long-term allograft recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb into SCID donor-specific allograft recipients results in acute rejection mediated by a dominant Th1 response, similar to naïve cells (297). These observations provide support that one mechanism by which tolerance is induced in recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb is through the maintenance of potentially alloreactive T cells in a naïve state (297).

## **1.9 Immunosuppressive drugs**

Clinical immunosuppression in a transplant recipient is a balancing act between preventing rejection and losing protection against mutant cells and infectious agents as well as additional side effects described below. Immunosuppression is very intense immediately following transplantation but over the course of the first year diminishes as the allograft loses some of its immunogenicity and the recipient's immune system adapts

to the graft (306). Most acute rejection occurs in the first few months following transplantation and can be reversed by intensifying immunosuppression. Multiple drugs are administered to control transplant rejection and can be divided into immunosuppressive agents that inhibit of inflammation (corticosteroids) and proliferation (azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil), calcineurin inhibitors (Cyclosporine and Tacrolimus), mTOR inhibitors (Sirolimus), and anti-lymphocyte Abs (anti-thymocyte globulin and OKT3) (306).

#### *Corticosteroids*

In 1963, Goodwin et al. demonstrated the effect of corticosteroids on reducing lymphocyte counts and reversing kidney allograft rejection (307). Corticosteroids have a multitude of immunosuppressive effects and can 1) suppress macrophage function and inhibit the release of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6; 2) inhibit T cell proliferation and induce apoptosis; 3) decrease MHC expression; 4) inhibit transmigration of immune cells through blood vessels; 5) inhibit adhesion molecule expression and 6) block the release of cytokines, including GM-CSF, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 (306). Long-term use of corticosteroids can result in opportunistic infection, osteoporosis, diabetes, hypertension, diabetes, impaired healing of wounds, and weight gain (306).

## Azathioprine

The imidazole derivative, Azathioprine (AZA), was first used as a primary immunosuppressive agent to control kidney rejection in 1963 (308). AZA is a purine analogue that has anti-proliferative effects on cells, including T and B cells. AZA is metabolized in the liver into the active drug, 6-mercaptopurine (6-MP) (306). 6-MP is further metabolized into thiolnosinic acid (TIMP). TIMP interferes with the synthesis of

guanylic and adenylic acids from inosinic acid and is incorporated into DNA strands during replication, thereby interfering with DNA synthesis (306). In addition, TIMP acts in a negative feedback loop for *de novo* purine synthesis--a pathway that lymphocytes are dependant on--leading to cell cycle arrest. Major side effects of AZA include bone marrow suppression: leucopenia, thrombocytopenia and anemia (306).

## Mycophenolate mofetil

The active agent of Mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), mycophenolic acid (MPA), was initially isolated in 1896 from a penicillium culture (309). MMF selectively inhibits lymphocyte proliferation by interrupting the *de novo* purine synthesis pathway, which is essential for nucleotide synthesis since lymphocytes lack a purine salvage pathway (306). MPA inhibits inosine monophophate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), which is a critical enzyme in *de novo* purine synthesis, resulting in a guanine nucleotide deficiency. In addition to interfering specifically with lymphocyte DNA replication, MMF suppresses Ab induction, cytotoxic T cell differentiation, and reduces expression of adhesion molecules. Side effects include gastrointestinal disorders (306).

#### **Cyclosporine**

In the early 1970's, Jean Borel screened soil samples from Wisconsin and Norway to identify compounds with anti-microbial or anti-fungal properties (310). The fungus, *Tolypocladium inflatum Gams*, isolated from Norweigan soil, synthesized a compound termed cyclosporine that was identified to be immunosuppressive (310). The active metabolite, Cyclosporin A (CSA), complexes with cyclophilin and this complex binds to and inhibits the Ca2+-dependent serine phosphatase, calcineurin (306, 311). Calcineurin is critical for T cell receptor signaling transduction. CSA inhibits calcineurin-

dependent transcription factors, such as NFAT, which is important in the activation and transcription of many T cell cytokines and co-stimulatory molecules, which include IL-2, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-4, TNF $\alpha$ , G-CSF and CD40L (311). A major side effect associated with CSA is nephrotoxicity (311).

# **Tacrolimus**

Because of CSA's associated nephrotoxicity, Toru Kino tested Japanese soil for a compound more effective than CSA without the toxic side effects (306). A compound isolated from the bacteria, *Streptomyces tsukubaenis*, termed FK506 was found to be 100X as potent as CSA (311). The active agent of Tacrolimus, FK506, binds the cytoplasmic FK-binding protein (FKBP). This complex interacts with calcineurin and mode of action of FK506 is analogous to CSA (306). Treatment of transplant patients with Tacrolimus results in less rejection episodes but increased toxicity compared to CSA. Side effects of Tacrolimus include nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity and diabetes induction (306).

# Sirolimus

Sirolimus, also known as Rapamycin, was isolated from the actinomycete, *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*, found in soil samples from Rapa Nui, Easter Island (312). Similar in structure to FK506, Sirolimus also binds to FK binding protein which complexes with the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTor) (306). Sirolimus is capable of inhibiting T cell proliferation through Ca2+-dependent and independent mechanisms and does not affect calcineurin. Sirolimus suppresses protein synthesis in T cells and inhibits IL-2, IL-4 and IL-6 signaling and CD28-mediated events (306). T and B cell proliferation is blocked because Sirolimus prevents the progression of G1 to S phase of

the cell cycle. Side effects associated with Sirolimus are hyperlipidemia, thrombocytopenia and leucopenia (306).

## Anti-lymphocyte antibodies

In 1960, it was observed that rabbit anti-rat lymphocyte serum prolonged skin graft survival in rats and upon this observation, humanized anti-lymphocyte and antithymocyte globulins were designed (313). These antibodies effectively depleted the patient's lymphoid tissue. OKT3 is a humanized mouse anti-human CD3 mAb that binds to the CD3 $\epsilon$ E chain of the TCR/CD3 complex (311). This Ab removes the TCR from the surface of the T cell through endocytosis or shedding, leaving the T lymphocytes nonfunctional and unable to reject a graft. Additional antibodies, OKT4 and OKT8, bind CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, respectively. Anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG) and antilymphocyte globulin (ALG) deplete circulating lymphocytes (311). A major side effect of these antibodies is cytokine release syndrome (CRS), which commonly occurs an hour post injection. CRS is the result of massive release of TNF and IFN $\gamma$  when T cells undergo OKT3 induced activation. In addition, ATG and ALG initiate xeno-antibody responses, also referred to as "serum sickness." A final side effect is a significant impairment in cell-mediated immunity (313).

## **1.10 Dissertation overview**

The purpose of these studies was to identify the role of TGF $\beta$  in graft-reactive cellular and humoral responses, Treg suppressor function, allograft acceptance and CR. Both TGF $\beta$  dependent and independent pathways to allograft acceptance are demonstrated, and the contribution of TGF $\beta$ -induced IL-17 in CR is investigated. TGF $\beta$ 

neutralization within the allograft addresses local TGF $\beta$  inhibition on fibrosis and alloreactive T and B cell responses.

Chapter 2 describes the materials and methods employed in these studies.

Chapter 3 addresses the requirement for T cell responsiveness to TGF $\beta$  in allograft acceptance, T and B cell hyporesponsiveness, and the development of CR. TGF $\beta$ -induced IL-17 is implicated in graft fibrosis and may represent a therapeutic target for preventing CR.

Chapter 4 assesses the impact of intragraft TGF $\beta$  neutralization on CR, donorreactive T cell responses, and allograft acceptance employing gene transfer of decorin into cardiac allografts.

Chapter 5 summarizes the findings presented herein and suggests additional studies to further elucidate the role of TGF $\beta$  in allograft acceptance and CR.

#### **Chapter 2: Materials and Methods**

## **2.1 Mice**

C57BL/6 CD4-DNR (170), C57BL/6 wild type (WT) and BALB/c mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory. CD4-DNR mice express a dominant-negative form of the human TGF $\beta$  receptor II (TGF $\beta$ RII) under the direction of the mouse CD4 promoter, which lacks a CD8 silencer. TGF $\beta$  signaling is abrogated in both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in these transgenic mice. CD4-DNR were propagated by breeding C57BL/6 WT females with CD4-DNR males. The genotyping of transgene expressing CD4-DNR mice was carried out using the following PCR primers: primer WT forward figure5'CTAGGCCACAGAATTGAAAGATCT-3'; primer WT reverse 5'-TAGGTGGAAATTCTAGCATCATCC-3'; primer CD4-DNR transgene (TG) forward 5'-GCTGCACAT CGTCCTGTG-3'; primer TG reverse 5'-ACT TGACTGCACCGT TGTTG-3'. Primers WT forward and WT reverse were used to detect the internal control, IL-2 (324 bp). Primers TG forward and TG reverse were used to detect the transgenic allele (100 bp). CD4-DNR mice exhibit an autoimmune phenotype and immunopathology with age, resulting in the development of multi-focal inflammation best characterized by inflammatory bowel disease between 3-5 months of age (170). To avoid potential complications of age-related autoimmunity, mice were transplanted at 6 weeks of age and at the termination of each experiment the colons were examined macroscopically and histologicially for autoimmune manifestations. None of

the mice used in this study exhibited an autoimmune phenotype. IL-17-/- mice (101) were generated by Dr. Yoichiro Iwakura and provided by Dr. Weiping Zou in collaboration. All mice were housed under specific pathogen-free conditions in the Unit for Laboratory Animal Medicine at the University of Michigan. These experiments were approved by the University Committee on Use and Care of Animals at the University of Michigan.

# 2.2 Culture medium

Culture medium consisted of the following: RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2% FCS, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomyin, 1.6 mM L-glutamine, 10 mM HEPES buffer (all from Invitrogen), 0.27 mM L-asparagine, 1.4 mM L-arginine HCl, 14 µM folic acid, and 50 µM 2-ME (all from Sigma-Aldrich).

## 2.3 Vascularized cardiac transplantation

CD4-DNR, IL-17-/-, and WT mice were transplanted with intact BALB/c cardiac allografts, as described (314). Briefly, the aorta and pulmonary artery of the donor heart were anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's abdominal aorta and inferior vena cava, respectively. Upon perfusion with the recipient's blood, the transplanted heart resumes contraction. Graft function is monitored by abdominal palpation.

### 2.4 Adenoviral-mediated transduction of cardiac allografts

As described (315, 316), cardiac allografts were transduced by perfusion via the aorta with E1/E3 deleted adenoviral vectors (5 x  $10^8$  pfu) encoding the rat decorin (AdDec) or beta-galactosidase (Ad $\beta$ gal). AdDec was constructed in Dr. Elizabeth Nabel's lab using a cDNA kindly provided by Dr. Wayne Border (196). Following perfusion, grafts were recovered and placed in iced Ringer's for approximately 1 h prior to transplantation. Reporter gene studies with Ad $\beta$ gal have revealed that the distribution
of transgene expression within the cardiac allograft is patchy, and that both cardiac myocytes and cells of the vasculature express the transgene product (315).

# 2.5 In vivo mAb treatment

The hybridoma secreting anti-CD4 (clone GK1.5) was obtained from American Type Culture Collection. The hybridoma secreting anti-CD40L (clone MR1) was provided by Dr. Randy Noelle (Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH). Anti-CD4 and anti-CD40L mAb were purified and resuspended in PBS by Bio X Cell (West Lebanon, NH). Mice received 1 mg i.p. of anti-CD4 mAb on days -1, 0, 7 (232, 295, 296). In recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, CD4+ T cells begin to repopulate the periphery 3-4 weeks post-transplantation (285). Mice received 1 mg of anti-CD40L i.p. days 0, 1, and 2 (232). All doses are relative to day of transplant.

# 2.6 Histology

Allografts were recovered at the times indicated post-transplantation, fixed in formalin, and embedded in paraffin. Sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H & E) to assess myocyte viability (presence of cross striation and myocyte nuclei), and the nature and intensity of graft infiltrating cells.

# 2.7 Recovery of graft infiltrating cells (GIC)

Groups of three transplanted hearts were removed, pooled, minced, and digested with 1 mg/mL collagenase A (Roche) for 30 min at 37°C. Tissue debris were allowed to settle at 1 x g and the suspension containing GIC was harvested by pipette. RBC were lysed by hypotonic shock, GIC were passed though a 30-µm pore size nylon mesh, and viable leukocytes were enumerated by trypan blue exclusion.

#### **2.8 ELISPOT** assays for cytokine-producing cells

ELISPOT assays were performed as previously described (317). Capture and detection antibodies specific for IFNy (R4-6A2, XMG1.2), IL-4 (11B11, BVD6-24G2) and IL-17 (TC11-18H10.1, TC11-8H4.1) were purchased from Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). PVDF-backed microtiter plates (Millipore, Bedford, MA) were coated with unlabeled mAb and blocked with 1% BSA in PBS. Irradiated (1000 rad) donor splenocytes  $(4x10^5)$  and  $1x10^6$  recipient splenocytes were added to the plates. After washing, a 1:1000 dilution of anti-biotin alkaline phosphatase (AP) conjugate (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) was added to IFNy and IL-17 plates, and a 1:2000 dilution of horseradish peroxidase-conjugated streptavidin (SA-HRP; Dako, Carpinteria, CA) was added to IL-4 plates. Plates were washed and spots visualized by addition of nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT; Biorad, Hercules, CA) / 3 bromo-4-chloro-inolyl-phosphate (BCIP; Sigma) to IFNy and IL-17 plates, or 3-amino-9-ethylcarbazole (AEC; Pierce, Rockford, IL) to IL-4 plates. Color development continued until spots were visible and stopped by adding H<sub>2</sub>O. Plates were dried and spots quantified with an Immunospot Series 1 ELISPOT analyzer (Cellular Technology Ltd., Cleveland, OH).

# 2.9 RNA isolation and RT-PCR

Cardiac allografts were homogenized in 1 mL TRIzol® (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and RNA was isolated as per manufacturers protocol. 5 μg of total RNA were reverse transcribed using 10X PCR buffer (Roche), 10 mM dNTPs, Oligo (dt), M-MLV-RT (all from Invitrogen), and RNAsin (Promega). Products were then cleaned with 1:1 phenol/chloroform/isoamyl (25:24:1) and re-precipitated with 7.5 M NH<sub>4</sub>OAC in pure EtOH overnight at -80°C. Real-time PCR was performed on cDNA using a Rotor-Gene 3000 TM (Corbett Life Science, CA). Primer binding to DNA was detected by SYBR Green ITM dye (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). Relative expression of the gene of interest was expressed as the comparative concentration of the gene product to the GAPDH product as calculated by accompanying Rotor-Gene software. Significance was determined with an unpaired Student t-test.

Primer sequences:

IL-17 sense: 5' GGACTCTCCACCGCAATGA IL-17 anti-sense: 5'GACCAGGATCTCTTGCTGGA FoxP3 sense: 5'CCAAGGTGAGCGAGTGTC FoxP3 anti-sense: 5'AAGGCAGAGTCAGGAGAAGT Rat Decorin: 5' AGCATAAATATGTCCAGGTCGTC Rat Decorin anti-sense: 5'GAAGTCTTCCTAGTCTGGTATGAAGG TGFβ sense: 5'CCTGAGTGGCTGTCTTTTGAC TGFβ anti-sense: 5'CCTGTATTCCGTCTCCTTGGT Collagen (pro-collagen 1a) sense: 5' TCCCTACTCAGCCGTCTGTGCC Collagen anti-sense: 5' AGCCCTCGCTTCCGTACTCG GAPDH sense: 5'CTGGTGCTGAGTATGTCGTG GAPDH anti-sense: 5'CAGTCTTCTGAGTGGCAGTG

# 2.10 Donor-reactive Ab determination

As described (285, 296, 318), P815 cells (H-2<sup>d</sup>) were stained for flow cytometric analysis using diluted (1:50) sera obtained from mice as the primary Ab, followed by FITC-conjugated isotype specific anti-mouse IgG, IgG1, or IgG2a secondary antibodies (The Binding Site, San Diego, CA, USA) at a 1:50 dilution. Data are reported as the mean channel fluorescence determined on a Becton Dickinson FACSCaliber (San Jose, CA, USA).

#### 2.11 Immunohistochemistry

To detect IgG deposition within the graft, frozen sections of grafts were fixed in cold acetone and incubated with 1:150 dilution of goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL) followed by AEC staining (285). To detect C3d and C4d deposition (285), sections of paraffin embedded tissue were fixed in methanol. A 1:20 dilution of goat anti-mouse C3d (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) was added followed by secondary detection antibodies added as per R&D System's anti-goat cell and tissue staining kit. Slides were stained with rabbit anti-mouse C4d (kindly provided by Dr. William Baldwin, Cleveland Clinic) at a 1:500 dilution, followed by DAB development using the SuperPicTure<sup>TM</sup> Polymer Detection Kit (Zymed). Specificity of staining was ensured by staining of native hearts.

# 2.12 Morphometric analysis of cardiac allograft fibrosis and hypertrophy

Graft fibrosis was quantified by morphometric analysis of Masson's trichrome stained tissues using iPLab software (Scanalytics Inc., Fairfax, VA) (294). Mean fibrotic areas were calculated from 10 to 12 areas per heart section analyzed at 200X magnification. A minimum of 5 individual hearts were analyzed per group. To quantify cardiomyocyte area as a measure of hypertrophy, digital outlines were drawn around 100 cardiomyocytes from views of H&E stained grafts at 200X magnification. Areas within outlines were quantified using SCION IMAGE Beta 4.0.2 software (Scion Corporation, Frederick, MD) to measure cardiomyocyte cell size (294). Five individual hearts were analyzed per group.

# 2.13 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed with GraphPad Prism 4.0c software using unpaired Student ttests. p values of  $\leq 0.05$  were considered statistically significant.

# Chapter 3: Role of T cell Transforming Growth Factor β Signaling and IL-17 in Allograft Acceptance and Fibrosis Associated with Chronic Rejection

# **3.1 Abstract**

CR is the main barrier to long-term transplant survival. CR is a progressive disease defined by interstitial fibrosis, vascular neointimal development, and graft dysfunction. The underlying mechanisms responsible for CR remain poorly defined. TGF $\beta$  has been implicated in promoting fibrotic diseases including CR, but is beneficial in the transplant setting due to its immunosuppressive activities. To assess the requirement for T cell TGFβ signaling in allograft acceptance and the progression of CR, we used mice with abrogated T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling as allograft recipients. We compared responses from recipients that were transiently depleted of CD4+ cells (that develop CR and express intragraft TGF $\beta$ ) to responses from mice that received anti-CD40L mAb therapy (that do not develop CR and do not express intragraft TGFβ). Allograft acceptance and suppression of graft-reactive T and B cells were independent of T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling in mice treated with anti-CD40L mAb. In recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling was required for the development of fibrosis associated with CR, long-term graft acceptance, and suppression of graft-reactive T and B cell responses. Further, IL-17 was identified as a critical element in TGF $\beta$  driven allograft fibrosis. Thus, IL-17 may provide a therapeutic target for preventing graft fibrosis, a measure of CR, while sparing the immunosuppressive activities of TGFβ.

# **3.2 Introduction**

With the advent of immunosuppressive therapies, a decline in graft loss due to acute rejection has established chronic allograft rejection (CR) as the leading cause of late graft failure (319). CR is an irreversible disease characterized by deteriorating graft function, interstitial fibrosis, and occlusive neointima (26, 223, 320, 321). Despite continued investigation, the underlying mechanisms responsible for these disease manifestations remain poorly defined and no therapies exist to prevent or treat CR except re-transplantation (322).

The immune system evolved to combat pathogens while maintaining tolerance to self, and TGF $\beta$  plays a pivotal role in regulating immune responses (164). The importance of TGF $\beta$  in immune regulation is underscored by the severe autoimmunity observed in knockout mice that lack TGF $\beta$  or are unable to signal through the TGF $\beta$  receptor (169, 170). TGF $\beta$  controls T cell mediated self-reactivity by regulating lymphocyte proliferation and survival, inhibiting Th1/Th2-cell differentiation, and dampening effector function (reviewed in (178)). TGF $\beta$  signaling in B cells inhibits proliferation and survival, prevents activation, and inhibits IgG class switching (178). TGF $\beta$  is also critical in both the development and function of T regulatory cells (Treg) (172, 173, 178, 323). TGF $\beta$  signaling in Treg is essential for peripheral maintenance of this cell subset (164, 324) and for the induction of FoxP3 expression and Treg function in CD4+CD25-T cells (325).

In addition to TGF $\beta$ 's anti-inflammatory activities, TGF $\beta$  also mediates proinflammatory as well as pro-fibrotic activities. A reciprocal developmental pathway exists for the generation of pathogenic effector Th17 and Treg (93, 94, 326). TGF $\beta$  in

association with IL-6 or IL-21 favors the commitment of CD4+ T cells to the Th17 lineage (93, 94, 327-330). IL-17 stimulates stromal cells, such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and epithelial cells to produce IL-6, IL-8, granulocyte CSF (G-CSF), and PGE2 and up-regulates critical chemoattractants, such as CXCL1 and CXCL2 (91, 97, 98). IL-17 serves to amplify the inflammatory responses and has also recently been implicated as a pro-fibrotic cytokine (92, 231, 331-336).

A critical role for TGF $\beta$  in transplant acceptance has been described (337, 338), and early studies revealed the importance of TGF $\beta$  in donor-specific transfusions and allograft acceptance (339). Subsequent studies investigating skin allograft acceptance have also identified TGF $\beta$  as a protective factor against allograft rejection (299, 340). Further, transduction of cardiac allografts with active TGF $\beta$  prolongs graft survival (316) and is associated with the induction of graft-reactive Treg (235).

While TGF $\beta$  mediates many beneficial anti-inflammatory activities in the immune system (164), we have previously reported an association between TGF $\beta$  and fibrosis associated with CR using the mouse vascularized cardiac allograft model (232). Intragraft transcript levels of TGF $\beta$  were readily detectable in the CR grafts from recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, but not in the grafts of anti-CD40L treated recipients, which remain free of CR (232). Allograft transduction with active TGF $\beta$ resulted in CR in anti-CD40L treated recipients that do not normally exhibit CR, but was not observed in TGF $\beta$  transduced syngeneic grafts. This supported a critical role for TGF $\beta$  and alloantigen in the progression of CR. In this study, we sought to determine the role of TGF $\beta$  signaling on alloreactive effector cells, Treg function, and IL-17 induction by using T cell-specific dominant negative TGF $\beta$  receptor type II (CD4-DNR) (170) and

IL-17 deficient (IL-17-/-) mice (101) as transplant recipients. Further, we identify both TGF $\beta$  dependent and independent pathways to allograft acceptance.

# **3.3 Results**

# Experimental system

In the mouse cardiac allograft model, prolonged allograft survival can be achieved by transiently depleting recipients of CD4+ cells or by disrupting CD40-CD40L interactions. However, these two inductive therapies differ with respect to the development of CR. Allografts in mice treated with anti-CD40L mAb remain free of CR, while grafts in mice transiently depleted of CD4+ cells develop CR, which is associated with intragraft expression of TGF $\beta$  (232). While graft-reactive T cells remain in a hyporesponsive state in both settings, recall responses of cells from these groups differ in that dominant Th2 responses are mounted by mice that are depleted of CD4+ cells, while Th1 responses are mounted by recipients given anti-CD40L mAb therapy (297). The current study assessed the requirement for TGF $\beta$  signaling in T cells for allograft acceptance, graft-reactive T and B cell hyporesponsiveness, and graft fibrosis as a paramater of CR.

# *Effect of T cell TGF signaling on transplant acceptance*

TGF $\beta$  mediates beneficial immunosuppressive activities in the transplant setting (337-339). To assess the requirement for T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling in allograft acceptance and the progression of graft fibrosis associated with CR, we used CD4-DNR mice with abrogated T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling (170) as allograft recipients. CD4-DNR mice express a dominant-negative form of the human TGF $\beta$ RII under the direction of the mouse CD4 promoter, which lacks a CD8 silencer. Hence, TGF $\beta$  signaling is abrogated in both CD4+

and CD8+ T cells in these transgenic mice. To rule out allo-antigen independent cellular infiltration and tissue damage in CD4-DNR recipients, both WT and CD4-DNR mice were transplanted with syngeneic grafts. Grafts from both groups functioned until the experiment was terminated on day 50 post-transplant (Figure 6A). Histologically, sygeneic grafts from both groups were free of infiltrate, exhibited minimal fibrosis, normal arteries and viable myocytes (data not shown). Similar observations were made in CD4-DNR recipients of syngeneic grafts treated with inductive CD4+ T cell depletion (data not shown). The results indicate that there were no differences in graft survival or histology between the WT and CD4-DNR recipients of syngeneic grafts ruling out nonantigen specific inflammatory responses in graft loss in CD4-DNR mice.



**Figure 6:** TGFβ dependent and independent mechanisms of allograft acceptance. WT (squares and triangles) and CD4-DNR (circles and diamonds) mice were transplanted with allogeneic or syngeneic cardiac allografts and were either left untreated (**A**), given inductive anti-CD40L mAb (**B**), or transiently depleted of CD4+ cells (**C**). Graft function was monitored by palpation and recipients were recovered either at the time of rejection or 50 days post-transplant. (**D**) Flow cytometric analysis of CD4+ splenocytes that were harvested from WT or CD4-DNR on day 20 and day 40 post-transplant. Allograft recipients were treated inductively with anti-CD4 mAb.

Due to the immunosuppressive activities of TGF $\beta$ , we predicted that CD4-DNR recipients would mount exacerbated rejection responses when compared to WT mice. Allografts in both WT and CD4-DNR recipients were acutely rejected by day 9 post-transplant (Figure 6A) and histological examination revealed evidence of rejection (data not shown). While the tempo of rejection was not different between these two groups, a more intense infiltration of the grafts was observed in CD4-DNR recipients (total number of GICs per graft: WT = 0.33 x 10<sup>6</sup> +/- 0.01; CD4-DNR = 1.4 x 10<sup>6</sup> +/- 0.23 (*p*<0.01)) indicating that T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling dampens cell proliferation and/or cellular infiltration in unmodified recipients.

Treatment of both WT and CD4-DNR recipients with inductive anti-CD40L mAb resulted in long-term graft survival (Figure 6B), demonstrating that allograft acceptance following anti-CD40L therapy is independent of TGF $\beta$  signaling in T cells. WT allograft recipients treated with inductive CD4+ T cell depletion also exhibited long-term graft survival (Figure 6C). In contrast, 90% of the allografts from CD4-DNR mice transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells were rejected by day 40 post-transplantation (Figure 6C). The majority of the allografts were rejected between days 35-40, correlating with CD4+ T cell repopulation of the periphery (285, 296). A greater percentage of CD4+ T cells were present in the spleens of CD4-DNR recipients compared to WT suggesting that TGF $\beta$  signaling controls CD4+ T cell proliferation in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells were continuously depleted by weekly injections of anti-CD4 mAb (Figure 6C). These results indicate that T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling is essential for allograft acceptance in

recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells and that repopulation of CD4+ cells is required for rejection in CD4-DNR mice.

### *TGF*β regulation of donor-reactive Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses

T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling inhibits differentiation of Th1 and Th2 cells through the suppression of T-bet/STAT4 and GATA3/NFAT (164, 178). To determine if T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling regulates donor-reactive cellular immune responses, we employed ELISPOT to quantify the number of *in vivo* primed donor-reactive Th1 (IFN $\gamma$ ), Th2 (IL-4) and Th17 (IL-17) responses (Figure 7). Elevated donor-reactive Th1 responses were observed in unmodified WT and CD4-DNR recipients indicating acute rejection is associated with a dominant Th1 response (Figure 7A). While abrogation of TGF $\beta$  signaling in recipients did not result in elevated Th1 responses compared to WT recipients, CD4-DNR recipients did exhibit enhanced IL-4 priming in response to donor antigen. However, this was not statistically significant. Donor-reactive Th17 responses were negligible in both WT and CD4-DNR recipients.

Donor-reactive Th responses were not observed in either WT or CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-CD40L (Figure 7B). These findings indicate that T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling is not required for the suppression of donor-reactive responses (341) and is dispensable for allograft acceptance following anti-CD40L mAb treatment.

As previously reported (295-297), donor-reactive Th1 and Th2 responses are suppressed in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Consistent with these findings, inductive anti-CD4 mAb therapy resulted in hyporesponsiveness in WT recipients compared to unmodified recipients (Figure 7A and 7C). In contrast, elevated



**Figure 7: Donor-reactive Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses in WT and CD4-DNR recipients.** WT (open bars) or CD4-DNR (shaded bars) allograft recipients were left untreated (**A**), treated with inductive anti-CD40L mAb (**B**), or treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb (**C**). Graft function was monitored by palpation and recipients were recovered either at the time of rejection, 50 days post-transplant (for anti-CD40L mAb treated WT and CD4-DNR recipients), or 40 days post-transplant (for anti-CD4 mAb treated WT recipients in order to directly compare to CD4-DNR recipients, which reject between days 35-40). At the termination of the experiment, splenocytes were harvested and processed for ELISPOT assays to quantify primed, donor-reactive IFNγ, IL-4, or IL-17-producing cells. Bars represent the mean number of cytokine producing cells (+/-S.E.M.) from at least six recipients per group.

donor-reactive Th1 and Th2 responses were detected in the CD4-DNR recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells (Figure 7C). These data indicate that TGF $\beta$  plays a pivotal role in suppressing immune responses and in maintaining allograft acceptance in recipients initially depleted of CD4+ T cells.

# Cardiac fibrosis is reduced in mice with abrogated T cell TGF<sup>β</sup> signaling

TGFβ has been strongly implicated in many fibrotic diseases (231, 342), including CR (233, 320, 321, 343). To investigate the relationship between T cell TGFβ signaling and the development of graft fibrosis as a measure of CR, quantitative morphometric trichrome analysis was employed to evaluate allograft fibrosis in WT and CD4-DNR recipients treated with inductive anti-CD40L or anti-CD4 mAb. Allografts from WT and CD4-DNR recipients treated with inductive anti-CD40L mAb revealed minimal fibrosis (Figure 8A and 8B). Allografts from WT recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells revealed significant fibrosis compared to allografts from CD4-DNR



**Figure 8:** Allograft fibrosis in WT versus CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb. (A) Sections of grafts from recipients treated with inductive anti-CD40L (day 50 post-transplant) or anti-CD4 mAb (between days 35-40 post-transplant due to rejection in CD4-DNR recipients) were stained with Masson's trichrome, which stains fibrotic tissue blue. Frames are of grafts from WT and CD4-DNR recipients and are representative of at least 6 anti-CD40L mAb treated mice and 6-8 anti-CD4-treated mice. 200X magnification. (B) Quantification of mean fibrotic area by morphometric analysis in anti-CD40L and (C) anti-CD4 mAb treated WT and CD4-DNR recipients. Bars represent the average percentage (+/- S.E.M.) of graft area positive for fibrosis in 5 anti-CD40L treated recipients and 6 anti-CD4 treated recipients. WT (open bars) and CD4-DNR (shaded bars).

recipients (Figure 8A and 8C). These findings indicate that in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ cells, allograft fibrosis is dependent on T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling.

# Donor-reactive IgG production in WT and CD4-DNR recipients

Since donor-reactive antibodies have been implicated in both acute and chronic rejection (344, 345), we analyzed WT and CD4-DNR recipients for donor-reactive IgG antibodies (Figure 9). At the time of rejection, both WT and CD4-DNR unmodified



**Figure 9:** Effect of TGF $\beta$  unresponsiveness on donor-reactive alloantibody levels. Sera were obtained from WT (open bars) or CD4-DNR (shaded bars) allograft recipients that were left untreated (**A**), treated with inductive anti-CD40L mAb (**B**), or treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb (**C**). Sera were obtained at the time of rejection for unmodified recipients), 50 days post-transplant (for anti-CD40L mAb treated WT and CD4-DNR recipients), or 40 days post-transplant (for anti-CD4 mAb treated WT recipients). P815 (H-2<sup>d</sup>) cells were incubated with 1:50 dilution of sera and bound donor-reactive Ab were detected by incubation with FITC-tagged anti-IgG, anti-IgG1 or anti-IgG2a Abs. The mean channel fluorescence is indicative of the relative amount of donor-reactive antibodies. Bars represent the average mean channel fluorescence of at least 6 WT and 6 CD4-DNR recipient samples (+/- S.E.M.). IgG1 and IgG2a donor-reactive Ab levels were analyzed in anti-CD4 mAb treated WT and CD4-DNR recipients (**D**).

recipients exhibited comparable donor-reactive IgG production (Figure 9A). These results indicate that TGF $\beta$  signaling does not overtly influence IgG alloantibody production in unmodified recipients. It is well established that CD40-CD40L interactions are critical for Ab isotype switch (346). Consistent with these findings, both WT and CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb did not generate donor-reactive IgG production compared to unmodified recipients (Figure 9B). Hence, CD40-CD40L interactions are required for IgG isotype switching in the presence or absence of TGF $\beta$  signaling in T cells.

CD4-DNR recipients inductively depleted of CD4+ T cells produced significantly elevated levels of donor-reactive IgG compared to WT controls (Figure 9C). To further characterize the donor-reactive Ab production in these recipients, both Th1- and Th2- dependent IgG2a and IgG1 isotypes were measured (347). Consistent with an increase in total IgG level, the CD4-DNR recipients exhibited significantly elevated levels of both IgG1 and IgG2a alloAb production compared to WT recipients (Figure 9D). Collectively, these findings demonstrate that in the absence of TGF $\beta$  signaling, T cells acquire effector functions, secrete both Th1 and Th2 cytokines, and provide help for alloreactive B cells in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells.

### Evidence of Ab-mediated rejection in CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb

The diagnostic criteria for Ab-mediated rejection include histologic evidence of acute tissue injury, serologic evidence of circulating donor-reactive antibodies, and the deposition of complement C3d and C4d within allografts (reviewed in (77, 219, 344)). Hence, we investigated the deposition of IgG and C3d and C4d within the grafts from WT and CD4-DNR recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells (Figure 10). Intense



**Figure 10: IgG, C3d and C4d deposition in allografts of WT and CD4-DNR recipients.** WT (left column) or CD4-DNR (right column) allograft recipients were treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb therapy. Grafts were recovered at either the time of rejection or 40 days after transplantation. Graft sections were fixed and incubated with goat anti-mouse IgG (A) or the goat anti-mouse C3d or C4d (B) followed by development with 3-amino-9-ethylcarbazole or DAB to visualize mouse Ab and complement deposition. Results are representative of grafts from 6-10 recipients. Magnification, 400X (A) and 200X (B).

IgG staining was localized mainly to the capillaries and arteries of allografts from CD4-DNR recipients, while allografts from WT recipients were free of IgG deposition (Figure 10A). Further, both C3d and C4d were deposited within the vasculature structures of allografts from CD4-DNR recipients, but were not present in control allografts (Figure 10B). These data indicate that in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, antibody mediated rejection of allografts occurs when T cells are unresponsive to TGFβ.

# Anti-CD4 treated CD4-DNR recipients exhibit reduced intragraft FoxP3 and IL-17 levels compared to WT controls

TGF $\beta$  induces expression of FoxP3 (348), leading to the differentiation of CD4+CD25+

Treg cells from CD4+CD25- T cells (138, 325, 349). However, a dichotomy exists in which TGF $\beta$  in the context of IL-6 or IL-21 promotes pathogenic Th17 cell development (93, 94, 326-329). To investigate the role of TGF $\beta$  signaling in Treg and Th17 induction and the contribution of these subsets in CR, we assessed intragraft FoxP3 and IL-17 transcript levels from WT and CD4-DNR recipients inductively depleted of CD4+ T cells



Figure 11: Reduction of TGFβ-dependent intragraft gene expression from recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells.

RNA was harvested from allografts of WT and CD4-DNR recipient transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Intragraft transcript levels of FoxP3 and IL-17 were assessed by real-time RT-PCR. Allografts were recovered between days 35-40 post-transplant. Bars depict the means of RNA expression from 6 WT and 9 CD4-DNR grafts.

and showed that allografts from the CD4-DNR recipients exhibited significantly reduced intragraft FoxP3 gene expression compared to WT (Figure 11). This may indicate a failure to induce Treg from naïve CD4+ T cells in the absence of T cell TGFβ signaling, poor maintenance of peripheral Treg, and/or reduced Treg trafficking into the graft (reviewed in (298)). In addition, intragraft IL-17 was detected in allografts from WT but not CD4-DNR recipients (Figure 11). IL-17 was not detected by ELISPOT in the spleens of the WT mice (Figure 7), which may suggest a compartmentalized immune response against donor antigen. Indeed, similar polarization of Th17 responses solely within target tissue has been observed in murine models of allergic lung disease and hypersentitivity pneumonitis and lung fibrosis (336, 350). IL-17 is best recognized as a cytokine that mobilizes neutrophils and coordinates local tissue inflammation through the induction of various pro-inflammatory cytokines (91, 97). Numerous recent reports implicate IL-17 as a pro-fibrotic cytokine in the context of T cell dependent fibrosis (92, 331-336, 351), capable of inducing fibroblast proliferation and collagen deposition in cardiac tissue (92). Our observation that allografts from CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-CD4

exhibited minimal fibrosis (Figure 8) led us to hypothesize that IL-17 plays a pro-fibrotic role in CR.

### Allograft fibrosis is reduced in anti-CD4 mAb treated IL-17-/- recipients

To investigate the role of IL-17 production in fibrosis associated with CR, IL-17 -/- mice (101) were used as transplant recipients. Both WT and IL-17-/- allograft recipients treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb therapy exhibited long-term graft survival, while unmodified recipients rejected their grafts by day 9 post-transplant (Figure 12A). In IL-17-/- recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, fibrosis was markedly reduced relative to WT counterparts (Figure 12B and 12C). This reduction of allograft fibrosis in IL-17-/- recipients implicates IL-17 as a cytokine responsible for TGFβ-mediated fibrosis and CR.

To investigate the effect of IL-17 deficiency on intragraft gene expression, we assessed both IL-17 and FoxP3 transcript levels from WT and IL-17-/- recipients that were transiently depleted of CD4+ t cells. Allografts from IL-17-/- recipients exhibited comparable FoxP3 gene expression to WT counterparts, while IL-17 transcripts were not detected in the IL-17-/- recipients (Figure 12D). These results suggest that reduced fibrosis in IL-17-/- recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells is not a result of enhanced Treg number as assessed by intragraft FoxP3 transcript levels.



**Figure 12: In recipients that fail to produce IL-17, allografts are protected from fibrosis.** WT (squares) and IL-17-/- (circles) mice were transplanted with BALB/c cardiac allografts and were either left untreated (closed symbols) or transiently depleted of CD4+ cells (open symbols). Graft function was monitored by palpation. Unmodified recipients were recovered at the time of rejection, while inductive anti-CD4 mAb treated recipients were harvested at day 50 post-transplantation. Numbers in parentheses represent the number of recipients in each group (A). Sections of grafts from recipients treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb therapy (day 50 post-transplant) were stained with Masson's trichrome stain. Frames are of grafts from WT and IL-17-/- recipients and are representative of at least 6 WT and 9 IL-17-/- recipient allografts. 200X magnification (**B**). Quantification of fibrosis by morphometric analysis. Bars represent the average percentage (+/- S.E.M.) of graft area positive for fibrosis in at least 5 WT and IL-17-/- recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb. WT (open bars) and IL-17-/- (closed bars) (**C**). On day 50 post-transplant, RNA was harvested from allografts of WT and IL-17-/- recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Intragraft transcript levels of FoxP3 and IL-17-/- grafts (**D**).

# **3.4 Discussion**

We have previously reported an association between TGF $\beta$  and graft fibrosis associated with CR using the mouse vascularized cardiac model (232). Intragraft transcript levels of TGF $\beta$  are readily detectable in the CR grafts from recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, but not in the grafts of anti-CD40L treated recipients, which remain free of CR. In the current study, we used inductive anti-CD4 or anti-CD40L mAb therapy and CD4-DNR recipients to evaluate the role of T cell TGF $\beta$ signaling in graft acceptance and the progression of fibrosis associated with CR. Collectively, our data suggests that in WT allograft recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ cells, allograft acceptance, T and B cell hyporesponsiveness, and fibrosis of the graft are dependent on TGF $\beta$  signaling in T cells. We further demonstrate that IL-17 is involved in the development of graft fibrosis in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells.

T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling is not required for long term allograft acceptance following anti-CD40L therapy (Figure 6). It is not fully understood how blockade of CD40L results in allograft acceptance, but a number of mechanisms, including donor-reactive T cell anergy and/or deletion, and the induction of Treg have been proposed (298, 305). We have reported that anti-CD40L mAb therapy allows for a transient appearance of primed donor-reactive cells (297). Hence, it is possible that these primed T cells express CD40L, which targets these cells for deletion and/or silencing by anti-CD40L mAb therapy. Our study demonstrates that these processes do not require T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling.

In recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, our findings support a TGFβdependent mechanism of graft acceptance. Inductive anti-CD4 mAb treatment of recipients results in transient depletion of CD4+ T cells at the time of transplant (285, 295, 296). CD4+ T cells begin to repopulate the periphery 3-4 weeks posttransplantation. As CD4+ T cells return, donor-reactive T cells are functionally distinct from naïve cells in that these repopulating CD4+ are hyporesponsive toward the graft but

mount Th2 recall responses (297). This altered functional T cell capacity is associated with intragraft expression of TGF $\beta$ . Inductive anti-CD4 mAb treatment of CD4-DNR recipients results in allograft rejection between day 35-40 post-transplantation (Figure 6). Th1 and Th2 were maintained in a quiescent state in WT recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ cells (Figure 7). In contrast, CD4-DNR recipients treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb mount donor-reactive Th1 and Th2 responses, revealing that the induction of hyporesponsiveness requires that T cells be responsive to TGF $\beta$  (Figure 7). Repopulation of CD4+ T cells in the periphery is required for rejection in that CD4-DNR transplant recipients that are continuously depleted of CD4+ T cells did not reject their grafts (Figure 6) and did not mount Th1 and Th2 responses (data not shown). These observations support an essential role for TGF $\beta$  in cellular hyporesponsiveness and allograft acceptance in recipients inductively depleted of CD4+ T cells.

In the absence of TGF $\beta$  signaling, T cells differentiate into effector cells, secrete cytokines and provide help to B cells in CD4-DNR recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ cells. CD4-DNR recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ cells mounted significantly elevated donor-reactive alloantibody levels of both Th2 induced non-complement fixing, IgG1, and Th1 induced complement fixing, IgG2a, compared to wild type controls (Figure 9) (352). Both subclassses have been documented to synergize to cause rejection of cardiac allografts (352). IgG and complement split product C3d and C4d capillary deposition in both human and mouse myocardium is significantly associated with graft loss (353) and these products were detected in the vessels and surrounding the cardiac myocytes in the CD4-DNR recipient allografts that were rejected (Figure 10). Hence, T cells, which are unable to respond to TGF $\beta$  mount cellular

responses and provide help to activate alloreactive B cells in recipients inductively depleted of CD4+ T cells.

Donor-specific hyporesponsiveness is observed in both human and mouse transplant recipients that exhibit prolonged allograft acceptance (138, 270, 354). In many of these studies, allograft acceptance is strongly associated with Treg infiltration into the graft as detected by high FoxP3 transcript levels (138, 154, 270, 354). Treg are believed to play a critical role within allografts by inhibiting alloreactive T cell responses (270). Studies in skin allograft models reveal Treg enrichment in accepted grafts (355) is dependent on TGF $\beta$  and that this cytokine is important for long-term acceptance (138, 299). Consistent with these observations, inductive anti-CD4 mAb treatment of WT recipients exhibit enhanced intragraft FoxP3 transcript levels compared to CD4-DNR (Figure 11). In CD4-DNR recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, reduced FoxP3 expression may indicate impaired maintenance of peripheral Treg, reduced Treg localization within the graft, or a failure in Treg induction (reviewed in (298)). Donorreactive Th responses observed in CD4-DNR recipients may result from decreased induction of Treg and/or the failure of Treg to control effector cells in the absence of TGF $\beta$  signaling (356). Our data suggest an active regulatory mechanism in which Treg migration into the grafts (Figure 11) and inhibition of alloreactive responses (Figure 7) require T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling.

While functional T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling prevented allograft rejection in recipients inductively depleted of CD4+ T cells, it promoted fibrosis associated with CR (Figure 8). In contrast, T cell unresponsiveness to TGF $\beta$  resulted in minimal fibrosis of grafts (Figure 8). It has been reported that sustained production of TGF $\beta$  in tissues is a main

contributor to the development of fibrosis (233, 357), but we have observed that gene transfer of TGF $\beta$  in syngeneic grafts fail to develop CR (232). Fibrosis was observed only in allografts that adenovirally expressed TGF $\beta$  and were transplanted into anti-CD40L recipients (232). This indicates that TGF $\beta$  alone is insufficient to induce fibrosis of the graft, and that alloantigen and elements of the immune system are required for fibrosis induction.

As T cells infiltrate the allograft and respond to TGF $\beta$ , they secrete multiple cytokines, which may influence the local environment to become pro-fibrotic. One TGF $\beta$ -induced cytokine that could potentially mediate fibrosis in this setting is IL-17 (92, 331). IL-17 is important in coordinating local tissue inflammation through the induction of various pro-inflammatory cytokines (91, 97). IL-17 has also been implicated as a contributor to fibrosis in a number of diseases (231, 332-334, 336). Allografts from IL-17-/- recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells showed a significant reduction in fibrosis relative to their WT counterparts (Figure 12). These findings are consistent with TGF $\beta$  induced IL-17 promoting interstitial fibrosis in CR allografts.

IL-17 may induce collagen deposition within CR allografts through multiple mechanisms. IL-17 upregulates collagen gene expression in primary mouse cardiac fibroblasts (92). Indirectly, IL-17 induces the production of IL-6 (91, 97), which enhances the accumulation of collagen (358-360). IL-17 may also play a role in fibrosis by acting as a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine that induces endothelial cells and fibroblasts to secrete additional pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (91, 97). These factors may enhance the recruitment of APC and alloreactive T cells into the graft

resulting in myocardial damage and extracellular matrix remodeling that favors fibrosis (321).

In summary, TGF $\beta$  is critical for the induction of fibrosis in this model of CR and in a number of fibrotic diseases, including diabetic nephropathy, rheumatoid arthritis, myocarditis, Crohn's disease and radiation-induced fibrosis (reviewed in (231)). As in most immune-mediated diseases, TGF $\beta$  can have both exacerbating and ameliorating actions making global inhibition of TGF $\beta$  unacceptable and local targeting of TGF $\beta$  or its downstream mediators an attractive therapy. This is evident in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ cells in which T cell responsiveness to TGF $\beta$  is critical in maintaining alloreactive T cells in a hyporesponsive state. Our findings that TGF $\beta$  in CR grafts correlates with localized Th17 induction supports findings in other chronic inflammatory diseases (231) and provides a therapeutic target for preventing CR, while sparing the immunosuppressive activities of TGF $\beta$ .

# Chapter 4: Transforming Growth Factor β Neutralization within Cardiac Allografts by Decorin Gene Transfer Attenuates Chronic Rejection

# 4.1 Abstract

CR is the leading cause of late graft failure following organ transplantation. CR is a progressive disease, characterized by deteriorating graft function, interstitial fibrosis, cardiac hypertrophy and occlusive neointima development. TGF $\beta$  known for its immunosuppressive qualities, plays a beneficial role in the transplant setting by maintaining alloreactive T cells in a hyporesponsive state, but has also been implicated in promoting graft fibrosis and CR. In the mouse vascularized cardiac allograft model, transient depletion of CD4+ cells promotes graft survival but leads to CR, which is associated with intragraft TGF<sup>β</sup> expression. Decorin, an extracellular matrix protein, inhibits both TGF<sup>β</sup> bioactivity and gene expression. In this study, gene transfer of decorin into cardiac allografts was employed to assess the impact of intragraft TGF<sup>β</sup> neutralization on CR, systemic donor-reactive T cell responses, and allograft acceptance. Decorin gene transfer and neutralization of TGF<sup>β</sup> in cardiac allografts significantly attenuated interstitial fibrosis, cardiac hypertrophy and improved graft function, but did not result in systemic donor-reactive T cell responses. Thus, donor-reactive T and B cells remained in a hyporesponsive state. These findings indicate that neutralizing intragraft TGF $\beta$  inhibits the cytokine's fibrotic activities, but does not reverse its beneficial systemic immunosuppressive qualities.

# Introduction

The accepted treatment for end-stage heart failure failure is transplantation (239). Immunosuppressive therapies diminish the incidence of graft loss due to acute graft rejection, leaving chronic rejection (CR) as the main impediment to long-term transplant survival (361). CR in cardiac allografts is characterized by interstitial fibrosis, vascular occlusion, cardiac hypertrophy and progressive dysfunction of the graft (224, 228, 321). The cellular mechanisms and cascade of events that lead to CR remains poorly defined and no effective therapies exist except retransplantation.

Transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) is a widely expressed cytokine that exerts pleiotropic effects on cell proliferation, migration, differentiation and survival (reviewed in (164)). TGF $\beta$  contributes to multiple biological processes, including tumorigenesis, development, wound healing, fibrosis and suppression of immune responses (164). The importance of TGF $\beta$  as an immune regulator was demonstrated in TGF $\beta$  deficient mice, which manifest a severe autoimmune phenotype that results in death at 3-4 weeks of age (169, 362). TGF $\beta$  controls T cell proliferation and survival and acts to inhibit Th1/Th2 differentiation and effector function (164, 178). B cells respond to TGF $\beta$  with decreased proliferation, survival and activation (363). TGF $\beta$  is also a critical cytokine in T regulatory cell (Treg) development and function (172, 173, 178). The Treg lineagespecific transcription factor, FoxP3, is induced by TGF $\beta$ , and results in the conversion of CD4+CD25- T cells into Treg (113). Furthermore, TGF $\beta$  signaling in Treg is essential for peripheral maintenance of this cell subset (164, 324).

TGF $\beta$  also contributes to wound healing and tissue repair (342). During normal wound healing, transient upregulation of TGF $\beta$  stimulates the production of factors that

act in concert to increase extra-cellular matrix (ECM) deposition, decrease matrix degradation, and restore normal tissue composition (357). While TGF $\beta$  is critical in wound healing and tissue repair, enhanced and prolonged TGF $\beta$  production is detrimental and observed in a number of fibrotic diseases, including pulmonary fibrosis (364), glomerulonephrtitis (365), scleroderma (366), and CR (232, 233).

Decorin, an ECM protein and member of the small leucine rich proteoglycan family, plays a role in TGF $\beta$  regulation (194). The core protein of decorin binds the active form of TGF $\beta$ , thereby inhibiting TGF $\beta$ 's interaction with its receptor and sequestering the cytokine to the ECM (188, 193). In addition to inhibiting TGF $\beta$ 's bioactivity, decorin negatively impacts TGF $\beta$  gene expression (195, 196). Decorin gene transfer ameliorated TGF $\beta$ -mediated fibrosis in a glomerulonephritis model (196) and in a pulmonary fibrosis model (367).

TGF $\beta$  mediates many beneficial anti-inflammatory effects in the transplant setting (299, 339) and we have previously reported an association with TGF $\beta$  and CR using the mouse vascularized cardiac allograft model (232). Intragraft TGF $\beta$  levels are readily detectable in the CR grafts from recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, but not in the grafts of anti-CD40L treated recipients, which remain free of CR. Adenoviral-mediated gene transfer of the active form of TGF $\beta$  into allografts induces fibrosis and results in CR in recipients treated with anti-CD40L that do not normally exhibit CR (232). This supports a critical role for TGF $\beta$  in the progression of CR.

In recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, CD4+ T cells begin to repopulate the periphery 3-4 weeks post-transplantation (285, 295, 296). Donor-reactive T cells in these animals are functionally distinct from naïve cells in that repopulating

CD4+ are hyporesponsive toward the graft but mount Th2 recall responses (297). The importance of TGF $\beta$  in allograft acceptance and suppression of graft-reactive T and B cells was revealed in transplant experiments employing mice with a dominant negative TGF $\beta$ RII transgene (CD4-DNR) (Faust et al., submitted), which render the animals unresponsive to T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling (170). Transient CD4+ T cell depletion of CD4-DNR recipients resulted in both alloreactive cellular and humoral responses, which remained hyporesponsive in wild type (WT) recipients indicating that TGF $\beta$  is critical to suppression of T and B cell responses in this system. Graft rejection in these recipients correlated with CD4+ T cell repopulation of the periphery (Faust et al., submitted). These studies revealed that anti-CD4 mAb treatment is a TGF $\beta$  dependent model of allograft acceptance and that IL-17 is a critical element in TGF $\beta$  driven fibrosis (Faust et al., submitted).

In this study, we employed decorin gene transfer into cardiac allografts to assess the impact of intragraft TGF $\beta$  neutralization on CR, graft function, donor-reactive T and B cell responses, and allograft acceptance. We demonstrate that neutralizing intragraft TGF $\beta$  inhibits the cytokine's fibrotic activities, but does not reverse its beneficial systemic immunosuppressive qualities.

### Results

# Rationale

Prolonged allograft survival can be accomplished in the mouse cardiac allograft model by depleting CD4+ T cells transiently at the time of transplant. However, allografts in anti-CD4 mAb treated recipients develop interstitial fibrosis and CR, which

is associated with intragraft TGF $\beta$  expression (232). TGF $\beta$  is beneficial in the transplant setting, and has been associated with the progression of donor-reactive T and B cells to a hyporesponsive state in recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb ((297), Faust et al., submitted). Conversely, T cell responsiveness to TGF $\beta$  can be deleterious for the graft by inducing fibrosis (Faust et al., submitted). Therefore, we explored the impact of local TGF $\beta$  neutralization employing decorin gene transfer into the allografts. We assessed the impact of intragraft TGF $\beta$  neutralization on allograft acceptance, graft function, T and B cell hyporesponsiveness and CR.

# Decorin gene transfer into cardiac allografts

Prior studies utilizing adenoviral transduction of allografts revealed long-term transgene expression and negligible off-target tissue effects (315). To evaluate efficacy of decorin gene transfer, allografts were transduced with adenoviral vectors that encode rat decorin (AdDec) or βgal (Adβgal) and transplanted into recipients treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb. Functioning allografts were harvested on day 7, day 14 and day 50 post-transplant (Figure 13). Employing rat decorin specific primers and quantitative RT-PCR, we verified that over-expression of rat decorin was detected predominantly within the cardiac allografts at day 7 and day 14 and not within non-target tissue, such as the spleen (Figure 13A). In addition, long-term rat decorin gene expression was detected in the AdDec infected allografts and not in the βgal controls at day 50 post-transplant (Figure 13B). These results demonstrate the efficacy and tissue localization of decorin gene transfer into allografts using adenoviral vectors, and the persistence of transgene expression.



**Figure 13: Decorin gene transfer and gene expression.** BALB/c allografts were transduced with AdDec or Ad $\beta$ gal and transplanted into C57BL/6 mice that were given inductive anti-CD4 therapy on days -1, 0, and 7 relative to transplant. Spleens and allografts were recovered on day 7 (light shaded bars) and day 14 (dark shaded bars) for AdDec transduced allografts (**A**). Functioning allografts were recovered on day 50 post-transplant for Ad $\beta$ gal (open bars) and AdDec (shaded bars) transduced allografts (**B**). Rat decorin expression relative to GAPDH was assessed by real-time RT-PCR from a minimum of 4 Ad $\beta$ gal (open bars) or 4 AdDec (shaded bars) transduced allografts (+/- S.E.M.).

# Intragraft TGF $\beta$ neutralization by decorin gene transfer does not reverse T and B cell hyporesponsiveness in recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb

While TGF $\beta$  is a known pro-fibrotic cytokine (368) it also has beneficial antiinflammatory effects in the transplant setting and is frequently observed within accepted grafts (299, 337-339). Since TGF $\beta$  is critical in controlling donor-reactive responses following transient CD4+ T cell depletion (Faust et al., submitted), it was possible that intragraft neutralization of TGF $\beta$  might reverse immune hyporesponsiveness if decorin acted beyond the local confines of the allograft and inhibited TGF $\beta$  systemically (196). To determine if localized TGF $\beta$  neutralization within the allografts affected systemic donor-reactive immune responses, ELISPOT was employed to quantify the number of *in vivo* primed donor-reactive Th1 (IFN $\gamma$ ), Th2 (IL-4) and Th17 (IL-17) responses (Figure 14A). Gene transfer of  $\beta$ gal or decorin to allografts resulted in negligible T cell responses compared to untreated transplant recipients, indicating that TGF $\beta$  neutralization within



Figure 14: Intragraft TGFβ neutralization does not enhance donor-reactive T and B cell responses.

(A) On day 50 post-transplantation, splenocytes from Ad $\beta$ gal or AdDec transduced recipients were processed for ELISPOT assays to quantify primed, donor-reactive IFN $\gamma$ , IL-4 or IL-17-producing cells. C57BL/6 recipients of BALB/c allografts that received no treatment (striped bars) acted as positive controls and splenocytes were harvested at the time of rejection. Bars represent the average number of spot forming cells (+/- S.E.M.). Numbers in parentheses represent the number of recipients in each group. (B) Fifty days post-transplant, sera were obtained from recipients transduced with Ad $\beta$ gal (open bars) or AdDec (shaded bars) and treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb. P815 (H-2<sup>d</sup>) cells were incubated with sera and bound donor-reactive Ab was detected by incubation with FITC-tagged anti-IgM or anti-IgG Abs. The mean channel fluorescence of 9 Ad $\beta$ gal or 9 AdDec transduced recipient samples (+/- S.E.M.).

cardiac allografts did not reverse graft-reactive T cell hyporesponsiveness in recipients depleted of CD4+ T cells (Figure 14A). In addition, cardiac allograft contractions were noticeably stronger in AdDec transduced allografts when compared to βgal controls. These data demonstrate that intragraft inhibition of TGFβ had a beneficial effect on graft function and did not reverse systemic donor-reactive T cell hyporesponsiveness normally observed in anti-CD4 mAb treated recipients

TGF $\beta$  also inhibits B cell responses by affecting B cell proliferation, survival signals, activation, and IgG class switching (164). In CD4-DNR recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb, T cells differentiate into effector cells and provide help to B cells, which produce donor-reactive IgG (Faust et al., submitted). To examine the effect of intragraft decorin over-expression on donor-reactive antibody, we quantified donor-reactive IgM and IgG production by flow cytometry (Figure 14B). No difference in alloantibody production was observed in recipients whose allografts express decorin or the  $\beta$ gal. This demonstrates that B cell hyporesponsiveness is also not reversed in recipients that overexpress decorin within their grafts. This further indicates that there are no systemic effects on the alloreactive immune responses by local TGF $\beta$  neutralization. *Effect of intragraft decorin gene transfer on TGF\beta-induced gene expression* 

TGF $\beta$  is a pleiotropic cytokine that exerts a variety of effects on many different cell types. A reciprocal developmental pathway exists for the generation of pathogenic effector Th17 cells and Treg in response to TGF $\beta$ , with IL-6 being the co-factor required for Th17 induction (93, 94, 327). In addition, TGF $\beta$  induces cardiac fibroblasts to differentiate into myofibroblasts, which produce significant amounts of collagen and contribute to fibrosis (368). To assay for the effect of decorin on TGF $\beta$ -induced genes such as TGF $\beta$ , collagen A1, FoxP3 and IL-17, RNA was isolated from the allografts and quantitative RT-PCR was performed (Figure 15).

In recipients transduced with AdDec, intragraft TGF $\beta$  (*p*<0.05), collagen A1 (*p*<0.05) and IL-17 (*p*<0.05) transcript levels were significantly reduced compared to



**Figure 15: Effect of TGF** $\beta$  neutralization on intragraft gene expression. RNA samples from grafts of recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells and transduced with Adβgal or AdDec were recovered 50 days post-transplant. Intragraft expression of (**A**) TGF $\beta$ , (**B**) collagen A1, (**C**) IL-17 and (**D**) FoxP3 relative to GAPDH was assessed by real-time RT-PCR. Bars depict the means of RNA expression from 9 Adβgal or 9 AdDec transduced allografts.

control allografts (Figure 15A-D). In contrast, intragraft FoxP3 expression was comparable between AdDec and Ad $\beta$ gal transduced allografts. These observations indicate that localized TGF $\beta$  neutralization by decorin can significantly decrease gene expression associated with fibrosis, but does not affect FoxP3 expression. This data suggest Th17 polarization occurs within the site of inflammation--the graft--while Treg induction and maintenance occurs systemically in the secondary lymphoid tissues (147). *Intragraft TGF\beta neutralization significantly attenuates graft fibrosis and hypertrophy* 

To investigate the effect of localized TGFβ neutralization on graft fibrosis,

quantitative morphometric trichrome analysis was performed (Figure 16). Assessment of allograft fibrosis revealed that intragraft decorin expression resulted in a significant



# Figure 16: Decorin gene transfer and intragraft TGFβ neutralization attenuates fibrosis and hypertrophy.

(A) Sections of grafts from recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells and transduced with Adβgal or AdDec were stained with Masson's trichrome stain on day 50 post-transplant. Fibrotic tissue appears blue. Magnification, 200X. (B) Morphometric analysis of trichrome staining. Bars represent the average percentage of (+/- S.E.M.) of graft area positive for fibrotic tissue in 9 Adβgal (open bars) or 9 AdDec (shaded bars) transduced recipients. (C) Cardiomyocyte area quantification of groups described in (A). Bars represent mean (+/- S.E.M.) of area measurements from 100 cardiomyocytes per allograft at 200X magnification. Five individual hearts were analyzed per group.

reduction of fibrosis compared to control grafts (p < 0.01) (Figure 16A and 16B). These data indicate that TGF $\beta$  promotes cardiac fibrosis and that localized neutralization of TGF $\beta$  can significantly attenuate CR.

Cardiac hypertrophy is defined as an increase in the heart mass (369). An increase in the size of the cardiac myocytes, as opposed to the number, is the primary basis of cardiac hypertrophy (369). TGF $\beta$  is critical in driving this process (reviewed in (370)). An upregulation of TGF $\beta$  in cardiac tissue increases cardiomyocyte size and leads to cardiac dysfunction (370-372). To evaluate the effect of intragraft TGF $\beta$  neutralization on cardiac hypertrophy, cardiomyocyte cell size was measured employing histologic analysis (294). Reduced cardiac hypertrophy was observed in AdDec transduced grafts (Figure 16C). These findings indicate that intragraft TGF $\beta$  correlates with both fibrosis and hypertrophy in CR allografts and that decorin gene transfer can attenuate both pathologies.

# Discussion

CR is an intractable disease characterized by interstitial fibrosis, occlusive neointima development, and graft dysfunction (224, 228, 321). The etiology of CR is poorly understood and no therapies exist to block its progression. TGF $\beta$ plays a beneficial role in the transplant setting because of its immunsuppressive qualities (299, 339), but has also been implicated in promoting graft fibrosis and CR (320, 343). In the mouse vascularized cardiac model, we have previously reported an association between TGF $\beta$ and CR (232). Intragraft TGF $\beta$  transcript levels were readily detected in the CR grafts from recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells, but not in the grafts of anti-CD40L
treated recipients, which remain free of CR (232), suggesting the importance of TGF $\beta$  in this pathology. In this study, we employed decorin gene transfer and local neutralization of TGF $\beta$  in cardiac allografts to assess the impact of intragraft TGF $\beta$  neutralization on allograft acceptance, T and B cell hyporesponsiveness and CR. We demonstrate that local neutralization of TGF $\beta$  in cardiac allografts significantly attenuated interstitial fibrosis and improved graft function, but did not reverse the hyporeactive state of donor-reactive T or B cells.

Intragraft transcript levels of TGF $\beta$  are frequently detected in accepted grafts, including the cardiac allografts from inductive CD4+ T cell depleted recipients. TGF<sub>β</sub> expression is believed to promote graft survival through the induction of Treg, which control graft-reactive Th1 and Th2 responses (299, 337, 339). Previous studies in recipients treated with inductive anti-CD4 mAb have revealed that repopulating CD4+ T cells are hyporesponsive toward donor antigen and mount Th2 responses upon rechallenge, while naïve T cells mount a dominant Th1 response (297). In this CR model, alloreactive T cells only progress to a hyporesponsive state in response to TGF $\beta$  (Faust et al., submitted). The critical role for TGF $\beta$  in this CR model was revealed when CD4-DNR mice were used as recipients and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. T cell TGF $\beta$ signaling was requisite for both long-term graft acceptance and suppression of graftreactive T and B cell responses as well as graft fibrosis (Faust et al., submitted). Therefore, systemic strategies targeting TGF $\beta$  are not feasible since this could alter the hyporesponsiveness of graft-reactive T and B cells. In contrast, intragraft TGF $\beta$ inhibition would be beneficial in attenuating fibrosis. TGF $\beta$  neutralization within allografts, however, did not result in a reversal of T or B cell hyporesponsiveness (Figure

14). These findings demonstrate that localized TGF $\beta$  inhibition does not alter the systemic regulation of graft-reactive cells or lead to graft loss but was effective at reducing fibrosis associated with CR.

In transplantation, FoxP3+ Treg have been shown to play a central role in suppression of alloreactive T cells and in long-term allograft acceptance (reviewed in (270)). In both human and animal transplant, allograft acceptance strongly correlates with Treg infiltration into the graft as detected by enhanced intragraft FoxP3 transcript levels (138, 154, 354). Treg can be divided into two populations: natural Treg (nTreg), which arise in the thymus and do not require TGF $\beta$  to develop, and induced peripheral Treg (iTreg), which do require TGF $\beta$  to differentiate from naïve CD4+FoxP3- T cells into Treg (reviewed in (107)). In the current study, local neutralization of TGF $\beta$  did not affect intragraft FoxP3 expression, indicating that Treg migration and/or generation within the graft was unchanged between decorin and  $\beta$ gal transduced recipients (Figure 15D). However, these data argue against Treg induction within the grafts since intragraft TGF $\beta$  was neutralized by decorin gene transfer. Indeed, Treg have been reported to be generated in lymph nodes and subsequently migrate to the graft (147). While thymicderived Treg do not require TGF $\beta$  for their generation, they do depend on TGF $\beta$  for their persistence in the periphery (133). Given that decorin gene transfer spares the systemic effects of TGFβ, it is also possible that nTreg may contribute in regulating alloreactive responses within the graft (373).

Interstitial fibrosis represents a hallmark of CR and results in pathogenic cardiac remodeling and graft dysfunction (233). The effector cells in this process are cardiac fibroblasts, which respond to TGF $\beta$  by inducing the expression of pro-fibrotic mediators

that upregulate extracellular matrix synthesis and down-regulate matrix degradation (233). During remodeling, cardiac fibroblasts located within the interstitium proliferate and produce proteins such as collagen (234), resulting in a significant increase in interstitial fibrosis (374). Cardiac fibrosis impairs contractility and reduces cardiac function.

Previous studies demonstrate that decorin gene transfer ameliorates TGF $\beta$ induced fibrosis of multiple organs (196, 367). Decorin inhibits TGF $\beta$  bioactivity by sequestering TGF $\beta$  to the ECM (188, 193). In addition, decorin negatively impacts TGF $\beta$ gene expression by interrupting TGF $\beta$ /Smad-dependent transcriptional events (188, 193, 195). One mechanism in which decorin inhibits fibrosis is by reducing TGF $\beta$ -induced collagen transcript levels in cultured human cardiac fibroblasts (197). Gene transfer of decorin into allografts transplanted into recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells significantly attenuated collagen deposition and fibrosis compared to control allografts (Figure 16A and 16B). Decorin over-expression also inhibited cardiac hypertrophy, demonstrating amelioration of an additional TGF $\beta$ -induced parameter correlated with CR (Figure 16C).

In addition to reduced TGF $\beta$  gene expression, decorin reduced intragraft transcript levels IL-17 (Figure 15C). IL-17 amplifies inflammatory responses (reviewed in (91, 93)) and has recently been identified as a cytokine with pro-fibrotic activities (92, 331-334, 336). Prior studies in IL-17-/- recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb revealed that allografts from the deficient mice exhibited a significant reduction in fibrosis compared to WT (Faust et al., submitted). IL-17 may induce fibrosis though multiple mechanisms. Upregulation of collagen gene expression in direct response to IL-17 has

been observed in mouse cardiac fibroblasts (92). IL-17 may also induce endothelial cells and fibroblasts to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (91, 97) that result in the recruitment of APC and alloreactive T cells into allograft. These inflammatory cells may secrete factors that lead to myocardial damage and tissue remodeling that favors fibrosis. The reduction of intragraft IL-17 expression in AdDec transduced grafts compared to WT counterparts further implicates this pro-inflammatory cytokine in CR.

Decorin has multiple molecular targets in cell growth in addition to its interaction with TGF $\beta$  (184). Decorin negatively impacts cell proliferation, an effect mediated through the induction of p21 (184). Decorin-induced cell cycle arrest might reduce fibrosis by suppressing cardiac fibroblasts from proliferating and differentiating into myofibroblasts. Decorin also interacts with complement C1q, inhibiting activation of the classical complement pathway (186). Hence, under inflammatory tissue damage and ECM remodeling, decorin may suppress complement activation and prevent further cardiomyocyte injury. Decorin may further inhibit the production of inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, including MCP-1 and IL-8 by preventing C1q from binding graft endothelial cells (186, 226). Therefore, in addition to decorin's inhibitory effects on TGF $\beta$ , suppression of complement activation may help to reduce fibrosis by limiting the damage inflicted on the allograft.

In summary, TGF $\beta$  is a critical cytokine in fibroproliferative disorders following inflammatory responses (reviewed in (342)). TGF $\beta$  can have both exacerbating and ameliorating effects in immune-mediated fibrotic diseases, making global inhibition undesirable and local neutralization of TGF $\beta$  an attractive therapy. As evidenced in this model of CR, systemic TGF $\beta$  production is requisite for T cell hyporesponsiveness (Faust

et. al., submitted), while local TGF $\beta$  production at the site of inflammation induces graft fibrosis. We demonstrate that neutralizing intragraft TGF $\beta$  inhibits the cytokine's fibrotic activities, but does not reverse its beneficial immunosuppressive qualities. These data provide insight into the underlying causes of CR, and identify intragraft TGF $\beta$  as a therapeutic target for treatment of this disease.

#### **Chapter 5: Conclusion**

The Holy Grail of transplant tolerance, defined as a brief course of immunosuppression (induction), followed by indefinite acceptance of an allograft (maintenance), has yet to be achieved (375). Currently, the therapies used in the clinic to prolong graft survival globally suppress the immune response, require life long compliance, and are associated with a multitude of side effects, including increased risk of malignancies and infections (311). These therapies do not specifically target donor-reactive cells and very often inhibit the induction of regulation, circumventing any development of tolerance induction (376). The failure to maintain tolerance leads to smoldering chronic inflammatory responses and may lead to CR (321). Therefore, while graft loss resulting from acute rejection is relatively rare due to immunosuppressive therapies, CR continues to challenge long-term graft survival and remains the primary cause of late graft failure.

TGFβ has been strongly implicated as a mediator of both prolonged allograft acceptance, due to its anti-inflammatory effects, and the causative agent of fibroproliferative changes within the allograft associated with CR (232, 233, 342). We have previously reported an association with TGFβ and CR using the mouse vascularized cardiac allograft model (232). Transient depletion of recipient CD4+ T cells results in prolonged graft survival, intragraft expression of TGFβ, and the development of CR. In contrast, when recipients are treated with inductive anti-CD40L mAb, allografts remain

free of CR and fail to express intragraft TGF $\beta$ . Further, adenoviral-mediated gene transfer of the active form of TGF $\beta$  into allografts, but not syngeneic grafts, induced fibrosis and results in CR in recipients treated with anti-CD40L indicating that alloantigen is necessary for the progression of CR (232). Studies in this thesis focused on the role of T cell specific TGF $\beta$  signaling in CR, the contribution of IL-17 to graft fibrosis, and the effect of intragraft neutralization of TGF $\beta$  on systemic alloreactive responses and CR.

#### 5.1 Dissertation summary

Experiments performed in Chapter 3 investigated the role of TGF $\beta$  signaling on alloreactive effector cells, Treg and IL-17 induction. We compared responses from WT and CD4-DNR recipients that were depleted of CD4+ T cells to responses from recipients that received anti-CD40L mAb therapy. In recipients treated with anti-CD40L mAb, T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling is not required for long term allograft acceptance. In contrast, prolonged allograft acceptance and suppression of alloreactive T and B cells responses require T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling in mice transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Further, IL-17 is involved in the development of graft fibrosis and CR.

Chapter 4 addressed the impact of local TGF $\beta$  neutralization by intragraft decorin gene transfer on donor-reactive T and B cell responses, cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis. Intragraft neutralization of TGF $\beta$  significantly attenuated graft fibrosis and hypertrophy, improved graft function and failed to induce systemic donor-reactive T cell responses in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Thus, neutralizing TGF $\beta$  within the allograft inhibits the cytokine's pro-fibrotic effects, but does not reverse its antiinflammatory activities.

Our finding that TGF $\beta$  in CR grafts correlates with compartmentalized IL-17 production and participates in fibrosis is reminiscent of scleroderma, rheumatoid arthritis, allergic lung disease and hypersensitivity pneumonitis and lung fibrosis (231, 336, 351, 377). In CR, as in most chronic inflammatory diseases, TGF $\beta$  can have both exacerbating and ameliorating actions. Hence, data reported here indicate the effectiveness of locally neutralizing TGF $\beta$ , or selectively targeting a downstream mediator, such as IL-17, as providing therapeutic targets for the prevention of fibrosis.

#### **5.2 Future directions**

The data presented clearly associate TGF $\beta$  production with both allograft acceptance and CR in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Future directions in the CR model will include 1) identifying the cellular source of TGF $\beta$ ; 2) elucidating the role of natural and induced Treg in controlling alloreactivity; 3) investigating the requirement for T cell-derived TGF $\beta$  in controlling donor-reactive cells and Treg development; and 4) determining if TGF $\beta$ -induced IL-17 is necessary and sufficient to induce fibrosis.

# TGF<sup>β</sup> and the graft

TGF $\beta$  is required for controlling alloreactivity and for inducing graft fibrosis in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. The obvious question that remains is what cell type is generating this cytokine? A variety of experimental organ transplant models indicate that the graft, rather than passively provoking an immunological rejection response has the ability to modulate its own survival through cytokine production (reviewed in (378)). A cardiac graft in a recipient transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells may modulate its own survival and alter alloreactivity through TGF $\beta$ 

production. Indeed, both cardiomycoytes (379) and cardiac endothelial cells (380) are capable of generating TGFβ. Graft-derived TGFβ production may generate survival signals and/or modulate alloreactivity by playing a role in initiating and maintaining tolerance in the allogeneic transplant setting. To assess the graft's role in TGFβ production, mice that are both immunodeficient and TGFβ1 deficient will be employed as cardiac donor animals in our transplant model (381, 382). As mentioned previously, TGFβ1 null mice exhibit multifocal inflammation and autoimmune-mediated lethality by 3 weeks of age (169). However, these animals can be rescued from the autoimmunity phenotype when crossed to SCID or RAG deficient mice (381, 383). Hence, these mice will provide a model to investigate the contribution of graft-derived TGFβ in CR.

WT C57BL/6 mice (H-2<sup>b</sup>) will be transplanted with TGF $\beta$ 1-/-SCID (H-2<sup>d</sup>) cardiac allografts and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells (Figure 17). Graft function will be monitored and functioning allografts will be evaluated for signs of CR fifty days post-transplant. Prolonged allograft acceptance and evidence of CR would indicate that infiltrating immune cells generate TGF $\beta$ , and that the graft responds to this cytokine with fibroproliferative changes. In a rodent model of CR, TGF $\beta$  staining is detected on some infiltrating cells (primarily macrophages and lymphocytes) (384). Therefore, the enhanced expression of TGF $\beta$  within the allograft may represent an immunosuppressive mechanism mediated by immune cells to self-limit destruction either directly, by suppressing alloreactivity or, indirectly, by inducing immunosuppressive Treg within the graft (164). If prolonged allograft acceptance and no evidence of CR are observed, this would suggest that the graft generates TGF $\beta$ 1 in response to inflammation, but that graft-derived TGF $\beta$  is not necessary for allograft acceptance. Alternatively, prolonged allograft



**Figure 17: Identifying the source of TGFβ.** WT C57BL/6 mice  $(H-2^b)$  will be transplanted with TGF $\beta$ 1-/-SCID  $(H-2^d)$  cardiac allografts and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Graft function will be monitored and functioning allografts will be evaluated for evidence of CR fifty days post-transplants

acceptance and a marked reduction in graft fibrosis would indicate a synergistic effect between graft-derived TGF $\beta$  and immune-mediated TGF $\beta$  in inducing fibrosis within the graft. Graft rejection would demonstrate that the graft plays an important role in early graft survival and tolerance induction by generating TGF $\beta$ . The graft may modulate the immune system through TGF $\beta$ 1 production by inhibiting immune destruction and/or inducing the generation of Treg. A positive feedback loop may be established that involves the initial induction of Treg by graft-derived TGF $\beta$ , which is later augmented by TGF $\beta$  production by the Treg, themselves (143). These experiments will provide insight into the origin of TGF $\beta$  production and the effect of graft-derived TGF $\beta$  on prolonged allograft acceptance (143).

#### Role of nTreg and iTreg in controlling alloreactivity

In our model of CR, CD4+ Treg are postulated to be critical for the establishment of tolerance (297). Following transient depletion of CD4+ T cells, it is possible that nTreg are less susceptible to apoptosis or inactivation by anti-CD4 mAb. These regulatory cells may proliferate and accumulate within the graft and lymphoid tissue to maintain tolerance through TGF $\beta$  production (298). Indeed, Bromberg and colleagues recently reported that nTreg sequentially migrate into the allografts where these cells become activated and proliferate and subsequently proceed to the draining lymph nodes, where they suppress effector T cell proliferation and migration into the graft (373). In our mouse vascularized allograft study, as CD4+ T cells begin to repopulate the periphery and migrate into the graft or lymphoid tissues, these expanded nTreg may similarly suppress alloreactivity through TGF $\beta$  production, and in the absence of TGF $\beta$  signaling in T cells, allografts are rejected (Figure 18A).

There may also be a role for iTreg in prolonged cardiac allograft acceptance following transient depletion of CD4+ T cells. As the CD4+ T cells begin to repopulate the periphery, the healed-in allograft will continue to release antigens that are processed by the host APCs in a non-inflammatory environment (305). In the absence of inflammatory danger signals, quiescent APC may present alloantigen and generate TGFβ, resulting in the expansion of iTreg and suppression of alloreactive cells (Figure 18B) (262). Indeed, persistent incomplete signaling of T cells by alloantigen and TGFβ production can drive CD4+ T cells to become both anergic and regulatory (138, 262, 298). The iTreg may sustain and recruit additional iTreg through TGFβ production and establish and maintain tolerance (Figure 18C) (143, 262). The fact that TGFβ assists the





**Figure 18: Mechanisms of tolerance induction following transient CD4+ T cell depletion.** (A) Allograft acceptance in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells requires T cell responsiveness to TGF $\beta$ . In the absence of T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling, graft-reactive effector cells induce allograft rejection. (B) As the CD4+ T cells begin repopulating the periphery, the healed-

in graft will continue to release antigens that are processed by the host APCs in a noninflammatory environment. In the absence of inflammatory danger signals, quiescent APC may present alloantigen and generate TGF $\beta$ , resulting in the expansion of iTreg and suppression of alloreactive cells. (C) As repopulating CD4+ T cells migrate into the graft or lymphoid tissues, Treg may suppress alloreactive responses through TGF $\beta$  production.

induction of naïve CD4+CD25- T cells into Tregs both *in vivo* and *in vitro* argues for the importance of this cytokine in the generation and maintenance of the peripheral Treg pool (138).

To investigate the contribution of natural and induced Treg in allograft acceptance in recipients transiently depleted of T cells *in vivo*, cardiac transplants will be performed in monospecific TCR-transgenic mice to determine the ability of inductive anti-CD4 mAb to induce *de novo* Treg. Female transgenic mice will be employed which generate CD4+ T cells that are monospecific for the male transplantation antigen *Dby* (presented by H-2E<sup>k</sup>) on a RAG-/- background (A1(M).RAG-/-) (340). *Dby* encodes a dead box RNA helicase Y protein involved in diverse cellular functions, including RNA splicing, ribosomal assembly and protein translation (385). The *Dby* gene generates two transcripts: a long transcript that is ubiquitously expressed and a short transcript that is testes specific. The protein derived from the long *Dby* transcript is a class II restricted antigen and is highly expressed in cardiac tissue (340, 385). These mice have no prexisiting FoxP3+ Treg in the thymus or periphery (129, 340, 386) and are capable of rejecting a male skin graft acutely, within 15-20 days post-transplant (138).

Female A1(M).RAG-/- transgenic mice will be transplanted with male CBA.RAG-/- or female CBA.RAG-/- cardiac allografts and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells (Figure 19). Graft function will be monitored and recipients with functioning grafts at day 50 post-transplant will be evaluated for peripheral Treg induction. iTreg



Figure 19: Assessing the contribution of natural and induced Treg in allograft acceptance. Female A1(M).RAG-/- transgenic mice that are monospecific for the male transplantation antigen *Dby* presented by H-2E<sup>k</sup> on a RAG-/- background will be transplanted with a male or female allograft from CBA.RAG-/- donors and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. The Dby protein is a class II restricted antigen and is highly expressed in cardiac tissue. iTreg generation will be assessed by quantitative RT-PCR to assay for intragraft FoxP3 expression and by flow cytometry to quantify the percent of FoxP3+CD25+CD4+ GICs and splenocytes.

generation will be assessed by quantitative RT-PCR to assay for intragraft FoxP3 expression and by flow cytometry to quantify the percentage of FoxP3+CD25+CD4+ GICs and splenocytes. It is predicted that prolonged allograft acceptance will be observed in recipients of both male and female cardiac grafts. However, Treg will only be detected in recipients of male CBA.RAG-/- cardiac allografts. This will strongly support the hypothesis that FoxP3 expressing Treg can be induced in the periphery from naïve CD4+FoxP3- T cells following anti-CD4 mAb treatment. Alternatively, rejection of allografts will indicate that nTreg, or a synergistic relationship between nTreg and iTreg, are critical for prolonged allograft acceptance in anti-CD4 mAb treated recipients.

## *iTreg and infectious tolerance*

Tolerant animals can maintain their grafts following adoptive transfer of naïve cells, and this is referred to as the acquisition of resistance, or infectious tolerance (238). Previous studies in our lab have investigated the ability of WT recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb to maintain prolonged allograft acceptance following adoptive transfer of naïve splenocytes or splenocytes isolated from day 7 unmodified WT recipients, which will be referred to as effector T cells. Under both experimental conditions, prolonged allograft acceptance is observed, when cells are transferred to primary graft recipients on day 30 post-transplant. These data indicate an antigen specific regulation and maintenance of peripheral tolerance in the transplant setting. It is unknown, however, whether the adoptively transferred splenocytes undergo apoptosis or anergy, and/or whether a subset is induced in the periphery to become Treg, themselves.

To assay for iTreg induction of T cells following adoptive transfer in a fully MHC mismatched setting, WT C57BL/6 mice will be transplanted with BALB/c allografts and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Allograft recipients will be infused with CD4+CD25-FoxP3- naïve T cells or CD4+CD25-FoxP3- effector T cells from FoxP3GFP transgenic mice (Figure 20). FoxP3GFP transgenic mice express an enhanced green fluorescent protein under the control of the mouse Foxp3 promoter (387). In order to track the transferred cells and verify that the cells survive, the cells will be labeled with a 675 nm-emitting proliferation dye (CellVue Claret). Graft function will be monitored and recipients with functioning grafts at day 50 post-transplant will be evaluated for peripheral Treg induction by quantitative RT-PCR to assay for intragraft GFP expression and by flow cytometry to quantify the percentage of GFP+CD4+CD25+ GICs and



**Figure 20: iTreg and infectious tolerance.** WT C57BL/6 mice will be transplanted with BALB/c allografts and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. On day 30 post-transplant, recipients will receive CD4+CD25-FoxP3- naïve T cells or CD4+CD25-FoxP3- effector cells from FoxP3GFP transgenic mice. Graft function will be monitored and recipients with functioning allografts at day 50 will be evaluated for peripheral Treg induction by quantitative RT-PCR to assay for intragraft GFP expression and by flow cytometry to quantify the percentage of GFP+CD4+CD25+ GICs and splenocytes.

splenocytes. It is predicted that adoptive transfer of WT recipients with either naïve or effector CD4+ T cells from FoxP3GFP transgenic mice will result in prolonged allograft acceptance as observed in WT recipients. The detection of GFP+CD4+ T cells within the graft or spleen of primary graft recipients will indicate the *de novo* generation of potentially immunoregulatory T cells *in vivo*. These experiments will provide insight into the role of Treg in the maintenance of transplant tolerance in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells.

## T cell-derived TGF $\beta$ and allograft acceptance

The requirement for T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling in controlling alloreactivity in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells was demonstrated in CD4-DNR mice (Chapter 3). Abrogation of T cell TGF $\beta$  signaling in this model results in donor-reactive Th1 and Th2, a significant reduction in Treg accumulation within the grafts and graft rejection dependent on CD4+ T cell population. Hence, TGF $\beta$  is crucial for regulation of T cell proliferation and survival, inhibition of Th1/Th2 differentiation and in Treg generation/maintenance in this model of transplant. However, it is unclear whether T cellderived TGF $\beta$  or TGF $\beta$  produced by other cells within the environment is important for modulating alloreactivity and allograft fibrosis. Hence, experiments in this section will identify whether T cell generated TGF $\beta$  is required for allograft fibrosis and for controlling systemic immune responses in the transplant setting.

Studies conducted in TGF $\beta$  deficient mice have provided insight into the requirement for TGF $\beta$  in Treg maintenance and for suppressor function (124). Employing the TGF $\beta$  null mouse model, it was demonstrated that this cytokine is not required for the development of nTreg but is important for iTreg generation and maintenance of peripheral Treg. This was evident in that the TGF $\beta$  null mice exhibit normal thymic Treg numbers but a decline in the peripheral Treg population (124). Additional support for the role of TGF $\beta$  in peripheral Treg maintenance was provided in experiments performed in WT mice that received systemic neutralization of TGF $\beta$  by anti-TGF $\beta$  Ab administration (124). A dramatic decline in the number of peripheral Treg that was comparable to what is seen in TGF $\beta$  null mice was observed, corroborating the role of TGF $\beta$  in peripheral Treg maintenance (124). Interestingly, TGF $\beta$  deficient Treg are functional and can

suppress colitis in an adoptive transfer model in which the recipients express TGF $\beta$  (124, 356). This indicates that TGF $\beta$  produced by neighboring cells can sustain Treg suppressor function and phenotype, and that Treg may induce TGF $\beta$  expression from APCs or stromathymal and mesenchymal cells (388). Indeed, TGF $\beta$  -/- Treg combined with TGF $\beta$  -/- APCs are no longer capable of suppressor function, which is consistent with a requirement for exogenously supplied TGF $\beta$ 1 to sustain the regulatory phenotype (124).

To assay for the requirement of T cell-derived TGF $\beta$  or TGF $\beta$  produced by non-T cells in prolonged allograft acceptance, T cell specific TGF<sup>β</sup> null mice (389) will be employed as transplant recipients and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells (Figure 21). These mice have a conditional knockout allele for TGF $\beta$  in which exon 6 of the gene is flanked with LoxP sites. When crossed to LCKCre transgenic mice, a T cell specific disruption of TGF<sup>β</sup> is generated (389). T cell specific deletion of TGF<sup>β</sup> does result in increased organ inflammation and Th1-effector cytokine production in the mice, but this phenotype is predominantly seen in older mice (5 months), permitting the use of this model in transplant experiments (389). Graft function will be monitored and functioning allografts will be evaluated for signs of CR fifty days post-transplant. ELISPOT will be employed to quantify donor-reactive Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses. Treg will be assessed by quantitative RT-PCR to assay for intragraft FoxP3 expression and by flow cytometry to quantify the percentage of FoxP3+CD25+CD4+ GICs and splenocytes. CR (as assessed by graft fibrosis) and prolonged allograft acceptance would indicate that non-T cell derived TGF<sub>β</sub> is sufficient for fibrosis and allograft acceptance. Reduced CR and prolonged allograft survival would suggest that both T cell and non-T cell derived TGF $\beta$ 



**Figure 21:** T cell derived TGF $\beta$ , allograft acceptance and fibrosis. T cell specific TGF $\beta$  null mice (H-2<sup>b</sup>) will be employed as transplant recipients and transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Graft function will be monitored and functioning allografts will be evaluated for signs of CR fifty days post-transplant. ELISPOT will be employed to quantify donor-reactive Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses. Treg will be assessed by quantitative RT-PCR to assay for intragraft FoxP3 expression and by flow cytometry to quantify the percentage of FoxP3+CD25+CD4+ GICs and splenocytes.

is required for fibrosis and that non-T cell derived TGF $\beta$  is required for allograft

acceptance. Prolonged allograft survival and no evidence of fibrosis would indicate that T

cell derived TGF $\beta$  is required for fibrosis and that non-T cell derived TGF $\beta$  is sufficient

for allograft acceptance. Finally, allograft rejection would indicate the requirement for T

cell derived TGF $\beta$  in allograft acceptance.

# *TGF* $\beta$ , *IL-17 and CR*

IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine with pleotropic functions that has been implicated in the development and progression of various autoimmune diseases (reviewed in (377)). Data presented in this dissertation implicate TGFβ-induced IL-17 as a mediator of graft fibrosis in recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. In chapter 3, IL-17 deficient recipients treated with anti-CD4 mAb exhibited a significant reduction in graft fibrosis compared to WT counterparts. In chapter 4, localized TGFβ neutralization by decorin gene transfer reduced intragraft IL-17 expression and fibrosis. Additional experiments will investigate whether IL-17 expression is both necessary and sufficient to induce graft fibrosis.

WT cardiac recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells exhibit a compartmentalized Th17 response within the allograft. Th17 polarization within target tissue has also been observed in murine models of allergic lung disease and hypersentitivity pneumonitis and lung fibrosis (336, 350). This may indicate that, in response to the inflammatory milieu, Th17 cells are generated directly at the site of inflammation or within draining lymph nodes. Veldhoen and colleagues demonstrated that naïve CD4+ T cells could differentiate into Th17 cells in the presence of DC-derived IL-6 and Treg generated TGF $\beta$  (326). In the absence of Treg, the cells committed to a Th1 phenotype. This was corroborated by a number of researchers, including Bettelli et. al., who showed that naïve CD4+ T cells activated by anti-CD3 in the presence of TGF $\beta$ leads to the production of Treg, but that activation in the presence of IL-6 in addition to TGF $\beta$  diverted the naïve cells to develop into Th17 (93). Similar findings were reported in the allogeneic setting (271). CD4+ T cells stimulated by MHC class II mismatched

mature or immature BMDCs in the presence of Treg, enhanced, rather than suppressed, IL-17 production in the course of an alloreactive response through the production of TGF $\beta$  (271). DC-derived IL-6 in conjunction with Treg produced TGF $\beta$  were necessary and sufficient to drive Th17 development. This occurred simultaneously while Treg inhibited Th1 and Th2 differentiation through a TGF $\beta$  dependent mechanism (271).

The mechanism by which Th17 develop and induce fibrosis in cardiac allografts remains to be elucidated. CD4+ activated effector and memory T cells have been identified as the cell type that primarily secrete IL-17 (97). However, recent reports indicate that non-immune cells, such as cardiac fibroblasts, can express significant quantities of IL-17 (92). The functional IL-17 receptor (IL-17R) is a heteromeric complex of IL-17RA and IL-17RC (390). The IL-17R is present on a variety of cell types, including human and mouse cardiac fibroblasts (CF), which express both IL-17RA and IL-17RC. In addition, in cardiac fibroblasts, the IL-17R is upregulated in response to IL-17 (92).

Experiments in IL-17 deficient recipients that received WT BALB/c allografts and were transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells indicate that the cells primarily responsible for secreting IL-17 are immune cells, most likely CD4+ T cells. It is postulated that the polarized Th17 response is generated either within the cardiac allograft or in the draining lymph nodes (dLN), and that TGF $\beta$ -producing Treg accumulate within the grafts and/or lymph nodes and enhance the Th17 lineage development (271, 373). It may also be possible that a population of IL-17 secreting Treg are the mediators of IL-17 production (391). It has recently been reported that mouse FoxP3+CD25+ Treg can be converted into a hybrid T cell population that produce IL-17 and co-expresses FoxP3 and RORgt in

response to IL-23 signals from DCs (391). Therefore, Treg may play an unexpected proinflammatory role, depending on signals from innate cells. To investigate Th17 priming within the allografts and dLN, intracellular cytokine staining will be performed on GICs or T cells isolated from the dLN to examine IL-17, FoxP3, and CD4 expression in WT and IL-17 deficient recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells. Allografts and dLNs will be recovered on day 30 post-transplant, since transient priming of alloreactive cells peaks at this time (297). It is predicted that a discrete population of IL-17 producing CD4+ T cells will be observed in the allografts and/or dLNs of WT recipients and that these are the cells responsible for inducing fibrotic changes associated with CR. IL-17 may induce myocardial inflammation, injury and tissue remodeling through a number of mechanisms and may act synergistically with TGF<sup>β</sup> to induce cardiac fibrosis (Figure 22). Among its many functions, IL-17 stimulates matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MMP-1) expression and secretion in primary human CF through the activation of p38 MAPK- and ERK1/2-dependent c/EBP $\beta$ , NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 (331). In the myocardium, MMPs degrade ECM and release and activate ECM-bound factors, like TGF<sub>β</sub>. Activated TGF<sub>β</sub> can induce cardiac fibroblasts to generate and remodel ECM (233) and TGFB induced Smad signaling has been reported to negatively regulate MMP expression by sequestering AP-1 proteins to the cytoplasm (392). This feedback loop ensures that during normal tissue remodeling, the rate of synthesis of ECM proteins is balanced by ECM degradation (342). However, excessive TGF $\beta$  production upsets this balance and leads to fibrosis (342). Indeed, diminished myocardial MMP activity can directly facilitate collagen accumulation (392).



Figure 22: TGFβ, IL-17 and CR. Treg play a critical role in allograft acceptance by inhibiting donor-reactive Th1 and Th2 responses and by inducing additional Treg from naïve CD4+ T cells in a TGFB-dependent mechanism. However, recent *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that Treg do not suppress, but rather enhance IL-17 production in the course of an alloreactive response. Benghiat and colleagues demonstrate that when DCs are used as allogeneic stimulators, Tregs are critically required for driving IL-17 production in CD4+CD25-T cells. Further, Treg derived TGF $\beta$  and IL-6 generated by DCs act to synergistically induce alloreactive CD4+ T cells to produce IL-17. IL-17 may induce fibrosis through multiple mechanisms. IL-17 may act as a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine that induces endothelial cells and fibroblasts to secrete additional pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$ . These factors may enhance the recruitment of APC and alloreactive T cells into the graft resulting in myocardial damage and ECM remodeling that favors fibrosis. IL-17 can also act directly on cardiac fibroblasts by upregulating MMP expression through NF- $\kappa$ B, c/EBP $\beta$  and AP-1 activation. MMPs are activated during inflammation. In addition to ECM degradation, MMP degrades the latency associated peptide and releases active TGF $\beta$ . TGF $\beta$  is then free to upregulate its downstream mediator, CTGF. CTGF in association with a mitogenic stimulus, PDGF, stimulates cardiac fibroblasts to proliferate. Further association with IGF-2 results in differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, which upregulate collagen synthesis. Persistence of these myofibroblasts leads to fibrosis.

In addition to activating TGFβ, IL-17 induces primary CF migration in an MMP-1-dependent manner. Fibroblast migration and proliferation are two critical steps in cardiac fibrosis (233) and IL-17 may contribute to fibrosis through this mechanism. Finally, IL-17 has been reported to directly stimulate collagen and other ECM production in CF and may play a role in cardiac fibrosis and remodeling through this mechanism (92).

Only recently has IL-17 been identified as a pro-fibrotic cytokine. This Th17 cytokine is best recognized for its pro-inflammatory functions and can promote chronic tissue inflammation (91, 97, 98, 377). IL-17 upregulates NF- $\kappa$ B, AP-1 and c/EBP1/2 responsive pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules in the heart (331). Th17 promote tissue inflammation and chronic inflammatory diseases (393). In a CR allograft, IL-17 may upregulate and synergize with the pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$ , to induce inflammation and injury to the myocardium (294). Therefore, IL-17 has the potential to directly impact cardiac remodeling through its effects on TGF $\beta$ , collagen, MMPs, and tissue remodeling and/or may generate myocardial injury by inducing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that attract inflammatory cells to the allograft.

While it is clear that IL-17 plays a critical role in graft fibrosis, it remains to be elucidated whether this cytokine is both necessary and sufficient to initiate these fibroproliferative changes. In collaboration with Dr. Joseph Rabinowitz at Thomas Jefferson University, a recombinant Adeno-associated virus serotype 6 vector (AAV6) that expresses human IL-17A has been generated. AAV6 is a cardio-tropic vector that has

recently been demonstrated to provide stable, long-term expression of transgenes that are capable of reversing heart failure in a rodent model (394).

Preliminary cardiac perfusion studies with the AAV6-IL-17A vector in the mouse vascularized allograft model indicates robust transgene and protein expression as early as day 7 with increasing transgene expression over the experimental period of 50 days. In order to identify whether IL-17 is both necessary and sufficient to induce fibrotic changes associated with CR, BALB/c allografts will be perfused with the AAV6-IL17A vector prior to transplant into IL-17 deficient recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells or WT recipients treated with inductive anti-CD40L mAb therapy (Figure 23). It is predicted that this strategy should rescue the CR phenotype in recipients if IL-17 is the



**Figure 23: Forced expression of IL-17 in anti-CD4 and anti-CD40L mAb treated recipients.** BALB/c allografts will be perfused with rAAV6-IL-17A prior to transplant into IL-17 deficient recipients transiently depleted of CD4+ T cells or WT recipients treated with inductive anti-CD40L mAb. Graft function will be monitored and functioning allografts will be evaluated for evidence of CR fifty days post-transplant.

causative agent of graft fibrosis. However, we may demonstrate that IL-17 is neccesary but not sufficient to sustain fibrosis. Additional IL-6 neutralization experiments will be performed with this vector to investigate the requirement for both IL-6 and IL-17 in CR, since IL-6 has been identified as a contributing cytokine in both fibrosis and cardiac hypertrophy in CR (294). These experiments will reveal the sufficiency of IL-17 in graft fibrosis and further characterize the role IL-17 plays in CR.

#### **5.3 Concluding remarks**

Organ transplantation is one of the most significant therapeutic advancements made in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Research in the transplant field has revealed the most basic tenets of immunology: the discovery and characterization of the MHC, immunological self-tolerance, the requirement for TCR activation and co-stimulation, inflammatory 'danger' signals, Treg, effector and memory cell development and function. Knowledge gained in studying the immune response toward the transplanted organ has deepened our understanding of the immune system in health and in disease and has given us a model to harness immunological self-tolerance. The data herein has provided two therapeutic targets that can potentially be neutralized locally within the allograft to suppress the progression of CR: TGF $\beta$  and IL-17. Additionally, it is clear that there are TGF $\beta$ -dependent and -independent mechanisms of allograft acceptance. Hence, it is possible that therapies that rely on the immunosuppressive activities of TGF $\beta$  to control alloreactive responses may have the undesired effect of generating T cell dependent graft fibrosis. In conclusion, a vast quantity of experimental data exists that transplant tolerance can be achieved. Perhaps one of the most significant therapeutic accomplishments of this next century will be attaining the 'Holy Grail'.

# References

- 1. Barnard, M. S. 1967. Heart transplantation: an experimental review and preliminary research. *S Afr Med J* 41:1260-1262.
- 2. Griepp, R. B. 1979. A decade of human heart transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 11:285-292.
- 3. Griepp, R. B. a. E., MA. 1984. The history of experimental heart transplantation. *Heart Transpl* 3:145.
- 4. Oyer, P., Stinson, EB, and Jamieson SW. 1983. Cyclosporin-A in cardiac allografting: a preliminary experience. *Transpl Proc* 15:541-548.
- 5. Hertz, M. I., P. Aurora, J. D. Christie, F. Dobbels, L. B. Edwards, R. Kirk, A. Y. Kucheryavaya, A. O. Rahmel, A. W. Rowe, and D. O. Taylor. 2008. Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: a quarter century of thoracic transplantation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* 27:937-942.
- 6. Tilney, N. L. 2003. *Transplant: From Myth to Reality*. Yale University Press, New Haven.
- 7. Gibson, T., and P. B. Medawar. 1943. The fate of skin homografts in man. *J Anat* 77:299-310 294.
- 8. Snell, G. D. 1986. Some recollections of Peter Gorer and his work on this fiftieth anniversary of his discovery of H-2. *Immunogenetics* 24:339-340.
- 9. Burnet, F., and Fenner, F. 1949. *The Production of Antibodies*. Macmillan, Melbourne.
- 10. Medawar, P. B. 1944. The behaviour and fate of skin autografts and skin homografts in rabbits: A report to the War Wounds Committee of the Medical Research Council. *J Anat* 78:176-199.
- 11. Archbold, J. K., L. K. Ely, L. Kjer-Nielsen, S. R. Burrows, J. Rossjohn, J. McCluskey, and W. A. Macdonald. 2008. T cell allorecognition and MHC restriction--A case of Jekyll and Hyde? *Mol Immunol* 45:583-598.
- 12. Rocha, P. N., T. J. Plumb, S. D. Crowley, and T. M. Coffman. 2003. Effector mechanisms in transplant rejection. *Immunol Rev* 196:51-64.
- 13. Hall, B. 1991. Cells mediating allograft rejection. *Transplantation* 51:1141-1151.
- 14. Csencsits, K., S. C. Wood, G. Lu, J. C. Magee, E. J. Eichwald, C. H. Chang, and D. K. Bishop. 2005. Graft rejection mediated by CD4+ T cells via indirect recognition of alloantigen is associated with a dominant Th2 response. *Eur J Immunol* 35:843-851.
- 15. Engelhard, V. H. 1994. Structure of peptides associated with class I and class II MHC molecules. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12:181-207.
- 16. Little, A. M., and P. Parham. 1999. Polymorphism and evolution of HLA class I and II genes and molecules. *Rev Immunogenet* 1:105-123.
- 17. York, I. A., and K. L. Rock. 1996. Antigen processing and presentation by the class I major histocompatibility complex. *Annu Rev Immunol* 14:369-396.
- 18. Reits, E. A., J. C. Vos, M. Gromme, and J. Neefjes. 2000. The major substrates for TAP in vivo are derived from newly synthesized proteins. *Nature* 404:774-778.

- 19. Shastri, N., S. Schwab, and T. Serwold. 2002. Producing nature's gene-chips: the generation of peptides for display by MHC class I molecules. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20:463-493.
- 20. Janeway, C., Travers, P, Walport, M, and Shlomchik, M. 2001. *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease*. Garland Publishing, New York.
- 21. Skinner, M. A., and J. Marbrook. 1976. An estimation of the frequency of precursor cells which generate cytotoxic lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 143:1562-1567.
- 22. Game, D. S., and R. I. Lechler. 2002. Pathways of allorecognition: implications for transplantation tolerance. *Transpl Immunol* 10:101-108.
- 23. Hornick, P. a. R., Marlene. 2006. *Transplantation Immunology*. Humana Press, Totowa.
- 24. Bradley, J. A., E. M. Bolton, and G. Pettigrew. 2005. Monitoring T cell alloreactivity after organ transplantation. *Clin Exp Immunol* 142:229-232.
- 25. Hunig, T., and M. J. Bevan. 1980. Self H-2 antigens influence the specificity of alloreactive cells. *J Exp Med* 151:1288-1298.
- 26. Womer, K. L., J. P. Vella, and M. H. Sayegh. 2000. Chronic allograft dysfunction: mechanisms and new approaches to therapy. *Semin Nephrol* 20:126-147.
- 27. Baxter, A. G., and P. D. Hodgkin. 2002. Activation rules: the two-signal theories of immune activation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:439-446.
- 28. Li, X. C., D. M. Rothstein, and M. H. Sayegh. 2009. Costimulatory pathways in transplantation: challenges and new developments. *Immunol Rev* 229:271-293.
- 29. Rizvi, M., D. Pathak, J. E. Freedman, and S. Chakrabarti. 2008. CD40-CD40 ligand interactions in oxidative stress, inflammation and vascular disease. *Trends Mol Med* 14:530-538.
- 30. Larsen, C. P., and T. C. Pearson. 1997. The CD40 pathway in allograft rejection, acceptance, and tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol* 9:641-647.
- 31. Xu, Y., and G. Song. 2004. The role of CD40-CD154 interaction in cell immunoregulation. *J Biomed Sci* 11:426-438.
- 32. D'Orlando, O., G. Gri, G. Cattaruzzi, S. Merluzzi, E. Betto, V. Gattei, and C. Pucillo. 2007. Outside inside signalling in CD40-mediated B cell activation. *J Biol Regul Homeost Agents* 21:49-62.
- 33. Aukrust, P., J. K. Damas, and N. O. Solum. 2004. Soluble CD40 ligand and platelets: self-perpetuating pathogenic loop in thrombosis and inflammation? *J Am Coll Cardiol* 43:2326-2328.
- 34. Mikolajczak, S. A., B. Y. Ma, T. Yoshida, R. Yoshida, D. J. Kelvin, and A. Ochi. 2004. The modulation of CD40 ligand signaling by transmembrane CD28 splice variant in human T cells. *J Exp Med* 199:1025-1031.
- 35. Blotta, M. H., J. D. Marshall, R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu. 1996. Crosslinking of the CD40 ligand on human CD4+ T lymphocytes generates a costimulatory signal that up-regulates IL-4 synthesis. *J Immunol* 156:3133-3140.

- 36. Grewal, I. S., P. Borrow, E. G. Pamer, M. B. Oldstone, and R. A. Flavell. 1997. The CD40-CD154 system in anti-infective host defense. *Curr Opin Immunol* 9:491-497.
- 37. Longo, N. S., P. L. Lugar, S. Yavuz, W. Zhang, P. H. Krijger, D. E. Russ, D. D. Jima, S. S. Dave, A. C. Grammer, and P. E. Lipsky. 2009. Analysis of somatic hypermutation in X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome shows specific deficiencies in mutational targeting. *Blood* 113:3706-3715.
- 38. Li, X. L., S. Menoret, B. Le Mauff, M. Angin, and I. Anegon. 2008. Promises and obstacles for the blockade of CD40-CD40L interactions in allotransplantation. *Transplantation* 86:10-15.
- 39. Quezada, S. A., L. Z. Jarvinen, E. F. Lind, and R. J. Noelle. 2004. CD40/CD154 interactions at the interface of tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* 22:307-328.
- 40. Kawai, T., D. Andrews, R. B. Colvin, D. H. Sachs, and A. B. Cosimi. 2000. Thromboembolic complications after treatment with monoclonal antibody against CD40 ligand. *Nat Med* 6:114.
- 41. Acuto, O., and F. Michel. 2003. CD28-mediated co-stimulation: a quantitative support for TCR signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:939-951.
- 42. Lenschow, D. J., T. L. Walunas, and J. A. Bluestone. 1996. CD28/B7 system of T cell costimulation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 14:233-258.
- 43. Kane, L. P., J. Lin, and A. Weiss. 2002. It's all Rel-ative: NF-kappaB and CD28 costimulation of T-cell activation. *Trends Immunol* 23:413-420.
- 44. Michel, F., G. Mangino, G. Attal-Bonnefoy, L. Tuosto, A. Alcover, A. Roumier, D. Olive, and O. Acuto. 2000. CD28 utilizes Vav-1 to enhance TCR-proximal signaling and NF-AT activation. *J Immunol* 165:3820-3829.
- 45. Diehn, M., A. A. Alizadeh, O. J. Rando, C. L. Liu, K. Stankunas, D. Botstein, G. R. Crabtree, and P. O. Brown. 2002. Genomic expression programs and the integration of the CD28 costimulatory signal in T cell activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99:11796-11801.
- 46. Rincon, M., and R. A. Flavell. 1994. AP-1 transcriptional activity requires both T-cell receptor-mediated and co-stimulatory signals in primary T lymphocytes. *EMBO J* 13:4370-4381.
- 47. Reichert, P., R. L. Reinhardt, E. Ingulli, and M. K. Jenkins. 2001. Cutting edge: in vivo identification of TCR redistribution and polarized IL-2 production by naive CD4 T cells. *J Immunol* 166:4278-4281.
- 48. McAdam, A. J., A. N. Schweitzer, and A. H. Sharpe. 1998. The role of B7 costimulation in activation and differentiation of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Rev* 165:231-247.
- Boise, L. H., A. J. Minn, P. J. Noel, C. H. June, M. A. Accavitti, T. Lindsten, and C. B. Thompson. 1995. CD28 costimulation can promote T cell survival by enhancing the expression of Bcl-XL. *Immunity* 3:87-98.
- 50. Khoshnan, A., C. Tindell, I. Laux, D. Bae, B. Bennett, and A. E. Nel. 2000. The NF-kappa B cascade is important in Bcl-xL expression and for the antiapoptotic effects of the CD28 receptor in primary human CD4+ lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 165:1743-1754.

- 51. Fukada, K., M. Koyanagi, Y. Arimura, H. Ogiuchi, T. Uchiyama, and J. Yagi. 2005. CD28 is required for induction and maintenance of immunological memory in toxin-reactive CD4+ T cells in vivo. *Cell Immunol* 238:103-112.
- 52. Shahinian, A., K. Pfeffer, K. P. Lee, T. M. Kundig, K. Kishihara, A. Wakeham, K. Kawai, P. S. Ohashi, C. B. Thompson, and T. W. Mak. 1993. Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. *Science* 261:609-612.
- 53. King, C. L., J. Xianli, C. H. June, R. Abe, and K. P. Lee. 1996. CD28-deficient mice generate an impaired Th2 response to Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Eur J Immunol* 26:2448-2455.
- 54. Yamada, A., K. Kishimoto, V. M. Dong, M. Sho, A. D. Salama, N. G. Anosova, G. Benichou, D. A. Mandelbrot, A. H. Sharpe, L. A. Turka, H. Auchincloss, Jr., and M. H. Sayegh. 2001. CD28-independent costimulation of T cells in alloimmune responses. *J Immunol* 167:140-146.
- 55. Sharpe, A. H., and G. J. Freeman. 2002. The B7-CD28 superfamily. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:116-126.
- 56. Via, C. S., V. Rus, P. Nguyen, P. Linsley, and W. C. Gause. 1996. Differential effect of CTLA4Ig on murine graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) development: CTLA4Ig prevents both acute and chronic GVHD development but reverses only chronic GVHD. *J Immunol* 157:4258-4267.
- 57. Kondo, S., F. Kooshesh, B. Wang, H. Fujisawa, and D. N. Sauder. 1996. Contribution of the CD28 molecule to allergic and irritant-induced skin reactions in CD28 -/- mice. *J Immunol* 157:4822-4829.
- Krinzman, S. J., G. T. De Sanctis, M. Cernadas, D. Mark, Y. Wang, J. Listman, L. Kobzik, C. Donovan, K. Nassr, I. Katona, D. C. Christiani, D. L. Perkins, and P. W. Finn. 1996. Inhibition of T cell costimulation abrogates airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine model. *J Clin Invest* 98:2693-2699.
- 59. Borriello, F., M. P. Sethna, S. D. Boyd, A. N. Schweitzer, E. A. Tivol, D. Jacoby, T. B. Strom, E. M. Simpson, G. J. Freeman, and A. H. Sharpe. 1997. B7-1 and B7-2 have overlapping, critical roles in immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. *Immunity* 6:303-313.
- 60. Szot, G. L., P. Zhou, A. H. Sharpe, G. He, O. Kim, K. A. Newell, J. A. Bluestone, and J. R. Thistlethwaite, Jr. 2000. Absence of host B7 expression is sufficient for long-term murine vascularized heart allograft survival. *Transplantation* 69:904-909.
- 61. Chen, L. 2004. Co-inhibitory molecules of the B7-CD28 family in the control of T-cell immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4:336-347.
- 62. Salomon, B., and J. A. Bluestone. 2001. Complexities of CD28/B7: CTLA-4 costimulatory pathways in autoimmunity and transplantation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 19:225-252.
- 63. Mandelbrot, D. A., A. J. McAdam, and A. H. Sharpe. 1999. B7-1 or B7-2 is required to produce the lymphoproliferative phenotype in mice lacking cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4). *J Exp Med* 189:435-440.
- 64. Chikuma, S., and J. A. Bluestone. 2003. CTLA-4 and tolerance: the biochemical point of view. *Immunol Res* 28:241-253.

- 65. Chen, W., W. Jin, and S. M. Wahl. 1998. Engagement of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) induces transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) production by murine CD4(+) T cells. *J Exp Med* 188:1849-1857.
- 66. Read, S., V. Malmstrom, and F. Powrie. 2000. Cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. *J Exp Med* 192:295-302.
- 67. Greenwald, R. J., V. A. Boussiotis, R. B. Lorsbach, A. K. Abbas, and A. H. Sharpe. 2001. CTLA-4 regulates induction of anergy in vivo. *Immunity* 14:145-155.
- 68. Perez, V. L., L. Van Parijs, A. Biuckians, X. X. Zheng, T. B. Strom, and A. K. Abbas. 1997. Induction of peripheral T cell tolerance in vivo requires CTLA-4 engagement. *Immunity* 6:411-417.
- 69. Murphy, K. M., and S. L. Reiner. 2002. The lineage decisions of helper T cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:933-944.
- 70. Wilson, C. B., E. Rowell, and M. Sekimata. 2009. Epigenetic control of Thelper-cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9:91-105.
- 71. Szabo, S. J., B. M. Sullivan, S. L. Peng, and L. H. Glimcher. 2003. Molecular mechanisms regulating Th1 immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21:713-758.
- 72. Reinhardt, R. L., S. J. Kang, H. E. Liang, and R. M. Locksley. 2006. T helper cell effector fates--who, how and where? *Curr Opin Immunol* 18:271-277.
- 73. Schulz, E., Mariani, L, Radbruch, A, Hofer, T. 2009. Sequential polarization and imprinting of type 1 T helper lymphocytes by interferon-gamma and interleukin-12. *Immunity* 30:673-683.
- 74. Tato, C. M., and J. J. O'Shea. 2006. Immunology: what does it mean to be just 17? *Nature* 441:166-168.
- Szabo, S. J., B. M. Sullivan, C. Stemmann, A. R. Satoskar, B. P. Sleckman, and L. H. Glimcher. 2002. Distinct effects of T-bet in TH1 lineage commitment and IFN-gamma production in CD4 and CD8 T cells. *Science* 295:338-342.
- 76. Peng, S. L. 2006. The T-box transcription factor T-bet in immunity and autoimmunity. *Cell Mol Immunol* 3:87-95.
- 77. Rodriguez, E. R., D. V. Skojec, C. D. Tan, A. A. Zachary, E. K. Kasper, J. V. Conte, and W. M. Baldwin, 3rd. 2005. Antibody-mediated rejection in human cardiac allografts: evaluation of immunoglobulins and complement activation products C4d and C3d as markers. *Am J Transplant* 5:2778-2785.
- 78. Boehm, U., T. Klamp, M. Groot, and J. C. Howard. 1997. Cellular responses to interferon-gamma. *Annu Rev Immunol* 15:749-795.
- 79. Huang, S., W. Hendriks, A. Althage, S. Hemmi, H. Bluethmann, R. Kamijo, J. Vilcek, R. M. Zinkernagel, and M. Aguet. 1993. Immune response in mice that lack the interferon-gamma receptor. *Science* 259:1742-1745.
- 80. Ho, I. C., T. S. Tai, and S. Y. Pai. 2009. GATA3 and the T-cell lineage: essential functions before and after T-helper-2-cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9:125-135.
- 81. Avni, O., D. Lee, F. Macian, S. J. Szabo, L. H. Glimcher, and A. Rao. 2002. T(H) cell differentiation is accompanied by dynamic changes in histone acetylation of cytokine genes. *Nat Immunol* 3:643-651.

- 82. Lee, G. R., P. E. Fields, and R. A. Flavell. 2001. Regulation of IL-4 gene expression by distal regulatory elements and GATA-3 at the chromatin level. *Immunity* 14:447-459.
- 83. Spilianakis, C. G., and R. A. Flavell. 2004. Long-range intrachromosomal interactions in the T helper type 2 cytokine locus. *Nat Immunol* 5:1017-1027.
- 84. Ouyang, W., M. Lohning, Z. Gao, M. Assenmacher, S. Ranganath, A. Radbruch, and K. M. Murphy. 2000. Stat6-independent GATA-3 autoactivation directs IL-4-independent Th2 development and commitment. *Immunity* 12:27-37.
- 85. Fang, T. C., Y. Yashiro-Ohtani, C. Del Bianco, D. M. Knoblock, S. C. Blacklow, and W. S. Pear. 2007. Notch directly regulates Gata3 expression during T helper 2 cell differentiation. *Immunity* 27:100-110.
- 86. Seder, R. A., W. E. Paul, S. Z. Ben-Sasson, G. S. LeGros, A. Kagey-Sobotka, F. D. Finkelman, J. H. Pierce, and M. Plaut. 1991. Production of interleukin-4 and other cytokines following stimulation of mast cell lines and in vivo mast cells/basophils. *Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol* 94:137-140.
- 87. Zheng, W., and R. A. Flavell. 1997. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. *Cell* 89:587-596.
- 88. Ouyang, W., S. H. Ranganath, K. Weindel, D. Bhattacharya, T. L. Murphy, W. C. Sha, and K. M. Murphy. 1998. Inhibition of Th1 development mediated by GATA-3 through an IL-4-independent mechanism. *Immunity* 9:745-755.
- 89. Spellberg, B., and J. E. Edwards, Jr. 2001. Type 1/Type 2 immunity in infectious diseases. *Clin Infect Dis* 32:76-102.
- 90. Barnes, P. J. 2001. Th2 cytokines and asthma: an introduction. *Respir Res* 2:64-65.
- 91. Ouyang, W., J. K. Kolls, and Y. Zheng. 2008. The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation. *Immunity* 28:454-467.
- 92. Venkatachalam, K., S. Mummidi, D. M. Cortez, S. D. Prabhu, A. J. Valente, and B. Chandrasekar. 2008. Resveratrol inhibits high glucose-induced PI3K/Akt/ERK-dependent interleukin-17 expression in primary mouse cardiac fibroblasts. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294:H2078-2087.
- 93. Bettelli, E., Y. Carrier, W. Gao, T. Korn, T. B. Strom, M. Oukka, H. L. Weiner, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 441:235-238.
- 94. Mangan, P. R., L. E. Harrington, D. B. O'Quinn, W. S. Helms, D. C. Bullard, C. O. Elson, R. D. Hatton, S. M. Wahl, T. R. Schoeb, and C. T. Weaver. 2006. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. *Nature* 441:231-234.
- 95. Korn, T., E. Bettelli, W. Gao, A. Awasthi, A. Jager, T. B. Strom, M. Oukka, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2007. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. *Nature* 448:484-487.
- 96. Aggarwal, S., N. Ghilardi, M. H. Xie, F. J. de Sauvage, and A. L. Gurney. 2003. Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. *J Biol Chem* 278:1910-1914.
- 97. Bettelli, E., T. Korn, M. Oukka, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2008. Induction and effector functions of T(H)17 cells. *Nature* 453:1051-1057.

- 98. Weaver, C. T., R. D. Hatton, P. R. Mangan, and L. E. Harrington. 2007. IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. *Annu Rev Immunol* 25:821-852.
- 99. Schwarzenberger, P., W. Huang, P. Ye, P. Oliver, M. Manuel, Z. Zhang, G. Bagby, S. Nelson, and J. K. Kolls. 2000. Requirement of endogenous stem cell factor and granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor for IL-17-mediated granulopoiesis. *J Immunol* 164:4783-4789.
- 100. Ye, P., F. H. Rodriguez, S. Kanaly, K. L. Stocking, J. Schurr, P. Schwarzenberger, P. Oliver, W. Huang, P. Zhang, J. Zhang, J. E. Shellito, G. J. Bagby, S. Nelson, K. Charrier, J. J. Peschon, and J. K. Kolls. 2001. Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colonystimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. *J Exp Med* 194:519-527.
- 101. Nakae, S., Y. Komiyama, A. Nambu, K. Sudo, M. Iwase, I. Homma, K. Sekikawa, M. Asano, and Y. Iwakura. 2002. Antigen-specific T cell sensitization is impaired in IL-17-deficient mice, causing suppression of allergic cellular and humoral responses. *Immunity* 17:375-387.
- 102. Fujino, S., A. Andoh, S. Bamba, A. Ogawa, K. Hata, Y. Araki, T. Bamba, and Y. Fujiyama. 2003. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 52:65-70.
- 103. Chabaud, M., P. Garnero, J. M. Dayer, P. A. Guerne, F. Fossiez, and P. Miossec. 2000. Contribution of interleukin 17 to synovium matrix destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Cytokine* 12:1092-1099.
- 104. Atamas, S. P., and B. White. 2003. Cytokine regulation of pulmonary fibrosis in scleroderma. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 14:537-550.
- 105. Steinman, L. 2007. A brief history of T(H)17, the first major revision in the T(H)1/T(H)2 hypothesis of T cell-mediated tissue damage. *Nat Med* 13:139-145.
- 106. Ehrlich, P. 1906. *Collected Studies on Immunity*. Wiley, New York.
- 107. Josefowicz, S. Z., and A. Rudensky. 2009. Control of regulatory T cell lineage commitment and maintenance. *Immunity* 30:616-625.
- 108. Buckner, J. H., and S. F. Ziegler. 2004. Regulating the immune system: the induction of regulatory T cells in the periphery. *Arthritis Res Ther* 6:215-222.
- 109. Boros, P., and J. S. Bromberg. 2009. Human FOXP3+ Regulatory T Cells in Transplantation. *Am J Transplant*.
- 110. Nelson, B. H. 2004. IL-2, regulatory T cells, and tolerance. *J Immunol* 172:3983-3988.
- 111. Yi, H., Y. Zhen, L. Jiang, J. Zheng, and Y. Zhao. 2006. The phenotypic characterization of naturally occurring regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells. *Cell Mol Immunol* 3:189-195.
- 112. Shevach, E. M. 2009. Mechanisms of foxp3+ T regulatory cell-mediated suppression. *Immunity* 30:636-645.
- 113. Fontenot, J. D., M. A. Gavin, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 4:330-336.

- 114. Bennett, C. L., J. Christie, F. Ramsdell, M. E. Brunkow, P. J. Ferguson, L. Whitesell, T. E. Kelly, F. T. Saulsbury, P. F. Chance, and H. D. Ochs. 2001. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. *Nat Genet* 27:20-21.
- 115. Brunkow, M. E., E. W. Jeffery, K. A. Hjerrild, B. Paeper, L. B. Clark, S. A. Yasayko, J. E. Wilkinson, D. Galas, S. F. Ziegler, and F. Ramsdell. 2001. Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. *Nat Genet* 27:68-73.
- 116. Wildin, R. S., F. Ramsdell, J. Peake, F. Faravelli, J. L. Casanova, N. Buist, E. Levy-Lahad, M. Mazzella, O. Goulet, L. Perroni, F. D. Bricarelli, G. Byrne, M. McEuen, S. Proll, M. Appleby, and M. E. Brunkow. 2001. X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. *Nat Genet* 27:18-20.
- 117. Khattri, R., D. Kasprowicz, T. Cox, M. Mortrud, M. W. Appleby, M. E. Brunkow, S. F. Ziegler, and F. Ramsdell. 2001. The amount of scurfin protein determines peripheral T cell number and responsiveness. *J Immunol* 167:6312-6320.
- 118. Chatila, T. A., F. Blaeser, N. Ho, H. M. Lederman, C. Voulgaropoulos, C. Helms, and A. M. Bowcock. 2000. JM2, encoding a fork head-related protein, is mutated in X-linked autoimmunity-allergic disregulation syndrome. *J Clin Invest* 106:R75-81.
- 119. Wan, Y. Y., and R. A. Flavell. 2007. Regulatory T-cell functions are subverted and converted owing to attenuated Foxp3 expression. *Nature* 445:766-770.
- 120. Williams, L. M., and A. Y. Rudensky. 2007. Maintenance of the Foxp3dependent developmental program in mature regulatory T cells requires continued expression of Foxp3. *Nat Immunol* 8:277-284.
- 121. Mantel, P. Y., N. Ouaked, B. Ruckert, C. Karagiannidis, R. Welz, K. Blaser, and C. B. Schmidt-Weber. 2006. Molecular mechanisms underlying FOXP3 induction in human T cells. *J Immunol* 176:3593-3602.
- 122. Vang, K. B., J. Yang, S. A. Mahmud, M. A. Burchill, A. L. Vegoe, and M. A. Farrar. 2008. IL-2, -7, and -15, but not thymic stromal lymphopoeitin, redundantly govern CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell development. *J Immunol* 181:3285-3290.
- 123. Burchill, M. A., J. Yang, C. Vogtenhuber, B. R. Blazar, and M. A. Farrar. 2007. IL-2 receptor beta-dependent STAT5 activation is required for the development of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 178:280-290.
- 124. Marie, J. C., J. J. Letterio, M. Gavin, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 201:1061-1067.
- 125. Tone, Y., K. Furuuchi, Y. Kojima, M. L. Tykocinski, M. I. Greene, and M. Tone. 2008. Smad3 and NFAT cooperate to induce Foxp3 expression through its enhancer. *Nat Immunol* 9:194-202.
- 126. Josefowicz, S. Z., C. B. Wilson, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2009. Cutting edge: TCR stimulation is sufficient for induction of Foxp3 expression in the absence of DNA methyltransferase 1. *J Immunol* 182:6648-6652.

- 127. Nishizuka, Y., and T. Sakakura. 1969. Thymus and reproduction: sex-linked dysgenesia of the gonad after neonatal thymectomy in mice. *Science* 166:753-755.
- 128. Sakaguchi, S., N. Sakaguchi, M. Asano, M. Itoh, and M. Toda. 1995. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of selftolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* 155:1151-1164.
- 129. Hori, S., M. Haury, A. Coutinho, and J. Demengeot. 2002. Specificity requirements for selection and effector functions of CD25+4+ regulatory T cells in anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99:8213-8218.
- 130. Lin, W., D. Haribhai, L. M. Relland, N. Truong, M. R. Carlson, C. B. Williams, and T. A. Chatila. 2007. Regulatory T cell development in the absence of functional Foxp3. *Nat Immunol* 8:359-368.
- 131. Gavin, M. A., J. P. Rasmussen, J. D. Fontenot, V. Vasta, V. C. Manganiello, J. A. Beavo, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2007. Foxp3-dependent programme of regulatory T-cell differentiation. *Nature* 445:771-775.
- 132. Kim, J. M., and A. Rudensky. 2006. The role of the transcription factor Foxp3 in the development of regulatory T cells. *Immunol Rev* 212:86-98.
- 133. Liston, A., and A. Y. Rudensky. 2007. Thymic development and peripheral homeostasis of regulatory T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 19:176-185.
- 134. Tai, X., M. Cowan, L. Feigenbaum, and A. Singer. 2005. CD28 costimulation of developing thymocytes induces Foxp3 expression and regulatory T cell differentiation independently of interleukin 2. *Nat Immunol* 6:152-162.
- 135. Curotto de Lafaille, M. A., and J. J. Lafaille. 2009. Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? *Immunity* 30:626-635.
- 136. Fontenot, J. D., J. P. Rasmussen, M. A. Gavin, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 6:1142-1151.
- 137. Apostolou, I., A. Sarukhan, L. Klein, and H. von Boehmer. 2002. Origin of regulatory T cells with known specificity for antigen. *Nat Immunol* 3:756-763.
- 138. Cobbold, S. P., R. Castejon, E. Adams, D. Zelenika, L. Graca, S. Humm, and H. Waldmann. 2004. Induction of foxP3+ regulatory T cells in the periphery of T cell receptor transgenic mice tolerized to transplants. *J Immunol* 172:6003-6010.
- 139. Nandakumar, S., C. W. Miller, and U. Kumaraguru. 2009. T regulatory cells: an overview and intervention techniques to modulate allergy outcome. *Clin Mol Allergy* 7:5.
- 140. Horwitz, D. A., S. G. Zheng, J. Wang, and J. D. Gray. 2008. Critical role of IL-2 and TGF-beta in generation, function and stabilization of Foxp3+CD4+ Treg. *Eur J Immunol* 38:912-915.
- 141. Shevach, E. M. 2002. CD4+ CD25+ suppressor T cells: more questions than answers. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:389-400.

- 142. Gershon, R. K., and K. Kondo. 1971. Infectious immunological tolerance. *Immunology* 21:903-914.
- Andersson, J., D. Q. Tran, M. Pesu, T. S. Davidson, H. Ramsey, J. J. O'Shea, and E. M. Shevach. 2008. CD4+ FoxP3+ regulatory T cells confer infectious tolerance in a TGF-beta-dependent manner. *J Exp Med* 205:1975-1981.
- 144. de la Rosa, M., S. Rutz, H. Dorninger, and A. Scheffold. 2004. Interleukin-2 is essential for CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell function. *Eur J Immunol* 34:2480-2488.
- 145. Shevach, E. M., R. A. DiPaolo, J. Andersson, D. M. Zhao, G. L. Stephens, and A. M. Thornton. 2006. The lifestyle of naturally occurring CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Immunol Rev* 212:60-73.
- 146. Sallusto, F., and C. R. Mackay. 2004. Chemoattractants and their receptors in homeostasis and inflammation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 16:724-731.
- 147. Chen, D., and J. S. Bromberg. 2006. T regulatory cells and migration. *Am J Transplant* 6:1518-1523.
- 148. Bevilacqua, M., E. Butcher, B. Furie, M. Gallatin, M. Gimbrone, J. Harlan, K. Kishimoto, L. Lasky, R. McEver, and et al. 1991. Selectins: a family of adhesion receptors. *Cell* 67:233.
- 149. Chen, D., N. Zhang, S. Fu, B. Schroppel, Q. Guo, A. Garin, S. A. Lira, and J. S. Bromberg. 2006. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T-cells inhibit the islet innate immune response and promote islet engraftment. *Diabetes* 55:1011-1021.
- 150. Koch, M. A., G. Tucker-Heard, N. R. Perdue, J. R. Killebrew, K. B. Urdahl, and D. J. Campbell. 2009. The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation. *Nat Immunol* 10:595-602.
- 151. Iellem, A., M. Mariani, R. Lang, H. Recalde, P. Panina-Bordignon, F. Sinigaglia, and D. D'Ambrosio. 2001. Unique chemotactic response profile and specific expression of chemokine receptors CCR4 and CCR8 by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 194:847-853.
- 152. Colantonio, L., A. Iellem, F. Sinigaglia, and D. D'Ambrosio. 2002. Skin-homing CLA+ T cells and regulatory CD25+ T cells represent major subsets of human peripheral blood memory T cells migrating in response to CCL1/I-309. *Eur J Immunol* 32:3506-3514.
- 153. Curiel, T. J., G. Coukos, L. Zou, X. Alvarez, P. Cheng, P. Mottram, M. Evdemon-Hogan, J. R. Conejo-Garcia, L. Zhang, M. Burow, Y. Zhu, S. Wei, I. Kryczek, B. Daniel, A. Gordon, L. Myers, A. Lackner, M. L. Disis, K. L. Knutson, L. Chen, and W. Zou. 2004. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* 10:942-949.
- 154. Lee, I., L. Wang, A. D. Wells, M. E. Dorf, E. Ozkaynak, and W. W. Hancock. 2005. Recruitment of Foxp3+ T regulatory cells mediating allograft tolerance depends on the CCR4 chemokine receptor. *J Exp Med* 201:1037-1044.
- 155. Siegmund, K., M. Feuerer, C. Siewert, S. Ghani, U. Haubold, A. Dankof, V. Krenn, M. P. Schon, A. Scheffold, J. B. Lowe, A. Hamann, U. Syrbe, and J. Huehn. 2005. Migration matters: regulatory T-cell compartmentalization determines suppressive activity in vivo. *Blood* 106:3097-3104.
- 156. Khan, A. I., and P. Kubes. 2003. L-selectin: an emerging player in chemokine function. *Microcirculation* 10:351-358.
- 157. Fu, S., A. C. Yopp, X. Mao, D. Chen, N. Zhang, M. Mao, Y. Ding, and J. S. Bromberg. 2004. CD4+ CD25+ CD62+ T-regulatory cell subset has optimal suppressive and proliferative potential. *Am J Transplant* 4:65-78.
- 158. Szanya, V., J. Ermann, C. Taylor, C. Holness, and C. G. Fathman. 2002. The subpopulation of CD4+CD25+ splenocytes that delays adoptive transfer of diabetes expresses L-selectin and high levels of CCR7. *J Immunol* 169:2461-2465.
- 159. Ochando, J. C., A. C. Yopp, Y. Yang, A. Garin, Y. Li, P. Boros, J. Llodra, Y. Ding, S. A. Lira, N. R. Krieger, and J. S. Bromberg. 2005. Lymph node occupancy is required for the peripheral development of alloantigen-specific Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 174:6993-7005.
- 160. Oberle, N., N. Eberhardt, C. S. Falk, P. H. Krammer, and E. Suri-Payer. 2007. Rapid suppression of cytokine transcription in human CD4+CD25 T cells by CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells: independence of IL-2 consumption, TGFbeta, and various inhibitors of TCR signaling. *J Immunol* 179:3578-3587.
- 161. Takahashi, T., Y. Kuniyasu, M. Toda, N. Sakaguchi, M. Itoh, M. Iwata, J. Shimizu, and S. Sakaguchi. 1998. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. *Int Immunol* 10:1969-1980.
- 162. Thornton, A. M., and E. M. Shevach. 1998. CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. *J Exp Med* 188:287-296.
- 163. Pandiyan, P., L. Zheng, S. Ishihara, J. Reed, and M. J. Lenardo. 2007. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* 8:1353-1362.
- 164. Li, M. O., Y. Y. Wan, S. Sanjabi, A. K. Robertson, and R. A. Flavell. 2006. Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 24:99-146.
- 165. Govinden, R., and K. D. Bhoola. 2003. Genealogy, expression, and cellular function of transforming growth factor-beta. *Pharmacol Ther* 98:257-265.
- 166. Dubois, C. M., M. H. Laprise, F. Blanchette, L. E. Gentry, and R. Leduc. 1995. Processing of transforming growth factor beta 1 precursor by human furin convertase. *J Biol Chem* 270:10618-10624.
- 167. Annes, J. P., J. S. Munger, and D. B. Rifkin. 2003. Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. *J Cell Sci* 116:217-224.
- 168. Shi, Y., and J. Massague. 2003. Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. *Cell* 113:685-700.
- 169. Shull, M. M., I. Ormsby, A. B. Kier, S. Pawlowski, R. J. Diebold, M. Yin, R. Allen, C. Sidman, G. Proetzel, D. Calvin, and et al. 1992. Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature* 359:693-699.

- 170. Gorelik, L., and R. A. Flavell. 2000. Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* 12:171-181.
- 171. Waldmann, H., and S. Cobbold. 2001. Regulating the immune response to transplants. a role for CD4+ regulatory cells? *Immunity* 14:399-406.
- 172. Levings, M. K., R. Bacchetta, U. Schulz, and M. G. Roncarolo. 2002. The role of IL-10 and TGF-beta in the differentiation and effector function of T regulatory cells. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 129:263-276.
- 173. Nakamura, K., A. Kitani, and W. Strober. 2001. Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta. *J Exp Med* 194:629-644.
- 174. Gorelik, L., S. Constant, and R. A. Flavell. 2002. Mechanism of transforming growth factor beta-induced inhibition of T helper type 1 differentiation. *J Exp Med* 195:1499-1505.
- 175. Gorham, J. D., M. L. Guler, D. Fenoglio, U. Gubler, and K. M. Murphy. 1998. Low dose TGF-beta attenuates IL-12 responsiveness in murine Th cells. *J Immunol* 161:1664-1670.
- 176. Gorelik, L., P. E. Fields, and R. A. Flavell. 2000. Cutting edge: TGF-beta inhibits Th type 2 development through inhibition of GATA-3 expression. *J Immunol* 165:4773-4777.
- 177. Chen, C. H., C. Seguin-Devaux, N. A. Burke, T. B. Oriss, S. C. Watkins, N. Clipstone, and A. Ray. 2003. Transforming growth factor beta blocks Tec kinase phosphorylation, Ca2+ influx, and NFATc translocation causing inhibition of T cell differentiation. *J Exp Med* 197:1689-1699.
- 178. Rubtsov, Y. P., and A. Y. Rudensky. 2007. TGFbeta signalling in control of Tcell-mediated self-reactivity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 7:443-453.
- 179. Cazac, B. B., and J. Roes. 2000. TGF-beta receptor controls B cell responsiveness and induction of IgA in vivo. *Immunity* 13:443-451.
- 180. Stavnezer, J. 1995. Regulation of antibody production and class switching by TGF-beta. *J Immunol* 155:1647-1651.
- 181. Kehrl, J. H., A. Taylor, S. J. Kim, and A. S. Fauci. 1991. Transforming growth factor-beta is a potent negative regulator of human lymphocytes. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 628:345-353.
- 182. Briskin, M., M. D. Kuwabara, D. S. Sigman, and R. Wall. 1988. Induction of kappa transcription by interferon-gamma without activation of NF-kappa B. *Science* 242:1036-1037.
- 183. Arsura, M., M. Wu, and G. E. Sonenshein. 1996. TGF beta 1 inhibits NF-kappa B/Rel activity inducing apoptosis of B cells: transcriptional activation of I kappa B alpha. *Immunity* 5:31-40.
- 184. Stander, M., U. Naumann, W. Wick, and M. Weller. 1999. Transforming growth factor-beta and p-21: multiple molecular targets of decorin-mediated suppression of neoplastic growth. *Cell Tissue Res* 296:221-227.
- 185. Krusius, T., and E. Ruoslahti. 1986. Primary structure of an extracellular matrix proteoglycan core protein deduced from cloned cDNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83:7683-7687.

- 186. Groeneveld, T. W., M. Oroszlan, R. T. Owens, M. C. Faber-Krol, A. C. Bakker, G. J. Arlaud, D. J. McQuillan, U. Kishore, M. R. Daha, and A. Roos. 2005. Interactions of the extracellular matrix proteoglycans decorin and biglycan with C1q and collectins. *J Immunol* 175:4715-4723.
- 187. Iozzo, R. V., D. K. Moscatello, D. J. McQuillan, and I. Eichstetter. 1999. Decorin is a biological ligand for the epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Biol Chem* 274:4489-4492.
- 188. Border, W. A., N. A. Noble, T. Yamamoto, J. R. Harper, Y. Yamaguchi, M. D. Pierschbacher, and E. Ruoslahti. 1992. Natural inhibitor of transforming growth factor-beta protects against scarring in experimental kidney disease. *Nature* 360:361-364.
- 189. Danielson, K. G., H. Baribault, D. F. Holmes, H. Graham, K. E. Kadler, and R. V. Iozzo. 1997. Targeted disruption of decorin leads to abnormal collagen fibril morphology and skin fragility. *J Cell Biol* 136:729-743.
- 190. Border, W. A., S. Okuda, T. Nakamura, L. R. Languino, and E. Ruoslahti. 1991. Role of TGF-beta 1 in experimental glomerulonephritis. *Ciba Found Symp* 157:178-189; discussion 189-193.
- 191. Giri, S. N., D. M. Hyde, R. K. Braun, W. Gaarde, J. R. Harper, and M. D. Pierschbacher. 1997. Antifibrotic effect of decorin in a bleomycin hamster model of lung fibrosis. *Biochem Pharmacol* 54:1205-1216.
- 192. Hirsch, C. S., J. J. Ellner, R. Blinkhorn, and Z. Toossi. 1997. In vitro restoration of T cell responses in tuberculosis and augmentation of monocyte effector function against Mycobacterium tuberculosis by natural inhibitors of transforming growth factor beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94:3926-3931.
- 193. Yamaguchi, Y., D. M. Mann, and E. Ruoslahti. 1990. Negative regulation of transforming growth factor-beta by the proteoglycan decorin. *Nature* 346:281-284.
- 194. Stander, M., U. Naumann, L. Dumitrescu, M. Heneka, P. Loschmann, E. Gulbins, J. Dichgans, and M. Weller. 1998. Decorin gene transfer-mediated suppression of TGF-beta synthesis abrogates experimental malignant glioma growth in vivo. *Gene Ther* 5:1187-1194.
- 195. Abdel-Wahab, N., S. J. Wicks, R. M. Mason, and A. Chantry. 2002. Decorin suppresses transforming growth factor-beta-induced expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in human mesangial cells through a mechanism that involves Ca2+-dependent phosphorylation of Smad2 at serine-240. *Biochem J* 362:643-649.
- 196. Isaka, Y., D. K. Brees, K. Ikegaya, Y. Kaneda, E. Imai, N. A. Noble, and W. A. Border. 1996. Gene therapy by skeletal muscle expression of decorin prevents fibrotic disease in rat kidney. *Nat Med* 2:418-423.
- 197. Jahanyar, J., D. L. Joyce, R. E. Southard, M. Loebe, G. P. Noon, M. M. Koerner, G. Torre-Amione, and K. A. Youker. 2007. Decorin-mediated transforming growth factor-beta inhibition ameliorates adverse cardiac remodeling. *J Heart Lung Transplant* 26:34-40.
- 198. Kolb, M., P. J. Margetts, T. Galt, P. J. Sime, Z. Xing, M. Schmidt, and J. Gauldie. 2001. Transient transgene expression of decorin in the lung reduces the fibrotic response to bleomycin. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 163:770-777.

- 199. Akhurst, R. J. 2006. A sweet link between TGFbeta and vascular disease? *Nat Genet* 38:400-401.
- 200. Orosz, C. G., Bergese, S.D., Wakely E., Xia, D., Gordillo, G.M., VanBuskirk, A.M. . 1997. Acute versus chronic graft rejection: related manifestations of allosensitization in graft recipients. *Transplantation Review* 11:38-50.
- 201. LaRosa, D. F., A. H. Rahman, and L. A. Turka. 2007. The innate immune system in allograft rejection and tolerance. *J Immunol* 178:7503-7509.
- 202. Kapoor, A., and Fairchild, R. 2000. Early and late chemokine cascades during acute allograft rejection. *Transplantation Reviews* 14:82-95.
- 203. Kirby, J. A. a. W., J.L. 1994. Allograft rejection: the role played by adhesion molecules. *Transplantation Reviews* 8:114-126.
- 204. Morgan, C. J., R. P. Pelletier, C. J. Hernandez, D. L. Teske, E. Huang, R. Ohye, C. G. Orosz, and R. M. Ferguson. 1993. Alloantigen-dependent endothelial phenotype and lymphokine mRNA expression in rejecting murine cardiac allografts. *Transplantation* 55:919-924.
- 205. Foley, D. a. C., R. 2007. Ischemia-reperfusion injury in transplantation: novel mechanisms and protective strategies. *Transplantation Reviews* 21:43-53.
- 206. Takada, M., K. C. Nadeau, W. W. Hancock, H. S. Mackenzie, G. D. Shaw, A. M. Waaga, A. Chandraker, M. H. Sayegh, and N. L. Tilney. 1998. Effects of explosive brain death on cytokine activation of peripheral organs in the rat. *Transplantation* 65:1533-1542.
- 207. Shoskes, D. A., and P. F. Halloran. 1996. Delayed graft function in renal transplantation: etiology, management and long-term significance. *J Urol* 155:1831-1840.
- 208. Russell, M. E., D. H. Adams, L. R. Wyner, Y. Yamashita, N. J. Halnon, and M. J. Karnovsky. 1993. Early and persistent induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in rat cardiac allografts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:6086-6090.
- 209. Richards, D. M., N. Zhang, S. L. Dalheimer, and D. L. Mueller. 2007. Allopeptide-specific CD4(+) T cells facilitate the differentiation of directly alloreactive graft-infiltrating CD8(+) T Cells. *Am J Transplant* 7:2269-2278.
- 210. Strom, T. B., N. L. Tilney, C. B. Carpenter, and G. J. Busch. 1975. Identity and cytotoxic capacity of cells infiltrating renal allografts. *N Engl J Med* 292:1257-1263.
- 211. Rosenberg, A. S., T. Mizuochi, S. O. Sharrow, and A. Singer. 1987. Phenotype, specificity, and function of T cell subsets and T cell interactions involved in skin allograft rejection. *J Exp Med* 165:1296-1315.
- 212. Sale, G. 1990. *The Pathology of Organ Transplantation*. Butterworth Publishers, Stoneham.
- 213. Dalloul, A. H., E. Chmouzis, K. Ngo, and W. P. Fung-Leung. 1996. Adoptively transferred CD4+ lymphocytes from CD8 -/- mice are sufficient to mediate the rejection of MHC class II or class I disparate skin grafts. *J Immunol* 156:4114-4119.
- 214. Caves, P. K., E. B. Stinson, M. E. Billingham, and N. E. Shumway. 1974. Serial transvenous biopsy of the transplanted human heart. Improved management of acute rejection episodes. *Lancet* 1:821-826.

- 215. Fishbein, M. C., and J. Kobashigawa. 2004. Biopsy-negative cardiac transplant rejection: etiology, diagnosis, and therapy. *Curr Opin Cardiol* 19:166-169.
- 216. Hammond, E. H., R. L. Yowell, S. Nunoda, R. L. Menlove, D. G. Renlund, M. R. Bristow, W. A. Gay, Jr., K. W. Jones, and J. B. O'Connell. 1989. Vascular (humoral) rejection in heart transplantation: pathologic observations and clinical implications. *J Heart Transplant* 8:430-443.
- 217. Feucht, H. E., H. Schneeberger, G. Hillebrand, K. Burkhardt, M. Weiss, G. Riethmuller, W. Land, and E. Albert. 1993. Capillary deposition of C4d complement fragment and early renal graft loss. *Kidney Int* 43:1333-1338.
- 218. Murata, K., and W. M. Baldwin, 3rd. 2009. Mechanisms of complement activation, C4d deposition, and their contribution to the pathogenesis of antibody-mediated rejection. *Transplant Rev (Orlando)* 23:139-150.
- 219. Baldwin, W. M., 3rd, E. K. Kasper, A. A. Zachary, B. A. Wasowska, and E. R. Rodriguez. 2004. Beyond C4d: other complement-related diagnostic approaches to antibody-mediated rejection. *Am J Transplant* 4:311-318.
- 220. Racusen, L. C. 2003. Immunopathology of organ transplantation. *Springer Semin Immunopathol* 25:141-165.
- 221. Bach, F. H. 1998. Xenotransplantation: problems and prospects. *Annu Rev Med* 49:301-310.
- 222. Sprangers, B., M. Waer, and A. D. Billiau. 2008. Xenotransplantation: where are we in 2008? *Kidney Int* 74:14-21.
- 223. Waaga, A. M., M. Gasser, I. Laskowski, and N. L. Tilney. 2000. Mechanisms of chronic rejection. *Curr Opin Immunol* 12:517-521.
- 224. Weis, M., and W. von Scheidt. 1997. Cardiac allograft vasculopathy: a review. *Circulation* 96:2069-2077.
- 225. Tullius, S. G., and N. L. Tilney. 1995. Both alloantigen-dependent and independent factors influence chronic allograft rejection. *Transplantation* 59:313-318.
- 226. Wehner, J., C. N. Morrell, T. Reynolds, E. R. Rodriguez, and W. M. Baldwin, 3rd. 2007. Antibody and complement in transplant vasculopathy. *Circ Res* 100:191-203.
- 227. Russell, P. S., C. M. Chase, H. J. Winn, and R. B. Colvin. 1994. Coronary atherosclerosis in transplanted mouse hearts. II. Importance of humoral immunity. *J Immunol* 152:5135-5141.
- 228. Libby, P., and J. S. Pober. 2001. Chronic rejection. *Immunity* 14:387-397.
- 229. Pedagogos, E., T. D. Hewitson, R. G. Walker, K. M. Nicholis, and G. J. Becker. 1997. Myofibroblast involvement in chronic transplant rejection. *Transplantation* 64:1192-1197.
- 230. Cailhier, J. F., P. Laplante, and M. J. Hebert. 2006. Endothelial apoptosis and chronic transplant vasculopathy: recent results, novel mechanisms. *Am J Transplant* 6:247-253.
- 231. Pohlers, D., J. Brenmoehl, I. Loffler, C. K. Muller, C. Leipner, S. Schultze-Mosgau, A. Stallmach, R. W. Kinne, and G. Wolf. 2009. TGF-beta and fibrosis in different organs - molecular pathway imprints. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1792:746-756.

- 232. Csencsits, K., S. C. Wood, G. Lu, S. M. Faust, D. Brigstock, E. J. Eichwald, C. G. Orosz, and D. K. Bishop. 2006. Transforming growth factor beta-induced connective tissue growth factor and chronic allograft rejection. *Am J Transplant* 6:959-966.
- 233. Leask, A. 2007. TGFbeta, cardiac fibroblasts, and the fibrotic response. *Cardiovasc Res* 74:207-212.
- 234. Petrov, V. V., R. H. Fagard, and P. J. Lijnen. 2002. Stimulation of collagen production by transforming growth factor-beta1 during differentiation of cardiac fibroblasts to myofibroblasts. *Hypertension* 39:258-263.
- 235. Csencsits, K., S. C. Wood, G. Lu, and D. K. Bishop. 2005. Transforming growth factor-beta1 gene transfer is associated with the development of regulatory cells. *Am J Transplant* 5:2378-2384.
- 236. Grotendorst, G. R., H. Rahmanie, and M. R. Duncan. 2004. Combinatorial signaling pathways determine fibroblast proliferation and myofibroblast differentiation. *FASEB J* 18:469-479.
- 237. Lijnen, P., V. Petrov, K. Rumilla, and R. Fagard. 2003. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 promotes contraction of collagen gel by cardiac fibroblasts through their differentiation into myofibroblasts. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol* 25:79-86.
- 238. Waldmann, H., and S. Cobbold. 2004. Exploiting tolerance processes in transplantation. *Science* 305:209-212.
- 239. Al-khaldi, A., and R. C. Robbins. 2006. New directions in cardiac transplantation. *Annu Rev Med* 57:455-471.
- 240. Jiang, S., R. I. Lechler, X. S. He, and J. F. Huang. 2006. Regulatory T cells and transplantation tolerance. *Hum Immunol* 67:765-776.
- 241. Womer, K. L., R. S. Lee, J. C. Madsen, and M. H. Sayegh. 2001. Tolerance and chronic rejection. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356:727-738.
- 242. Guenther, D. A., and J. C. Madsen. 2005. Advances in strategies for inducing central tolerance in organ allograft recipients. *Pediatr Transplant* 9:277-281.
- 243. Wekerle, T., and M. Sykes. 1999. Mixed chimerism as an approach for the induction of transplantation tolerance. *Transplantation* 68:459-467.
- 244. Orloff, S. L., Q. Yin, C. L. Corless, M. S. Orloff, J. M. Rabkin, and C. R. Wagner. 2000. Tolerance induced by bone marrow chimerism prevents transplant vascular sclerosis in a rat model of small bowel transplant chronic rejection. *Transplantation* 69:1295-1303.
- 245. Orloff, M. S., E. M. DeMara, M. L. Coppage, N. Leong, M. A. Fallon, J. Sickel, X. J. Zuo, J. Prehn, and S. C. Jordan. 1995. Prevention of chronic rejection and graft arteriosclerosis by tolerance induction. *Transplantation* 59:282-288.
- 246. Prigozhina, T. B., G. Elkin, and S. Slavin. 2007. Deletion of donor-reactive cells as a new conditioning regimen for allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 39:678-684.
- 247. Chernyakhovskaya, I. Y., E. V. Nagurskaya, G. B. Shaposhnikova, T. B. Prigozhina, and L. N. Fontalin. 1980. Tolerance to allogeneic and to xenogeneic heart grafts provided by thymectomy of adult mice combined with donor cell and cyclophosphamide inoculation. *Transplantation* 29:409-412.

- 248. Mayumi, H., M. Umesue, and K. Nomoto. 1996. Cyclophosphamide-induced immunological tolerance: an overview. *Immunobiology* 195:129-139.
- 249. Sayegh, M. H., and L. A. Turka. 1998. The role of T-cell costimulatory activation pathways in transplant rejection. *N Engl J Med* 338:1813-1821.
- 250. Yamada, K., A. Shimizu, F. L. Ierino, R. Utsugi, R. N. Barth, N. Esnaola, R. B. Colvin, and D. H. Sachs. 1999. Thymic transplantation in miniature swine. I. Development and function of the "thymokidney". *Transplantation* 68:1684-1692.
- 251. Lambrigts, D., M. T. Menard, G. P. Alexandre, C. Franssen, M. Meurisse, P. Van Calster, F. Coignoul, K. Mawulawde, J. K. Choo, K. Yamada, A. E. Erhorn, J. K. Slisz, P. Chiotellis, H. T. Aretz, D. H. Sachs, and J. C. Madsen. 1998. Creation of the "thymoheart" allograft: implantation of autologous thymus into the heart prior to procurement. *Transplantation* 66:810-814.
- 252. Yamada, K., A. Shimizu, R. Utsugi, F. L. Ierino, P. Gargollo, G. W. Haller, R. B. Colvin, and D. H. Sachs. 2000. Thymic transplantation in miniature swine. II. Induction of tolerance by transplantation of composite thymokidneys to thymectomized recipients. *J Immunol* 164:3079-3086.
- Menard, M. T., M. L. Schwarze, J. S. Allan, D. R. Johnston, K. Mawulawde, A. Shimizu, K. Yamada, S. L. Houser, K. S. Allison, D. H. Sachs, and J. C. Madsen. 2004. Composite "thymoheart" transplantation improves cardiac allograft survival. *Am J Transplant* 4:79-86.
- 254. Bolton, E. M. 2005. Regulatory T cells in transplantation: natural or induced? *Transplantation* 79:643-645.
- 255. Sakaguchi, S., N. Sakaguchi, J. Shimizu, S. Yamazaki, T. Sakihama, M. Itoh, Y. Kuniyasu, T. Nomura, M. Toda, and T. Takahashi. 2001. Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: their common role in controlling autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. *Immunol Rev* 182:18-32.
- 256. Jiang, S., and R. I. Lechler. 2003. Regulatory T cells in the control of transplantation tolerance and autoimmunity. *Am J Transplant* 3:516-524.
- 257. Xia, G., R. L. Truitt, and B. D. Johnson. 2006. Graft-versus-leukemia and graftversus-host reactions after donor lymphocyte infusion are initiated by hosttype antigen-presenting cells and regulated by regulatory T cells in early and long-term chimeras. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 12:397-407.
- 258. Xia, G., M. Kovochich, R. L. Truitt, and B. D. Johnson. 2004. Tracking ex vivoexpanded CD4+CD25+ and CD8+CD25+ regulatory T cells after infusion to prevent donor lymphocyte infusion-induced lethal acute graft-versus-host disease. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 10:748-760.
- 259. Li, W., C. S. Kuhr, X. X. Zheng, K. Carper, A. W. Thomson, J. D. Reyes, and J. D. Perkins. 2008. New insights into mechanisms of spontaneous liver transplant tolerance: the role of Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Am J Transplant* 8:1639-1651.
- 260. Fucs, R., J. T. Jesus, P. H. Souza Junior, L. Franco, M. Vericimo, M. Bellio, and A. Nobrega. 2006. Frequency of natural regulatory CD4+CD25+ T lymphocytes determines the outcome of tolerance across fully mismatched MHC barrier

through linked recognition of self and allogeneic stimuli. *J Immunol* 176:2324-2329.

- 261. Benghiat, F. S., L. Graca, M. Y. Braun, S. Detienne, F. Moore, S. Buonocore, V. Flamand, H. Waldmann, M. Goldman, and A. Le Moine. 2005. Critical influence of natural regulatory CD25+ T cells on the fate of allografts in the absence of immunosuppression. *Transplantation* 79:648-654.
- 262. Xia, G., M. Shah, and X. Luo. 2009. Prevention of allograft rejection by amplification of Foxp3(+)CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. *Transl Res* 153:60-70.
- 263. Joffre, O., T. Santolaria, D. Calise, T. Al Saati, D. Hudrisier, P. Romagnoli, and J. P. van Meerwijk. 2008. Prevention of acute and chronic allograft rejection with CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T lymphocytes. *Nat Med* 14:88-92.
- 264. Muthukumar, T., D. Dadhania, R. Ding, C. Snopkowski, R. Naqvi, J. B. Lee, C. Hartono, B. Li, V. K. Sharma, S. V. Seshan, S. Kapur, W. W. Hancock, J. E. Schwartz, and M. Suthanthiran. 2005. Messenger RNA for FOXP3 in the urine of renal-allograft recipients. *N Engl J Med* 353:2342-2351.
- 265. Meloni, F., P. Vitulo, A. M. Bianco, E. Paschetto, M. Morosini, A. Cascina, I. Mazzucchelli, L. Ciardelli, T. Oggionni, A. M. Fietta, E. Pozzi, and M. Vigano. 2004. Regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells in the peripheral blood of lung transplant recipients: correlation with transplant outcome. *Transplantation* 77:762-766.
- Salama, A. D., N. Najafian, M. R. Clarkson, W. E. Harmon, and M. H. Sayegh.
   2003. Regulatory CD25+ T cells in human kidney transplant recipients. *J Am* Soc Nephrol 14:1643-1651.
- 267. Golshayan, D., S. Jiang, J. Tsang, M. I. Garin, C. Mottet, and R. I. Lechler. 2007. In vitro-expanded donor alloantigen-specific CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells promote experimental transplantation tolerance. *Blood* 109:827-835.
- 268. Kapp, J. A., K. Honjo, L. M. Kapp, X. Xu, A. Cozier, and R. P. Bucy. 2006. TCR transgenic CD8+ T cells activated in the presence of TGFbeta express FoxP3 and mediate linked suppression of primary immune responses and cardiac allograft rejection. *Int Immunol* 18:1549-1562.
- 269. Gondek, D. C., L. F. Lu, S. A. Quezada, S. Sakaguchi, and R. J. Noelle. 2005. Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforin-independent mechanism. *J Immunol* 174:1783-1786.
- 270. Wood, K. J., and S. Sakaguchi. 2003. Regulatory T cells in transplantation tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:199-210.
- 271. Benghiat, F. S., L. Craciun, V. De Wilde, T. Dernies, C. Kubjak, F. Lhomme, M. Goldman, and A. Le Moine. 2008. IL-17 production elicited by allo-major histocompatibility complex class II recognition depends on CD25posCD4pos T cells. *Transplantation* 85:943-949.
- 272. Wells, A. D., X. C. Li, Y. Li, M. C. Walsh, X. X. Zheng, Z. Wu, G. Nunez, A. Tang, M. Sayegh, W. W. Hancock, T. B. Strom, and L. A. Turka. 1999. Requirement for T-cell apoptosis in the induction of peripheral transplantation tolerance. *Nat Med* 5:1303-1307.

- 273. Schwartz, R. H. 1990. A cell culture model for T lymphocyte clonal anergy. *Science* 248:1349-1356.
- 274. Chen, Y. M., W. K. Yang, J. Whang-Peng, W. Y. Tsai, Y. M. Hung, D. M. Yang, W. C. Lin, R. P. Perng, and C. C. Ting. 1997. Restoration of the immunocompetence by IL-2 activation and TCR-CD3 engagement of the in vivo anergized tumor-specific CTL from lung cancer patients. *J Immunother* 20:354-364.
- 275. Gimmi, C. D., G. J. Freeman, J. G. Gribben, G. Gray, and L. M. Nadler. 1993. Human T-cell clonal anergy is induced by antigen presentation in the absence of B7 costimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:6586-6590.
- 276. Sun, C. M., J. A. Hall, R. B. Blank, N. Bouladoux, M. Oukka, J. R. Mora, and Y. Belkaid. 2007. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. *J Exp Med* 204:1775-1785.
- 277. Larsen, C. P., D. Z. Alexander, D. Hollenbaugh, E. T. Elwood, S. C. Ritchie, A. Aruffo, R. Hendrix, and T. C. Pearson. 1996. CD40-gp39 interactions play a critical role during allograft rejection. Suppression of allograft rejection by blockade of the CD40-gp39 pathway. *Transplantation* 61:4-9.
- 278. Kurtz, J., J. Shaffer, A. Lie, N. Anosova, G. Benichou, and M. Sykes. 2004. Mechanisms of early peripheral CD4 T-cell tolerance induction by anti-CD154 monoclonal antibody and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation: evidence for anergy and deletion but not regulatory cells. *Blood* 103:4336-4343.
- 279. Li, Y., X. C. Li, X. X. Zheng, A. D. Wells, L. A. Turka, and T. B. Strom. 1999. Blocking both signal 1 and signal 2 of T-cell activation prevents apoptosis of alloreactive T cells and induction of peripheral allograft tolerance. *Nat Med* 5:1298-1302.
- 280. Van Parijs, L., D. A. Peterson, and A. K. Abbas. 1998. The Fas/Fas ligand pathway and Bcl-2 regulate T cell responses to model self and foreign antigens. *Immunity* 8:265-274.
- 281. Qian, S., L. Lu, Y. Li, F. Fu, W. Li, T. E. Starzl, A. W. Thomson, and J. J. Fung. 1997. Apoptosis of graft-infiltrating cytotoxic T cells: a mechanism underlying "split tolerance" in mouse liver transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 29:1168-1169.
- 282. Haudebourg, T., N. Poirier, and B. Vanhove. 2009. Depleting T-cell subpopulations in organ transplantation. *Transpl Int* 22:509-518.
- 283. Benjamin, R. J., S. P. Cobbold, M. R. Clark, and H. Waldmann. 1986. Tolerance to rat monoclonal antibodies. Implications for serotherapy. *J Exp Med* 163:1539-1552.
- 284. Waldmann, H., E. Adams, and S. Cobbold. 2008. Reprogramming the immune system: co-receptor blockade as a paradigm for harnessing tolerance mechanisms. *Immunol Rev* 223:361-370.
- 285. Csencsits, K., B. E. Burrell, G. Lu, E. J. Eichwald, G. L. Stahl, and D. K. Bishop. 2008. The classical complement pathway in transplantation: unanticipated protective effects of C1q and role in inductive antibody therapy. *Am J Transplant* 8:1622-1630.

- 286. Pearson, T. C., J. C. Madsen, C. P. Larsen, P. J. Morris, and K. J. Wood. 1992. Induction of transplantation tolerance in adults using donor antigen and anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody. *Transplantation* 54:475-483.
- 287. Sablinski, T., W. W. Hancock, N. L. Tilney, and J. W. Kupiec-Weglinski. 1991. CD4 monoclonal antibodies in organ transplantation--a review of progress. *Transplantation* 52:579-589.
- 288. Cosimi, A. B., R. C. Burton, P. C. Kung, R. Colvin, G. Goldstein, J. Lifter, W. Rhodes, and P. S. Russell. 1981. Evaluation in primate renal allograft recipients of monoclonal antibody to human T-cell subclasses. *Transplant Proc* 13:499-503.
- 289. Cobbold, S. P., G. Martin, S. Qin, and H. Waldmann. 1986. Monoclonal antibodies to promote marrow engraftment and tissue graft tolerance. *Nature* 323:164-166.
- 290. Chace, J. H., J. S. Cowdery, and E. H. Field. 1994. Effect of anti-CD4 on CD4 subsets. I. Anti-CD4 preferentially deletes resting, naive CD4 cells and spares activated CD4 cells. *J Immunol* 152:405-412.
- 291. Goebel, J., K. J. Forrest, J. Mikovits, F. Emmrich, H. D. Volk, and R. P. Lowry. 2001. STAT5 pathway: target of anti-CD4 antibody in attenuation of IL-2 receptor signaling. *Transplantation* 71:792-796.
- 292. Yi, H., Y. Zhen, C. Zeng, L. Zhang, and Y. Zhao. 2008. Depleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (GK1.5) treatment: influence on regulatory CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells in mice. *Transplantation* 85:1167-1174.
- 293. Wise, M. P., F. Bemelman, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 1998. Linked suppression of skin graft rejection can operate through indirect recognition. *J Immunol* 161:5813-5816.
- 294. Diaz, J. A., A. J. Booth, G. Lu, S. C. Wood, D. J. Pinsky, and D. K. Bishop. 2009. Critical role for IL-6 in hypertrophy and fibrosis in chronic cardiac allograft rejection. *Am J Transplant* 9:1773-1783.
- 295. Piccotti, J. R., K. Li, S. Y. Chan, E. J. Eichwald, and D. K. Bishop. 1999. Cytokine regulation of chronic cardiac allograft rejection: evidence against a role for Th1 in the disease process. *Transplantation* 67:1548-1555.
- 296. Bishop, D. K., W. Li, S. Y. Chan, R. D. Ensley, J. Shelby, and E. J. Eichwald. 1994. Helper T lymphocyte unresponsiveness to cardiac allografts following transient depletion of CD4-positive cells. Implications for cellular and humoral responses. *Transplantation* 58:576-584.
- 297. Wood, S. C., G. Lu, B. E. Burrell, and D. K. Bishop. 2008. Transplant acceptance following anti-CD4 versus anti-CD40L therapy: evidence for differential maintenance of graft-reactive T cells. *Am J Transplant* 8:2037-2048.
- 298. Waldmann, H., T. C. Chen, L. Graca, E. Adams, S. Daley, S. Cobbold, and P. J. Fairchild. 2006. Regulatory T cells in transplantation. *Semin Immunol* 18:111-119.
- 299. Daley, S. R., J. Ma, E. Adams, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2007. A key role for TGF-beta signaling to T cells in the long-term acceptance of allografts. *J Immunol* 179:3648-3654.
- 300. Blair, P. J., J. L. Riley, D. M. Harlan, R. Abe, D. K. Tadaki, S. C. Hoffmann, L. White, T. Francomano, S. J. Perfetto, A. D. Kirk, and C. H. June. 2000. CD40

ligand (CD154) triggers a short-term CD4(+) T cell activation response that results in secretion of immunomodulatory cytokines and apoptosis. *J Exp Med* 191:651-660.

- 301. Graca, L., K. Honey, E. Adams, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2000. Cutting edge: anti-CD154 therapeutic antibodies induce infectious transplantation tolerance. *J Immunol* 165:4783-4786.
- 302. Sebille, F., B. Vanhove, and J. P. Soulillou. 2001. Mechanisms of tolerance induction: blockade of co-stimulation. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356:649-657.
- 303. Monk, N. J., R. E. Hargreaves, J. E. Marsh, C. A. Farrar, S. H. Sacks, M. Millrain, E. Simpson, J. Dyson, and S. Jurcevic. 2003. Fc-dependent depletion of activated T cells occurs through CD40L-specific antibody rather than costimulation blockade. *Nat Med* 9:1275-1280.
- 304. Zelenika, D., E. Adams, S. Humm, L. Graca, S. Thompson, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2002. Regulatory T cells overexpress a subset of Th2 gene transcripts. *J Immunol* 168:1069-1079.
- 305. Waldmann, H., L. Graca, S. Cobbold, E. Adams, M. Tone, and Y. Tone. 2004. Regulatory T cells and organ transplantation. *Semin Immunol* 16:119-126.
- 306. Norman, D. a. S., Wadi. 1998. *Primer on Transplantation*. American Society of Transplant Physicians, Thorofare.
- 307. Goodwin, W. E., J. J. Kaufman, M. M. Mims, R. D. Turner, R. Glassock, R. Goldman, and M. M. Maxwell. 1963. Human renal transplantation. I. Clinical experiences with six cases of renal homotransplantation. *J Urol* 89:13-24.
- 308. Murray, J. E., J. P. Merrill, J. H. Harrison, R. E. Wilson, and G. J. Dammin. 1963. Prolonged survival of human-kidney homografts by immunosuppressive drug therapy. *N Engl J Med* 268:1315-1323.
- 309. Knudtzon, S., and Nissen, NI. Clinical Trial with mycophenolic acid (NSC-129185): a new antitumor agent. *Cancer Chemother Rep* 56:221-227.
- 310. Borel, J. 1982. *History of CSA and its significance.* . Elsevier Biomedical Press, Amsterdam.
- Kahan, B. D. 2009. Forty years of publication of transplantation proceedingsthe second decade: the cyclosporine revolution. *Transplant Proc* 41:1423-1437.
- 312. Kahan, B. D., J. Y. Chang, and S. N. Sehgal. 1991. Preclinical evaluation of a new potent immunosuppressive agent, rapamycin. *Transplantation* 52:185-191.
- 313. Stuart, F., Abecassis, M, and Kaufman, D. 2003. *Organ Transplantation*. Landes Bioscience, Georgetown.
- 314. Corry, R. J., H. J. Winn, and P. S. Russell. 1973. Primarily vascularized allografts of hearts in mice. The role of H-2D, H-2K, and non-H-2 antigens in rejection. *Transplantation* 16:343-350.
- 315. Chan, S. Y., K. Li, J. R. Piccotti, M. C. Louie, T. A. Judge, L. A. Turka, E. J. Eichwald, and D. K. Bishop. 1999. Tissue-specific consequences of the antiadenoviral immune response: implications for cardiac transplants. *Nat Med* 5:1143-1149.
- 316. Chan, S. Y., R. E. Goodman, J. R. Szmuszkovicz, B. Roessler, E. J. Eichwald, and D. K. Bishop. 2000. DNA-liposome versus adenoviral mediated gene transfer

of transforming growth factor beta1 in vascularized cardiac allografts: differential sensitivity of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells to transforming growth factor beta1. *Transplantation* 70:1292-1301.

- 317. Matesic, D., P. V. Lehmann, and P. S. Heeger. 1998. High-resolution characterization of cytokine-producing alloreactivity in naive and allograft-primed mice. *Transplantation* 65:906-914.
- 318. Burrell, B. E., G. Lu, X. C. Li, and D. K. Bishop. 2009. OX40 costimulation prevents allograft acceptance induced by CD40-CD40L blockade. *J Immunol* 182:379-390.
- 319. Weiss, M. J., J. C. Madsen, B. R. Rosengard, and J. S. Allan. 2008. Mechanisms of chronic rejection in cardiothoracic transplantation. *Front Biosci* 13:2980-2988.
- 320. Mannon, R. B. 2006. Therapeutic targets in the treatment of allograft fibrosis. *Am J Transplant* 6:867-875.
- 321. Orosz, C. G., and R. P. Pelletier. 1997. Chronic remodeling pathology in grafts. *Curr Opin Immunol* 9:676-680.
- 322. Garrity, E. R., Jr., and M. R. Mehra. 2004. An update on clinical outcomes in heart and lung transplantation. *Transplantation* 77:S68-74.
- 323. Ming, J. E., K. L. Russell, D. M. McDonald-McGinn, and E. H. Zackai. 2005. Autoimmune disorders in Kabuki syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* 132A:260-262.
- 324. Marie, J. C., D. Liggitt, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2006. Cellular mechanisms of fatal early-onset autoimmunity in mice with the T cell-specific targeting of transforming growth factor-beta receptor. *Immunity* 25:441-454.
- 325. Chen, W., W. Jin, N. Hardegen, K. J. Lei, L. Li, N. Marinos, G. McGrady, and S. M. Wahl. 2003. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. *J Exp Med* 198:1875-1886.
- Veldhoen, M., R. J. Hocking, C. J. Atkins, R. M. Locksley, and B. Stockinger.
   2006. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* 24:179-189.
- 327. Zhou, L., J. E. Lopes, M. M. Chong, Ivanov, II, R. Min, G. D. Victora, Y. Shen, J. Du, Y. P. Rubtsov, A. Y. Rudensky, S. F. Ziegler, and D. R. Littman. 2008. TGF-betainduced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. *Nature* 453:236-240.
- 328. Wilson, N. J., K. Boniface, J. R. Chan, B. S. McKenzie, W. M. Blumenschein, J. D. Mattson, B. Basham, K. Smith, T. Chen, F. Morel, J. C. Lecron, R. A. Kastelein, D. J. Cua, T. K. McClanahan, E. P. Bowman, and R. de Waal Malefyt. 2007. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* 8:950-957.
- 329. Bettelli, E., T. Korn, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2007. Th17: the third member of the effector T cell trilogy. *Curr Opin Immunol* 19:652-657.
- 330. Korn, T., A. C. Anderson, E. Bettelli, and M. Oukka. 2007. The dynamics of effector T cells and Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the promotion and regulation of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* 191:51-60.

- 331. Cortez, D. M., M. D. Feldman, S. Mummidi, A. J. Valente, B. Steffensen, M. Vincenti, J. L. Barnes, and B. Chandrasekar. 2007. IL-17 stimulates MMP-1 expression in primary human cardiac fibroblasts via p38 MAPK- and ERK1/2-dependent C/EBP-beta, NF-kappaB, and AP-1 activation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 293:H3356-3365.
- 332. Burlingham, W. J., R. B. Love, E. Jankowska-Gan, L. D. Haynes, Q. Xu, J. L. Bobadilla, K. C. Meyer, M. S. Hayney, R. K. Braun, D. S. Greenspan, B. Gopalakrishnan, J. Cai, D. D. Brand, S. Yoshida, O. W. Cummings, and D. S. Wilkes. 2007. IL-17-dependent cellular immunity to collagen type V predisposes to obliterative bronchiolitis in human lung transplants. *J Clin Invest* 117:3498-3506.
- 333. Molet, S., Q. Hamid, F. Davoine, E. Nutku, R. Taha, N. Page, R. Olivenstein, J. Elias, and J. Chakir. 2001. IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108:430-438.
- 334. Dubin, P. J., F. McAllister, and J. K. Kolls. 2007. Is cystic fibrosis a TH17 disease? *Inflamm Res* 56:221-227.
- 335. Fukami, N., S. Ramachandran, D. Saini, M. Walter, W. Chapman, G. A. Patterson, and T. Mohanakumar. 2009. Antibodies to MHC class I induce autoimmunity: role in the pathogenesis of chronic rejection. *J Immunol* 182:309-318.
- 336. Simonian, P. L., C. L. Roark, F. Wehrmann, A. K. Lanham, F. Diaz del Valle, W. K. Born, R. L. O'Brien, and A. P. Fontenot. 2009. Th17-polarized immune response in a murine model of hypersensitivity pneumonitis and lung fibrosis. *J Immunol* 182:657-665.
- 337. Walsh, P. T., D. K. Taylor, and L. A. Turka. 2004. Tregs and transplantation tolerance. *J Clin Invest* 114:1398-1403.
- 338. Yong, Z., L. Chang, Y. X. Mei, and L. Yi. 2007. Role and mechanisms of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in the induction and maintenance of transplantation tolerance. *Transpl Immunol* 17:120-129.
- 339. Josien, R., P. Douillard, C. Guillot, M. Muschen, I. Anegon, J. Chetritt, S. Menoret, C. Vignes, J. P. Soulillou, and M. C. Cuturi. 1998. A critical role for transforming growth factor-beta in donor transfusion-induced allograft tolerance. *J Clin Invest* 102:1920-1926.
- 340. Zelenika, D., E. Adams, A. Mellor, E. Simpson, P. Chandler, B. Stockinger, H. Waldmann, and S. P. Cobbold. 1998. Rejection of H-Y disparate skin grafts by monospecific CD4+ Th1 and Th2 cells: no requirement for CD8+ T cells or B cells. *J Immunol* 161:1868-1874.
- 341. Nathan, M. J., D. Yin, E. J. Eichwald, and D. K. Bishop. 2002. The immunobiology of inductive anti-CD40L therapy in transplantation: allograft acceptance is not dependent upon the deletion of graft-reactive T cells. *Am J Transplant* 2:323-332.
- 342. Branton, M. H., and J. B. Kopp. 1999. TGF-beta and fibrosis. *Microbes Infect* 1:1349-1365.

- 343. Jain, S., P. N. Furness, and M. L. Nicholson. 2000. The role of transforming growth factor beta in chronic renal allograft nephropathy. *Transplantation* 69:1759-1766.
- 344. Colvin, R. B. 2007. Antibody-mediated renal allograft rejection: diagnosis and pathogenesis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 18:1046-1056.
- 345. Singh, N., J. Pirsch, and M. Samaniego. 2009. Antibody-mediated rejection: treatment alternatives and outcomes. *Transplant Rev (Orlando)* 23:34-46.
- 346. Calderhead, D. M., Y. Kosaka, E. M. Manning, and R. J. Noelle. 2000. CD40-CD154 interactions in B-cell signaling. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 245:73-99.
- 347. Wasowska, B. A., Z. Qian, D. L. Cangello, E. Behrens, K. Van Tran, J. Layton, F. Sanfilippo, and W. M. Baldwin, 3rd. 2001. Passive transfer of alloantibodies restores acute cardiac rejection in IgKO mice. *Transplantation* 71:727-736.
- 348. Schubert, L. A., E. Jeffery, Y. Zhang, F. Ramsdell, and S. F. Ziegler. 2001. Scurfin (FOXP3) acts as a repressor of transcription and regulates T cell activation. *J Biol Chem* 276:37672-37679.
- 349. Fantini, M. C., C. Becker, G. Monteleone, F. Pallone, P. R. Galle, and M. F. Neurath. 2004. Cutting edge: TGF-beta induces a regulatory phenotype in CD4+CD25- T cells through Foxp3 induction and down-regulation of Smad7. *J Immunol* 172:5149-5153.
- Wakashin, H., K. Hirose, Y. Maezawa, S. Kagami, A. Suto, N. Watanabe, Y. Saito, M. Hatano, T. Tokuhisa, Y. Iwakura, P. Puccetti, I. Iwamoto, and H. Nakajima.
  2008. IL-23 and Th17 cells enhance Th2-cell-mediated eosinophilic airway inflammation in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 178:1023-1032.
- 351. Deleuran, B., and D. J. Abraham. 2007. Possible implication of the effector CD4+ T-cell subpopulation TH17 in the pathogenesis of systemic scleroderma. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol* 3:682-683.
- 352. Rahimi, S., Z. Qian, J. Layton, K. Fox-Talbot, W. M. Baldwin, 3rd, and B. A. Wasowska. 2004. Non-complement- and complement-activating antibodies synergize to cause rejection of cardiac allografts. *Am J Transplant* 4:326-334.
- 353. Behr, T. M., H. E. Feucht, K. Richter, C. Reiter, C. H. Spes, D. Pongratz, P. Uberfuhr, B. Meiser, K. Theisen, and C. E. Angermann. 1999. Detection of humoral rejection in human cardiac allografts by assessing the capillary deposition of complement fragment C4d in endomyocardial biopsies. *J Heart Lung Transplant* 18:904-912.
- 354. Bestard, O., J. M. Cruzado, M. Mestre, A. Caldes, J. Bas, M. Carrera, J. Torras, I. Rama, F. Moreso, D. Seron, and J. M. Grinyo. 2007. Achieving donor-specific hyporesponsiveness is associated with FOXP3+ regulatory T cell recruitment in human renal allograft infiltrates. *J Immunol* 179:4901-4909.
- 355. Graca, L., S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2002. Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografts. *J Exp Med* 195:1641-1646.
- 356. Fahlen, L., S. Read, L. Gorelik, S. D. Hurst, R. L. Coffman, R. A. Flavell, and F. Powrie. 2005. T cells that cannot respond to TGF-beta escape control by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 201:737-746.
- 357. Leask, A., and D. J. Abraham. 2004. TGF-beta signaling and the fibrotic response. *FASEB J* 18:816-827.

- 358. Hirano, T., S. Akira, T. Taga, and T. Kishimoto. 1990. Biological and clinical aspects of interleukin 6. *Immunol Today* 11:443-449.
- 359. Uitto, J. 2007. IL-6 signaling pathway in keloids: a target for pharmacologic intervention? *J Invest Dermatol* 127:6-8.
- 360. Duncan, M. R., and B. Berman. 1991. Stimulation of collagen and glycosaminoglycan production in cultured human adult dermal fibroblasts by recombinant human interleukin 6. *J Invest Dermatol* 97:686-692.
- 361. Hayry, P., H. Isoniemi, S. Yilmaz, A. Mennander, K. Lemstrom, A. Raisanen-Sokolowski, P. Koskinen, J. Ustinov, I. Lautenschlager, E. Taskinen, and et al. 1993. Chronic allograft rejection. *Immunol Rev* 134:33-81.
- 362. Kulkarni, A. B., J. M. Ward, L. Yaswen, C. L. Mackall, S. R. Bauer, C. G. Huh, R. E. Gress, and S. Karlsson. 1995. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 null mice. An animal model for inflammatory disorders. *Am J Pathol* 146:264-275.
- 363. Lebman, D. A., and J. S. Edmiston. 1999. The role of TGF-beta in growth, differentiation, and maturation of B lymphocytes. *Microbes Infect* 1:1297-1304.
- 364. Kang, H. R., S. J. Cho, C. G. Lee, R. J. Homer, and J. A. Elias. 2007. Transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta1 stimulates pulmonary fibrosis and inflammation via a Bax-dependent, bid-activated pathway that involves matrix metalloproteinase-12. *J Biol Chem* 282:7723-7732.
- 365. Yamamoto, T., N. A. Noble, A. H. Cohen, C. C. Nast, A. Hishida, L. I. Gold, and W. A. Border. 1996. Expression of transforming growth factor-beta isoforms in human glomerular diseases. *Kidney Int* 49:461-469.
- 366. Denton, C. P., and D. J. Abraham. 2001. Transforming growth factor-beta and connective tissue growth factor: key cytokines in scleroderma pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 13:505-511.
- 367. Kolb, M., P. J. Margetts, P. J. Sime, and J. Gauldie. 2001. Proteoglycans decorin and biglycan differentially modulate TGF-beta-mediated fibrotic responses in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 280:L1327-1334.
- 368. Cutroneo, K. R. 2007. TGF-beta-induced fibrosis and SMAD signaling: oligo decoys as natural therapeutics for inhibition of tissue fibrosis and scarring. *Wound Repair Regen* 15 Suppl 1:S54-60.
- 369. Marian, A. J. 2008. Genetic determinants of cardiac hypertrophy. *Curr Opin Cardiol* 23:199-205.
- 370. Schneider, M. D. 2002. Serial killer: angiotensin drives cardiac hypertrophy via TGF-beta1. *J Clin Invest* 109:715-716.
- 371. Torre-Amione, G. 2009. Cardiac allograft hypertrophy: a new target for therapy, a surrogate marker for survival? *Am J Transplant* 9:7-8.
- 372. Raichlin, E., H. R. Villarraga, K. Chandrasekaran, A. L. Clavell, R. P. Frantz, S. S. Kushwaha, R. J. Rodeheffer, C. G. McGregor, R. C. Daly, S. J. Park, W. K. Kremers, B. S. Edwards, and N. L. Pereira. 2009. Cardiac allograft remodeling after heart transplantation is associated with increased graft vasculopathy and mortality. *Am J Transplant* 9:132-139.
- 373. Zhang, N., B. Schroppel, G. Lal, C. Jakubzick, X. Mao, D. Chen, N. Yin, R. Jessberger, J. C. Ochando, Y. Ding, and J. S. Bromberg. 2009. Regulatory T cells

sequentially migrate from inflamed tissues to draining lymph nodes to suppress the alloimmune response. *Immunity* 30:458-469.

- 374. Weber, K. T., C. G. Brilla, S. E. Campbell, G. Zhou, L. Matsubara, and E. Guarda. 1992. Pathologic hypertrophy with fibrosis: the structural basis for myocardial failure. *Blood Press* 1:75-85.
- 375. Yuan, X., Ansari, Mohammed Javeed, and Sayegh, Mohamed H. 2006. Tolerance is achievable 'Holy Grail' in transplantation. *Curren Opinion in Organ Transplantation* 11:24-29.
- 376. Wekerle, T. 2008. T-regulatory cells-what relationship with immunosuppressive agents? *Transplant Proc* 40:S13-16.
- 377. Afzali, B., G. Lombardi, R. I. Lechler, and G. M. Lord. 2007. The role of T helper 17 (Th17) and regulatory T cells (Treg) in human organ transplantation and autoimmune disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 148:32-46.
- 378. Karim, M., U. Steger, A. R. Bushell, and K. J. Wood. 2002. The role of the graft in establishing tolerance. *Front Biosci* 7:e129-154.
- 379. Pinsky, D. J., B. Cai, X. Yang, C. Rodriguez, R. R. Sciacca, and P. J. Cannon. 1995. The lethal effects of cytokine-induced nitric oxide on cardiac myocytes are blocked by nitric oxide synthase antagonism or transforming growth factor beta. *J Clin Invest* 95:677-685.
- 380. Chua, C. C., C. A. Diglio, B. B. Siu, and B. H. Chua. 1994. Angiotensin II induces TGF-beta 1 production in rat heart endothelial cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1223:141-147.
- 381. Crowe, M. J., T. Doetschman, and D. G. Greenhalgh. 2000. Delayed wound healing in immunodeficient TGF-beta 1 knockout mice. *J Invest Dermatol* 115:3-11.
- 382. Diebold, R. J., M. J. Eis, M. Yin, I. Ormsby, G. P. Boivin, B. J. Darrow, J. E. Saffitz, and T. Doetschman. 1995. Early-onset multifocal inflammation in the transforming growth factor beta 1-null mouse is lymphocyte mediated. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:12215-12219.
- 383. Bommireddy, R., L. J. Pathak, J. Martin, I. Ormsby, S. J. Engle, G. P. Boivin, G. F. Babcock, A. U. Eriksson, R. R. Singh, and T. Doetschman. 2006. Self-antigen recognition by TGF beta1-deficient T cells causes their activation and systemic inflammation. *Lab Invest* 86:1008-1019.
- 384. Waltenberger, J., A. Wanders, B. Fellstrom, K. Miyazono, C. H. Heldin, and K. Funa. 1993. Induction of transforming growth factor-beta during cardiac allograft rejection. *J Immunol* 151:1147-1157.
- 385. Cordin, O., J. Banroques, N. K. Tanner, and P. Linder. 2006. The DEAD-box protein family of RNA helicases. *Gene* 367:17-37.
- 386. Itoh, M., T. Takahashi, N. Sakaguchi, Y. Kuniyasu, J. Shimizu, F. Otsuka, and S. Sakaguchi. 1999. Thymus and autoimmunity: production of CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells as a key function of the thymus in maintaining immunologic self-tolerance. *J Immunol* 162:5317-5326.
- 387. Kroemer, A., X. Xiao, M. D. Vu, W. Gao, K. Minamimura, M. Chen, T. Maki, and X. C. Li. 2007. OX40 controls functionally different T cell subsets and their resistance to depletion therapy. *J Immunol* 179:5584-5591.

- 388. Letterio, J. J. 2005. TGF-beta signaling in T cells: roles in lymphoid and epithelial neoplasia. *Oncogene* 24:5701-5712.
- 389. Azhar, M., M. Yin, R. Bommireddy, J. J. Duffy, J. Yang, S. A. Pawlowski, G. P. Boivin, S. J. Engle, L. P. Sanford, C. Grisham, R. R. Singh, G. F. Babcock, and T. Doetschman. 2009. Generation of mice with a conditional allele for transforming growth factor beta 1 gene. *Genesis* 47:423-431.
- 390. Toy, D., D. Kugler, M. Wolfson, T. Vanden Bos, J. Gurgel, J. Derry, J. Tocker, and J. Peschon. 2006. Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. *J Immunol* 177:36-39.
- 391. Osorio, F., S. LeibundGut-Landmann, M. Lochner, K. Lahl, T. Sparwasser, G. Eberl, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2008. DC activated via dectin-1 convert Treg into IL-17 producers. *Eur J Immunol* 38:3274-3281.
- 392. Spinale, F. G. 2002. Matrix metalloproteinases: regulation and dysregulation in the failing heart. *Circ Res* 90:520-530.
- 393. Martin-Orozco, N., and C. Dong. 2009. The IL-17/IL-23 axis of inflammation in cancer: friend or foe? *Curr Opin Investig Drugs* 10:543-549.
- 394. Pleger, S. T., P. Most, M. Boucher, S. Soltys, J. K. Chuprun, W. Pleger, E. Gao, A. Dasgupta, G. Rengo, A. Remppis, H. A. Katus, A. D. Eckhart, J. E. Rabinowitz, and W. J. Koch. 2007. Stable myocardial-specific AAV6-S100A1 gene therapy results in chronic functional heart failure rescue. *Circulation* 115:2506-2515.